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      The Stepford Whores: Project MONARCH and Mind-Controlled 
      Sex Slaves 
    

    
        In the months preceding September 11th 2001, the airwaves of cable news 
    

    
      channels were filled with the saga of Congressman Gary Condit, and the cover-up of his 
    

    
      affair with intern Chandra Levy. Levy disappeared on April 30, 2001--Walpurgisnacht--
    

    
      the most sacred witch holiday on the calendar. Condit’s not-very-forthcoming statements 
    

    
      on the matter, coupled with the fact that Chandra appeared to be on her way to visit him 
    

    
      on the night she disappeared led to speculation that he was somehow involved with her 
    

    
      kidnapping and/or death. This speculation reached a fevered pitch when bizarre details of 
    

    
      Condit’s sex life began to mount. Twenty-seven other women came forth claiming to 
    

    
      have had sexual relations with the Congressman, including two women (15-years-old at 
    

    
      the time), who claimed that he had violently
       raped them while still a State Assemblyman. 
    

    
      Condit was described by one attorney involved in the case as “a serial predator of 
    

    
      women.” One of the women, Torrie Hendley, who met the leather-clad Condit at a Harley 
    

    
      Davidson convention, revealed
       in an interview with 
      The Globe
       tabloid newspaper that 
    

    
      Condit enjoyed kinky, sadomasochistic sex, referring to his many ladies as his “sex 
    

    
      slaves.” She also said that he insisted on using code names with these women while 
    

    
      talking on the phone, and refused to wear condoms, stating to Ms. Hendley that “there’s a 
    

    
      cure for AIDS, anyway.”  
    

    
        Following the media blitz of the Clinton-Lewinski sex scandal, and then the 
    

    
      Condit-Levy affair, many people began to wonder: Why do so many men in positions of 
    

    
      power require lots of sex with
       a variety of people? And where do such men get this sense 
    

    
      of entitlement, this attitude that they should be continually provided with a harem of 
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      sexual servants, maintained, oftentimes, at taxpayers’ expense? Few, if any journalists 
    

    
      brought up the amazing similarity between the story of Gary Condit’s “sex slaves” and 
    

    
      the stories of dozens of men and women who claim to have
       been forced into sexual 
    

    
      slavery for the wealthy and powerful by none other than our own Central Intelligence 
    

    
      Agency, through an offshoot of the MK-ULTRA mind control program known as Project 
    

    
      MONARCH. 
    

    
        It is well-known now in most literat
      e circles, from declassified documents 
    

    
      available through the Freedom of Information Act, that the CIA engaged in a number of 
    

    
      covert experiments in mind control, often on unwitting subjects, throughout the 50s, 60s, 
    

    
      and 70s as part of a program known as MK-ULTRA. Thus, for example, we have the 
    

    
      familiar stories of soldiers in Vietnam being subjected to involuntary testing of the effects 
    

    
      of L.S.D. and other drugs on battlefield performance. MK-ULTRA had its roots in 
    

    
      Project PAPERCLIP, a post-WWII operation authorized by Harry Truman, in which top 
    

    
      scientists from Nazi Germany were smuggled into the United States to work with NASA, 
    

    
      the military, and the intelligence community. Their newly acquired knowledge of mind 
    

    
      control techniques had come from their experiments on prisoners in Nazi concentration 
    

    
      camps, in which, according to experts, they learned of the effects of the calculated use of 
    

    
      torture, drugs, hypnotism, electroshock, and sleep deprivation on an individual 
    

    
      personality.  
    

    
        According to some, the result was found to be a fragmenting of the personality 
    

    
      into separate components which are unaware of one another, creating what is known 
    

    
      today as “Multiple Personality Disorder,” or by the more recent, clinically-accepted term, 
    

    
      “Dissociative Identity Disorder.” The individual personality components could then be 
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      programmed to perform certain tasks, much like a computer. According to former FBI 
    

    
      agent and mind control expert Ted Gunderson: “It’s a combination of torture, hypnosis, 
    

    
      drugs. And what happens is, they torture them
       so much, that their personality splits in 
    

    
      order to endure the pain and misery. When their personality splits, they [become] another 
    

    
      person, and it’s through this technique that they
       train them.” Such techniques could, says 
    

    
      Gunderson, create Manchurian candidates, unwitting agents of espionage who could 
    

    
      courier sensitive messages and even commit assassinations against their will, without any 
    

    
      recollection of these events.  
    

    
        For instance, consider th
      e case of Candy Jones, a popular New York pin-up model 
    

    
      who one day suddenly recovered repressed memories of having been used as a hypnotic 
    

    
      courier for the government (i.e., mind control.) As most forms of
       hypnosis usually do, 
    

    
      mind control training involves the use of “Neuro-Linguistic Programming,” teaching the 
    

    
      brain to associate certain words or sounds with the performance of certain actions, both 
    

    
      mental and physical. Under this definition, teaching your dog to “roll over” on command 
    

    
      is Neuro-Linguistic Programming, although a more covert method would involve training 
    

    
      him to roll over every time you said “ice cream,”
       and then to forget about the whole event 
    

    
      as soon as you snap your fingers.  
    

    
        Although clearly unethical, such practic
      es were justified by the CIA under the 
    

    
      belief that the Soviets, America’s new arch-enemy, already possessed such covert 
    

    
      weaponry of the mind. Former Nebraska State Senator John DeCamp, author of the book 
    

    
      The Franklin Cover-Up, recalls a conversation with Former CIA Director William Colby 
    

    
      regarding the subject. “What he … [said] … was [that] after the Korean War, the 
    

    
      American CIA and the American government, in fact, were very terrified. We believed 
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      that the ability of other countries, particularly China, Russia, North Korea … their ability 
    

    
      in “brainwashing,” as it was known at the time,
       and mind control was developed to such a 
    

    
      degree … you can imagine how dangerous that was, and we decided we couldn’t afford 
    

    
      to be behind. For the very salvation of the country we had to catch up. And so millions 
    

    
      and billions were poured into these programs … He said, ‘I’ll tell you one thing, John. 
    

    
      When all is said and done, we were never behind, and we aren’t today.’” 
    

    
        Indeed, according to many self-proclaime
      d victims of mind control, we are well 
    

    
      ahead of the game today, and most say the CIA’s motivation was never strictly “for the 
    

    
      good of the country.” For instance, consider the rumored existence of “Project 
    

    
      MONARCH,” the alleged offshoot of MK-ULTRA designed to create legions of so-
    

    
      called “mind-controlled sex slaves” for use by the rich and powerful. According to 
    

    
      conspiracy theorist Fritz Springmeier, the project was called MONARCH after the 
    

    
      butterfly of the same name. Training begins in early childhood, when, he says “Children 
    

    
      who are traumatized have their legs tied and are electro-shocked and tortured until the 
    

    
      alters (personalities) believe
       they are butterflies.” The w
      hole program is based on the 
    

    
      “Marionette Programming” purportedly perfected in Nazi Germany with the same aim as 
    

    
      MONARCH, in which sex slaves were created who believed themselves to be puppets 
    

    
      (“marionettes”) controlled by cruel masters.  
    

    
        The value of a mind-controlled sex slav
      e is multi-faceted. For one thing, they can 
    

    
      be used to satisfy the perversions of people in positions of power without jeopardizing 
    

    
      that power, since a person under mind control is
       not likely to expose 
      the event to public 
    

    
      scrutiny. Furthermore, these encounters can be videotaped for the purpose of 
    

    
      blackmailing public officials and businessmen should they at any time step out of line, or 
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      do anything to endanger the intelligence community’s global plan. (Some people who 
    

    
      purport the existence of Project MONARCH might also believe that the CIA is under the 
    

    
      control of the Illuminati “New World Order” conspiracy
       of global domination.)  
    

    
        Then there is the financial aspect. A 
      sex slave can be prostituted from childhood 
    

    
      on to wealthy individuals who will pay large sums of money for the experience. They can 
    

    
      also be used in child pornography to be
       sold on the global market. Many MONARCH 
    

    
      “survivors” claim that unwanted, expendable sex slaves are picked to star in the most 
    

    
      controversial pictures of all--snuff films, the existence of which has yet to be proven 
    

    
      according to the FBI. The slaves are also, say the stories, used as drug mules for the 
    

    
      CIA’s secret trafficking of illegal substances.  
    

    
        The money derived from these black market
       transactions of drugs and sex is used, 
    

    
      they say, to fund the CIA’s many top secret
       and under-budgeted black 
      operations, as well 
    

    
      as to line the pockets of the perpetrators. Potential slaves are chosen for their genetic 
    

    
      propensity for suggestibility, hypnotizability, dissociation, and high intelligence. In the 
    

    
      past ten years or more, a number of these so-called “survivors” have “recovered” their 
    

    
      memories and come forward about their past
       abuse at the hands of the government. Many 
    

    
      have written books, such as Brice Taylor’s Thanks for the Memories: The Truth Has Set 
    

    
      Me Free, Annie McKenna’s Paperclip Dolls, and Cathy O’Brien’s The TRANCE 
    

    
      Formation of America. Of these, Cathy O’Brien is
       perhaps the most well-known. 
    

    
        It’s hard to think of a cat
      chier opening line for a chapter than one that includes the 
    

    
      words, “substituting his penis for my mother’s nipple.” Cathy couldn’t think of a better 
    

    
      one either as she described how her “pedophile” father, Earl O’Brien, allegedly first 
    

    
      began to train her sexually. Cathy claims to have come from a family of multi-
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      generational incest perpetrators, where daddy abused all of the kids, and all of the kids 
    

    
      abused each other. Growing up in Muskegon, Michigan, a “pedophile capital,” according 
    

    
      to Cathy, it wasn’t long before
       Cathy’s father was whoring 
      her around for use in lucrative 
    

    
      child pornography. In time, Mr. O’Brien was caught, but instead of going to jail, he was 
    

    
      visited, says Cathy, by future President Gerald
       Ford, who offered him a deal: sell Cathy 
    

    
      into the MONARCH program, and receive
       immunity from prosecution. The CIA 
    

    
      allegedly had good reason to seek Cathy out because, she says, “…they knew that any 
    

    
      child that was sexually abused to that extent would be suffering from this dissociative 
    

    
      disorder that they were interested
       in targeting for mind control.”  
    

    
        And so her formal MONARCH training 
      began. “Not long after that ,” she 
    

    
      explains in her book, “my father was flown to
       Boston for a two-week course at Harvard 
    

    
      on how to raise me for …Project MONARCH.” From then on, Cathy was prostituted to a 
    

    
      long list of high-ranking individuals, such as Michigan State Senator Guy VanderJagt, 
    

    
      Canadian Prime Minister Pierre Trudeau, West
       Virginia Senator Robert Byrd (who later 
    

    
      became her “owner” or “controller”), and the aforementioned Gerald Ford. She claims 
    

    
      she was forced to engage in all sorts of strange perversions, from having sex with dogs to 
    

    
      waving a small American flag with her rectum. This, coupled with her father’s constant 
    

    
      abuse and torture, kept her in a constant state of dissociation.  
    

    
        According to Cathy, she was controll
      ed with form of Neuro-Linguistic 
    

    
      Programming used on many MONARCH slaves, which involved the use of themes from 
    

    
      Wizard of Oz, and various Disney children’s films.
       She was taught to go into another 
    

    
      dimension “over the rainbow” whenever the pain of the abuse became too much to bear, 
    

    
      and to identify with Cinderella
       when her father assigned he
      r a strict daily regimen of 
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      household chores, which was part of her slave programming. The hallucinogenic and 
    

    
      multi-dimensional themes of Alice in Wonderland
       were also quite extensively used. This 
    

    
      was done, not just to Cathy, but to all her brothers and sisters as well, who were also 
    

    
      being used in the program. As she writes in her book, “My brother, now 37, remains 
    

    
      psychologically locked into those traumatic childhood years and is obsessed with Disney 
    

    
      themes and productions to this day. His house is decorated in Disney memorabilia, he 
    

    
      wears Disney clothes, listens to my father’s instructions on a Disney telephone, and 
    

    
      maintains “When You Wish Upon a Star” as
       his favorite song, which has locked his 
    

    
      children into the same theme.”  
    

    
        Interestingly, the Disney programming
       claim is one made by almost every 
    

    
      “recovered” MONARCH slave, although it’s difficult to determine whether these claims 
    

    
      began to surface before or after the publication of Cathy’s book. For example, a number 
    

    
      of them say that they were taken to Tinker Air Force Base in Oklahoma, where they were 
    

    
      placed in electrified “Tinkerbell” cages, and tortured into creating child alters that would, 
    

    
      like Peter Pan, never grow up.  
    

    
        However, Cathy did grow up, and although 
      supposedly subjected to daily sexual 
    

    
      abuse and torture, she managed to maintain an “A” average throughout her scholastic 
    

    
      career, “because when trauma occurs that’s too horrible to comprehend,” says Cathy, “the 
    

    
      brain automatically goes into its own mode, and photographically records events 
    

    
      surrounding the trauma … Since I was being traumatized all the time, I was 
    

    
      photographically recording what I was being taught in school. So I got excellent grades.” 
    

    
      Throughout her childhood, she was isolated from
       society and popular culture, with the 
    

    
      exception of the Disney movies previously
       mentioned, and was heavily exposed to 
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      country music. According to Cathy, the country music scene is heavily infiltrated by 
    

    
      MONARCH operatives, because the tours they travel in throughout North America easily 
    

    
      facilitate the trade of slaves and drugs.  
    

    
        When Cathy got older, she was married
       off by “The Company” to Wayne Cox, 
    

    
      who fathered her daughter, Kelly (also a mind-controlled sex slave.) Later, she was 
    

    
      married a second time to country music MC Alex Houston. Concurrently, she was also 
    

    
      symbolically married to Senator Robert Byrd, who became her “controller,” and largely 
    

    
      dictated the events of her life from then on. She was sent to a sex slave training camp 
    

    
      called “Charm School,” directed, she says, by Pennsylvania Governor Dick Thornburgh 
    

    
      and Ohio State Representative James Traficant [now in prison for bribery and 
    

    
      racketeering]. After she graduated, Cathy says, she became a so-called “Presidential 
    

    
      Model,” and was used to satisfy the sadistic
       sexual needs of executive-level members of 
    

    
      government. From that point forward, the “Who’s Who” list of johns she allegedly 
    

    
      serviced became exponentially more impressive. She says she was nearly choked to death 
    

    
      a number of times by Dick Cheney’s enormous penis, and was violently raped by both 
    

    
      Cheney and George Bush Sr., after being chased through the woods in a form of human 
    

    
      hunting called “The Most Dangerous Game.” She claims to have serviced both Bill and 
    

    
      Hillary Clinton while the former was still Governor of Arkansas. She says she drove 
    

    
      Hillary into a fit of ecstasy with the “Witch’s Face” that her handlers had carved into her 
    

    
      vagina which, says Cathy, “can give men pleasure,” much like ribbed condoms do for 
    

    
      women.  
    

    
        Cathy even claims that 
      Hustler’s Larry Flynt was part of
       the conspiracy, and that 
    

    
      he hired a photographer named Jimmy Walker
       to take pornographic pictures of her 
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      wedding night with Alex Houston, then had the photos published in one
       of his magazines. 
    

    
      Writes Cathy, “Flynt was unequivocally the official White House Pornographer. [He] 
    

    
      maintained … New World Order colleagues such
       as Presidents Reagan, Bush, and Ford, 
    

    
      CIA Director Bill Casey, U.N. Ambassador Madeleine Albright, Senators Byrd and 
    

    
      Spector, Congressmen Traficant and VanderJagt, Governors Thornburgh, Blanchard, and 
    

    
      Alexander, and various world leaders such
       as Prime Minister of Canada Mulroney, 
    

    
      President of Mexico de la Madrid, and Saudi Arabian King Fahd … to name a few.” All 
    

    
      of these people, by the way, are on Cathy’s list of sexual assailants as well.  
    

    
        And another thing. Cathy O’Brien (like 
      Brice Taylor, and a number of other 
    

    
      proclaimed “Presidential Models”) says that
       none of these high-ranki
      ng rapists ever used 
    

    
      a condom, because both they and the Presidential Models had been inoculated against all 
    

    
      sexually transmitted diseases. Says Cathy, “there was quite a bit of confidence 
    

    
      surrounding the fact, and it was a known fact, that since I was used on a White 
    

    
      House/Pentagon level … they would not get AIDS from me, because I was ‘clean.’ That 
    

    
      was the term used.” 
    

    
        And what was it that Gary Condit reporte
      dly said to Torrie Hendley? “There’s a 
    

    
      cure for AIDS, anyway.” 
    

    
        One of the consistencies that runs thr
      ough almost all of the personal testimonies 
    

    
      of the self-proclaimed MONARCH victims is the use of the occult and Satanism as a 
    

    
      “trauma base.” Cathy O’Brien vividly describes the “Rite to Remain Silent” she claims 
    

    
      she endured at St. Francis of Assisi Church in Muskegon, a reversal of the Catholic mass 
    

    
      in which she was allegedly doused in the blood of a freshly-slaughtered lamb and made 
    

    
      to take an oath of secrecy. She also claims to have witnessed human sacrifices at 
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      Bohemian Grove retreat, an exclusive retreat
       for global movers and shakers, who meet on 
    

    
      a private island every year in secret. They dress up in bizarre costumes and indulge in 
    

    
      their most extreme perversions with mind-controlled “Stepford Whores,” much like 
    

    
      scenes from the Stanley Kubrick film Eyes Wide Shut.  
    

    
        Brice Taylor, who claims to have bedd
      ed down every President except since John 
    

    
      Kennedy (except Carter and Nixon), also says
       that she experien
      ced similar rituals 
    

    
      throughout her abuse, including those involving human sacrifices, anti-Christian night 
    

    
      services at Christian churches, being buried alive in a coffin, and being hung upon a 
    

    
      cross. Annie McKenna has recovered numerous memories, she says, of her MONARCH-
    

    
      trained family donning dark hoods, chanting, and performing strange rites in graveyards. 
    

    
      Even her own children, the first of which she had at age 11, were sacrificed to the blood 
    

    
      cult. Writes McKenna, “The ritual abuse served
       two purposes. First, it exposed a child to 
    

    
      horrific trauma, which caused the child to dissociate and create alters. Secondly, the 
    

    
      belief was that if we ever did remember, the ritual abuse memories would surface first, 
    

    
      and the medical community and public would label us insane.” 
    

    
        The claims of mind control and MONAR
      CH programming are just the latest 
    

    
      details to be grafted onto the tales of Satanic Ritual Abuse (or SRA) that began to surface 
    

    
      in the early 1980s. Although now largely discredited by the mental health establishment, 
    

    
      SRA has long been a pervasive urban myth, if nothing more. Many groups, several of 
    

    
      them affiliated with Protestant churches, believe in a large conspiracy of Satanists that 
    

    
      spans the globe, and which controls the drug and child pornography industry (i.e., the 
    

    
      Mafia), as well as, to the view of many, the government (i.e., the “Illuminati”). They 
    

    
      believe that these people engage in the large-scale abduction and abuse of thousands of 
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      children for use in their sick, sadistic, Satanic sex rituals, and the pornographic 
    

    
      documentation thereof. When not from “multi-generational Satanic families,” like 
    

    
      Taylor’s and O’Brien’s, where their parents willingly submit them to the MONARCH 
    

    
      program, children are supposedly snatched off the streets--the familiar milk carton kids. 
    

    
      According to the lore, the conspirators even infiltrate pre-schools and day care centers to 
    

    
      access children there.  
    

    
        Ted Gunderson has personally investigat
      ed the famous McMartin Pre-School 
    

    
      SRA case, even going so far as to hire an
       archeologist to dig for underground tunnels 
    

    
      reported by the children. The children reported that in these tunnels they were subjected 
    

    
      to sexual abuse, animal sacrifices, and Disney-based mind control programming by, 
    

    
      among others, Steve Garvey, Chuck Norris, and Raymond Buckey, the school’s owner. 
    

    
      Gunderson claims, “we found the tunnels under the school. … We found 2000 animal 
    

    
      bones …” Gunderson believes wholeheartedly that, “The Satanic cult movement 
    

    
      dovetails with U.S. intelligence … in addition to being involved in … kidnapping, they 
    

    
      were taking kids out of Boy’s Town, and out of foster homes and orphanages, and flying 
    

    
      them … to Washington, D.C. for sex orgy parties with congressmen and senators. Barney 
    

    
      Frank … [has] been identified by the kids, and George Bush Sr. has been at the parties 
    

    
      while he was Vice-President. …[We’re] talking about a large-scale pedophile ring, and a 
    

    
      large-scale kidnapping ring … known as “The Finders.” It’s a CIA covert operation 
    

    
      running out of Washington, D.C. … that’s just a cover name for finding children…” 
    

    
        “The Finders” and Project MONARCH were
       implicated in Nebraska’s “Franklin 
    

    
      Cover-Up,” also investigated by Gunderson, and by the author of The Franklin Cover-
    

    
      Up, former State Senator John DeCamp. In a civil case against 16 people, including 
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      Laurence E. King (manager of the failed Franklin Savings and Loan), Harold Anderson 
    

    
      (publisher of the Omaha World Herald), and the Omaha Police Department, plaintiff Paul 
    

    
      Bonacci was awarded $1 million by U.S. District Court Judge Warren Urbom in February 
    

    
      1999. In reference to King, the Judge found that he had “continually subjected the 
    

    
      plaintiff to repeated sexual assault, false imprisonment, infliction of extreme emotional 
    

    
      distress, organized and directed Satanic rituals, forced the plaintiff to ‘scavenge’ for 
    

    
      children to be part of the defendant King’s sexual abuse and pornography ring, forced the 
    

    
      plaintiff to engage in numerous sexual contacts with the defendant King and others, and 
    

    
      participate in deviant sexual games and masochistic orgies with minor children.”  
    

    
        Bonacci testified that he was flown 
      on hundreds of trips to Washington, D.C., 
    

    
      Kansas City, Chicago, Minnesota, and Los Angeles, where he was taken to “thousands” 
    

    
      of pedophilic and sadomasochistic parties, drugged, and prostituted to the rich and 
    

    
      powerful. Bonacci admits to participating in the kidnapping of then-12-year-old paper 
    

    
      boy Johnny Gosch in Des Moines, Iowa, a story profiled extensively on America’s Most 
    

    
      Wanted
       and a number of other television progr
      ams. Johnny’s mother, Noreen Gosch is 
    

    
      convinced that Bonacci is telling the truth, and is also convinced that her son was 
    

    
      kidnapped by joint intelligence-organized
       crime elements involved in Project 
    

    
      MONARCH. Says Noreen, “[Bonacci] told us that he was put into MONARCH training 
    

    
      at a very young age, right at Offutt Air Force Base … Johnny … was put through the 
    

    
      same training …” In 1999, Johnny Gosch, a grown man at that point, came to visit his 
    

    
      mother for a brief, covert visit in the middle of the night. “He told me that he had been 
    

    
      subjected to mind control … and that his job was to compromise politicians, and any VIP 
    

    
      that they felt they wanted to do that to … He only mentioned the Satanic rituals briefly.” 
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        One of the accused perpetrators who has 
      been implicated by Noreen Gosch, Paul 
    

    
      Bonacci, Cathy O’Brien, and a host of other “MONARCH victims” is Lt. Col. Michael 
    

    
      Aquino, a former Green Beret and senior U.S.
       military intelligence officer once involved 
    

    
      in the study of “PSY-OPS,” or psychological warfare. He wrote an extensive essay with 
    

    
      Colonel Paul E. Vallely (a Fox News Channel analyst) called “From PSY-OP to 
    

    
      MindWar: The Psychology of Victory.” In this
       essay, the authors advocated the use of 
    

    
      propaganda, subliminal messages, air ionization, and ELF waves (i.e., putting low 
    

    
      frequency signals in TV and radio broadcasts to induce specific states of mind) in times 
    

    
      of war, both domestically and abroad, in order to manipulate public opinion of the war. 
    

    
      Another interesting fact
       about Micheal Aquino: He just 
      happens to be the leader and 
    

    
      founder of the Temple of Set, a splinter group of the Church of Satan, in which Aquino 
    

    
      was once a high-ranking member. The Temple of Set now has a number of chapters that 
    

    
      operate on military bases. Interestingly, this group’s rituals often involve Nazi symbols 
    

    
      and rhetoric, and Aquino once performed a Satanic “working” at Heinrich Himmler’s 
    

    
      castle of Wewelsburg while in Germany on “official NATO business.”  
    

    
        Predictably, this has caused no shorta
      ge of controversy to surround Michael 
    

    
      Aquino. In the late 1980s, a Satanic Ritual Abuse/Child Sexual Abuse scandal broke out 
    

    
      at a day care center on the Presidio military base in San Francisco, where Aquino was 
    

    
      stationed. The children identified Aquino, as well as a Baptist Minister named Gary 
    

    
      Hambright, who was indicted but not convicted. These kids claimed that the people who 
    

    
      molested them were part of a “devil worship club,” and were able to describe the inside 
    

    
      of Aquino’s house, where the abuse was said to have taken place. Other children 
    

    
      identified Aquino by his nickname, “Mikey,” although Anton LaVey
       claims that 
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      Aquino’s nickname was actually “Mickey” because his peculiar haircut made him look 
    

    
      like Mickey Mouse (yet another Disney
       connection.) Although Aquino was never 
    

    
      indicted, and the charges against Hambright were dropped, several of the children 
    

    
      contracted STDs, proving that someone had abused them. Later, after Hambright died of 
    

    
      AIDS, the U.S. Army wrote to the children’s parents urging them to get their children 
    

    
      tested for HIV. They also paid a multi-million-dollar settlement to the victims. 
    

    
      Furthermore, Aquino was “Titled” by the U.S. Army for “indecent acts with a child, 
    

    
      sodomy, conspiracy, kidnapping, and false swearing,” which means that they had 
    

    
      probable cause to believe the offenses had been committed.  
    

    
        According to many, the incident at Pr
      esidio was an outgrowth of Project 
    

    
      MONARCH, and these people believe Aquino to be integrally involved in the program. 
    

    
      Paul Bonacci has identified Aquino as the one who ordered the kidnapping of Johnny 
    

    
      Gosch, and says that Aquino had a “ranch” in Colorado that was a “safe house” for 
    

    
      kidnapped children. Rusty Nelson, a photographer for the Franklin Cover-Up’s
       Lawrence 
    

    
      King, and a convicted child pornographer, testified before a U.S. District Court on 
    

    
      February 5, 1999 that he witnessed a suitcase full of cash being handed over to by King 
    

    
      to Aquino that was “earmarked for the Nicaraguan Contras.” Also, a number of mind-
    

    
      controlled sex slaves, including Cathy O’Brien, have listed Aquino as one of their 
    

    
      “handlers.” However, when I questioned Aquino about these allegations, he responded: 
    

    
      “Throughout my entire career as an Army officer (1968-94), I never encountered any 
    

    
      evidence of anything named or resembling ‘Project MONARCH’, never participated in 
    

    
      anything involving children [or adult] ‘sex slaves’, never abused any children under any 
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      circumstances whatever, and never had any contact with any of the cranks who’ve thrown 
    

    
      my name around with ‘MONARCH.’”  
    

    
        The charges against Aquino perhaps lose 
      credibility when we consider that many 
    

    
      of the people who have made these claims have also implicated a so-called “Michael 
    

    
      LaVey,” who they say is a son of Anton LaVey. Noreen Gosch says that Michael LaVey 
    

    
      was interviewed on a 20/20 special about her son’s kidnapping, during which, according 
    

    
      to her, “[Michael] LaVey said that he had been with Johnny on many occasions at the 
    

    
      Satanic ritual ceremonies, where they serviced different men for their owners.” 
    

    
      Unfortunately for Noreen, no independent confirmation has surfaced that Anton had any 
    

    
      son by that name. The late Anton LaVey
       himself has been implicated as a Project 
    

    
      MONARCH participant by a handful of people,
       such as Noreen Gosch, but not in any 
    

    
      specific way. However, it is interesting to note that Anton LaVey
       did consider 
    

    
      Disneyland to be one of the happiest places on Earth, and his daughter Zeena LaVey
    

    
      listed the 1950s thriller The Most Dangerous Game
       as her favorite movie. 
    

    
        The process of deprogramming a pres
      umed victim of Project MONARCH--
    

    
      identifiable by abnormally wide eyes (from the electroshock), odd-looking facial moles 
    

    
      (caused by stun guns), a plastic smile, and generally robotic behavior--is a strange and 
    

    
      controversial one. Since slaves are programmed to self-destruct if they should ever find 
    

    
      themselves talking about their memories, therapists wishing to override these programs 
    

    
      must be armed with the corresponding “deactivation codes.” Mark Phillips, who 
    

    
      “rescued” Cathy O’Brien from mind control, and co-authored The TRANCE Formation of 
    

    
      America, describes the process of deprogramming her: “I had to know certain codes, keys 
    

    
      and triggers. I had
       to, and I was provided a few of those,” by he says, covert 
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      communications from friends in the intelligence community. Thereafter, Cathy began to 
    

    
      recover memories through extensive journal-writing practices. Brice Taylor used a 
    

    
      collage method with pictures
       cut out of magazines.  
    

    
        Others use the more dubious met
      hods of hypnosis, and similar New Age 
    

    
      techniques to unlock memories supposedly repressed with programmed amnesia. Ritual 
    

    
      trauma hypno-therapists such as D.C. Hammond, PhD., and Pamela J. Monday, PhD 
    

    
      report discovering complex, multi-layered systems of programming that even take 
    

    
      geometric shapes, such as pentagrams, hexagrams, or the cabalistic Tree of Life, 
    

    
      complete with internal “landscapes” that have
       “mountains,” “castles,” and the like. They 
    

    
      have found that some programs are guarded by “gatekeepers” with gothic, diabolical-
    

    
      sounding names, and different letters of programming are coded with letters from the 
    

    
      Greek alphabet. For instance, Alpha is general programming, Beta involves sexual 
    

    
      programming, Delta programming holds instructions for how to kill during ceremonies, 
    

    
      Theta includes “psychic killing,” and Omega involves suicidal, “self-destruct” 
    

    
      programming, as well as self-mutilation. Zeta programming is related to the production of 
    

    
      snuff films, and Omicron has to do with drug smuggling.  
    

    
        However, many mental health professi
      onals cast doubt on the techniques used by 
    

    
      hypno-therapists, charging that such practices create rather than recover memories, and 
    

    
      so do the people who are accused of such heinous crimes on the evidence of the allged 
    

    
      victim’s “recovered memories.” The accused are backed by an organization called The 
    

    
      False Memory Syndrome Foundation, whose spokesperson, Pamela Freyd, questions the 
    

    
      motives of those who are, “using hypnosis, guided imagery, sodium amytal, relaxation 
    

    
      exercise, participation in groups, reading suggestive literature
       and other techniques in an 
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      effort to excavate memories,” Freyd explains. “Although people may remember things 
    

    
      with any of these techniques, there is absolutely no evidence that what they remember is 
    

    
      historically accurate.” She also questions the validity of multiple personalities in general, 
    

    
      stating that, “Many in the psychiatric community believe that MPD is iatrogenic, that is, 
    

    
      caused by the use of hypnosis and the type of
       interviewing techniques of the doctor.” 
    

    
        Confirming the validity of another pe
      rson’s memory is nearly impossible, 
    

    
      especially if every other person involved in the memory denies that it took place. 
    

    
      However, it may perhaps be unfair to label as
       “impossible” or “rid
      iculous” the memories 
    

    
      of other people which merely lie beyond the spectrum of our own experience. Many of us 
    

    
      received religious indoctrination from our family as we grew up, and were forced to 
    

    
      participate in weird ceremonies
       that made us uncomfortable. 
      Isn’t it logical that if our 
    

    
      parents were Satanists or occultists, they might subject us to similar indoctrination? And 
    

    
      since Satanic and occult practices purportedly bestow worldly power upon their 
    

    
      practitioners, isn’t it logical that some of our most powerful leaders might participate in 
    

    
      such practices? Isn’t it logical
       that they would make use 
      of occult-based
       mind control 
    

    
      techniques such as hypnotism, rituals,
       mind-altering drugs, and Neuro-Linguistic 
    

    
      Programming (i.e., rote memorization of “magic words”)--techniques that have been 
    

    
      traditional components of religious ceremonies, from the mystical priesthoods of 
    

    
      Babylon, Greece, Rome and Egypt to the “cults” of today? 
    

    
         The CIA’s interest in mind control is
       well-documented, and there was certainly a 
    

    
      time, in which they had no compunction about subjecting unwitting subjects to 
    

    
      experiments that might harm them, or which might go against their intended will. The 
    

    
      idea that the CIA would traffic in guns, drugs
       and other contraband in order to fund their 
    

    
      21
    

  
    
      secret projects is becoming more generally accepted, especially after The San Francisco 
    

    
      Chronicle’s Gary Webb
       investigated the fundi
      ng of Contra aid in 1996. 
    

    
        Furthermore, we know that men in pos
      itions of power often require a greater-
    

    
      than-average number of sexual partners, often choosing extremely young women (or 
    

    
      men), sometimes prostitutes, to satisfy their often kinky desires. Perhaps this is just a 
    

    
      result of the greater-than-average testosterone levels often found in aggressive power-
    

    
      seekers. That the CIA would supply these prostitutes in exchange for their much-needed 
    

    
      Black Ops funding, and that they would keep
       these prostitutes 
      mind-controlled into 
    

    
      silence using the above-mentioned techniques, so
       as to cover their own tracks, may not be 
    

    
      impossible to believe.  
    

    
        Perhaps what people do find unbelievable 
      is the sheer sensationalism of so many 
    

    
      of the “Project MONARCH” stories. The mental picture of George
       Bush, Sr. sodomizing 
    

    
      a seven-year-old boy, or of Bill Clinton participating in cannibalistic baby sacrifice, is not 
    

    
      one that most people can take seriously. Even
       more difficult to overcome, perhaps, is a 
    

    
      natural disbelief that arises when a person claiming to have been under complete mental 
    

    
      robotism, and subjected to unimaginable torture throughout his or her entire life appears 
    

    
      to “recover” so quickly after the “memories”
       are revealed during th
      erapy. Some of them 
    

    
      even go on to write books, conduct seminars, and make radio appearances, becoming a 
    

    
      professional victim-expert. Perhaps we will never know who is and who isn’t telling the 
    

    
      truth about MONARCH mind control--unless the documents that supposedly exist are 
    

    
      one day declassified. However, the tales of
       Project MONARCH provide an interesting 
    

    
      framework in which to interpret current events, especially the never-ending sex scandals 
    

    
      that perpetually crop up amongst our public figures. 
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      The Most Dangerous Game: An Interview with Cathy O’Brien 
    

    
      Cathy O’Brien is the author, with
       her husband Mark Phillips, of 
      The TRANCE Formation 
    

    
      of America, and
       ACCESS DENIED For Reasons of National Security.
       She says that she 
    

    
      and her daughter Kelly were used for years as mind-controlled sex slaves for the CIA. 
    

    
      Her husband is Mark Phillips, who, they claim, rescued her and her daughter from this 
    

    
      life of abuse and deprogrammed Cathy’s mind control conditioning. For years they have 
    

    
      been on a crusade to educate the public about
       secret government mind control programs. 
    

    
      This interview took place in October of 2001. 
    

    
      TRACY: At what age did you begin to be sexually abused? 
    

    
      CATHY: I was sexually abused as far back as I can remember, and I recall my father 
    

    
      saying that he had abused me since infancy, substituting his penis for my mother’s nipple.  
    

    
      TRACY: Who did he say this to? 
    

    
      CATHY: He said this to quite a few people who were involved in incest, which was real 
    

    
      prominent in the area of Muskegon, Michigan, where I grew
       up. It was a common point 
    

    
      of conversation, and was what I thought
       was the normal way people lived.  
    

    
      TRACY: So everyone in the town was doing it, and talking about it? 
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      CATHY: Well, I don’t know about everyone, but everyone in my environment seemed 
    

    
      to be involved in it, and since then Muskegon has been named as a pedophile capitol. 
    

    
      Even the Muskegon Chronicle
       said that [Muskegon was] th
      e primary place in the United 
    

    
      States for pedophiles, so there was an extensive exposé on that. But the area where I grew 
    

    
      up in was definitely predominantly full of incest and sexual abuse.  
    

    
      TRACY: So do you think that this had been going on for generations in that area? Is it 
    

    
      just, like, a culture that
       developed over there? 
    

    
      CATHY: I’m not really sure exactly how it happened, but I do know that Project 
    

    
      PAPERCLIP had brought over Nazi scientists that had learned that multi-generational 
    

    
      incest-based families would have children that
       were sexually abused, which would result 
    

    
      in a dissociative disorder that was a prime basis for mind control. So they were really 
    

    
      interested in that aspect of
       things. And in Muskegon, the lo
      cal politicians were actually 
    

    
      sanctioning that type of activity, where there wasn’t any prosecution of the pedophiles in 
    

    
      the court system, like my father. He actually received immunity from prosecution for 
    

    
      using me in child pornography. The deal was that he would raise me according to the 
    

    
      government specifications, which were based on the Hitler/Himmler research into the 
    

    
      multi-generational incest children. So it was widely spread, widely known, and actually a 
    

    
      deliberate effort that was going on in
       the Muskegon area at that time.  
    

    
      TRACY: So when did the mind control programming start for you? At what age? 
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      CATHY: The mind control aspect began when I was about 6 years old, which was in the 
    

    
      early 1960s, when the local politicians were sanctioning the local Michigan mafia child 
    

    
      pornography rings, because they knew that any child that was sexually abused to that 
    

    
      extent would be suffering from this dissociative disorder that they were interested in 
    

    
      targeting for mind control. So they were trying to locate children like myself. And they 
    

    
      found some child pornography that
       had been made, and my father was approached at that 
    

    
      time by a criminal faction of our government that was interested in the proliferation of 
    

    
      mind control, and told that he
       would receive immunity from
       prosecution if he would sell 
    

    
      me into the project. So he did, and I was six years old at the time. So mind control 
    

    
      conditioning began from a very, very early age. 
    

    
      TRACY: And who is this “criminal faction of the government.” Is there a name for 
    

    
      them? 
    

    
      CATHY: I don’t know of a name, per se, for them, but the more people learn about mind 
    

    
      control, and the more they research what mind control entails, how it’s being used in 
    

    
      various aspects of our society, like the military, and Special Forces, and levels of 
    

    
      espionage in the capacity that I was used
       on the CIA’s MK-ULTRA mind control during 
    

    
      the Reagan/Bush administration--the more people know, the more they’re going to be 
    

    
      able to recognize who these perpetrators are,
       and what kind of controls they actually 
    

    
      inflict, not only on individuals like myself, but also in a mass mind control aspect that 
    

    
      was also taken from the Nazi Germany Hitler/Himmler research. 
    

    
      26
    

  
    
      TRACY: A lot of people in the conspiracy theory
       field have a name for this group of 
    

    
      people. They call them the Illuminati. People imagine them as being a secret society, or a 
    

    
      cabal of organized people, and I was just wondering if you’d ever heard a term like that. 
    

    
      CATHY: I’ve heard various terms, but people participated in different secret 
    

    
      organizations, and I think that’s the key to where the problem lies, is in the secrecy. 
    

    
      People have a right to this information, they
       need to know this information, and it’s 
    

    
      imperative that the facts regarding mind control be brought to light, and taken out of 
    

    
      these secret societies. Things aren’t so easily black and white. I can’t just point a finger at 
    

    
      one particular faction, or one particular group, because there’s good and bad in 
    

    
      everything, including the CIA. Not all CIA’s bad. Not all government’s bad, you know. 
    

    
      It’s just not that simple. 
    

    
      TRACY: When did you first hear the term “Project MONARCH,” and associate that 
    

    
      with what was happening to you? 
    

    
      CATHY: When I was about 9 years old was when I first heard that term, and at that time 
    

    
      I was being routinely taken to the Governor’s Mansion in Mackinaw Island, Michigan. 
    

    
      TRACY: Who was the governor at that time? 
    

    
      CATHY: The Governor was George Romney. That’s when I was really being 
    

    
      conditioned, and thrust into a more government
       level of mind control. He’s not a main 
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      perpetrator. He was one that was actively involved in mind control in the educational 
    

    
      system and everything. Names of course are in our book The TRANCE Formation of 
    

    
      America, but my focus is more on just the mind control information rather than who the 
    

    
      perpetrators are, because if people find out what the components of mind control are, 
    

    
      they’re going to be able to identify these people, and that’s going to put us a lot further 
    

    
      ahead, rather than information of who was involved back in the early 60s. But, 
    

    
      nevertheless, that was the first time I heard the term “Project MONARCH,” and I heard it 
    

    
      at various times. Of course, I had no capacity
       to really understand that, aside from the 
    

    
      fact that I knew that it was widespread. 
    

    
      TRACY: What were the methods used when you were a child to program your mind? 
    

    
      CATHY: I had a dissociative disorder, which is professionally defined as “the mind’s 
    

    
      sane defense against trauma too horrible to comprehend,” and of course sexual abuse is 
    

    
      too horrible to comprehend for a child. There’s no place for that in the brain. The brain 
    

    
      actually compartmentalizes the memory of that event so that the mind can function 
    

    
      normally. So I had these dissociative barriers set up in my brain, which was already 
    

    
      prime for conditioning, for programming, and for them to be able to put into my highly 
    

    
      suggestible mind, a conditioning and information that they wanted in there for a base of 
    

    
      future programming. So from the very outset,
       my whole environment was controlled. For 
    

    
      example, my TV was controlled, what I read was controlled, and absolutely my music 
    

    
      was controlled, because of the harmonic effects on the brain. The news that I received 
    

    
      was all controlled. So having my environment controlled to that extent about what went 
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      in my brain, my knowledge base was actually formed according to what they wanted. We 
    

    
      all form opinions, fact, and ultimately our actions based on what we know. And what we 
    

    
      need to know is that there has been alternate knowledge that
       doesn’t fit in a box, and we 
    

    
      have got to learn to think further, and think beyond just what we have been told, and 
    

    
      begin to look further and ask questions. Asking questions was something that I wasn’t 
    

    
      capable of under mind control. I could only accept information, only take it in. I had no 
    

    
      ability to creatively use it, to think to use that information, but nevertheless it was 
    

    
      pumped into my head at a rate that created what is termed “artificial intelligence” by 
    

    
      some. It’s a form of artificial intelligence that’s actually pumped into the mind, because 
    

    
      the brain accepts the information on a photographic level when trauma like incest occurs. 
    

    
      These are the kind of facts that the Hitler/Himmler research had discovered, and was 
    

    
      actually being built from and expanded on during my earliest years, in the course of 
    

    
      bringing MK-ULTRA mind control so
       heavily into our society.  
    

    
      TRACY: I’ve heard this described many times by “survivors” of this, who say that there 
    

    
      were levels of programming with Greek letter codes, like Alpha and Beta and Delta. Did 
    

    
      that happen to you? 
    

    
      CATHY: That is something that I am ever so vaguely familiar with, but that would be a 
    

    
      good question to talk to Mark about, because that
       is definitely not my area. That’s more 
    

    
      outside information rather than what I would know from the inside. 
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      TRACY: You said that they controlled the music you heard. What did they want you to 
    

    
      listen to? 
    

    
      CATHY: There was a lot of music going on back in
       those days that I have missed and 
    

    
      have only found since I have been recovered and deprogrammed and have been able to 
    

    
      choose music for myself. But the 60s freedom music I didn’t get to listen to, and any kind 
    

    
      of protest, or anything like that. Instead I had to listen to country music. That ultimately 
    

    
      was the industry that I traveled in during the Reagan/Bush administration, under the 
    

    
      control primarily of Senator Byrd, who was my owner in MK-ULTRA. 
    

    
      TRACY: When did Senator Byrd become your controller? And what was he like back 
    

    
      then? Because now he’s sort of a doddering old man. He’s always shaking. Was he like 
    

    
      that when you knew him. 
    

    
      CATHY: No. I’ve been familiar with him all my life, or all of my mind-controlled 
    

    
      existence rather. Because there’s not any “life” under mind control per se, because there’s 
    

    
      no capacity for free thought, no capacity for free will, or ultimately any soul expression. 
    

    
      So I could only robotically do the things that
       I was told to do, a
      nd during those years I 
    

    
      was exposed to numerous high-profile political perpetrators that were involved in MK-
    

    
      ULTRA. They are, of course, named in our book, The TRANCE Formation of America. 
    

    
      TRACY: What was the progression of controllers that you had. Was there more than one 
    

    
      at a time? 
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      CATHY: I had what is termed “handlers,” and handlers would make sure that I was in 
    

    
      various places at certain times, either on military or NASA installations for mind control 
    

    
      programming, or in and out of Washington, D.C. I traveled under the guise of the country 
    

    
      music industry, because it provided a means of travel in and out of the Caribbean, 
    

    
      Mexico, and Canada, which were primarily the areas I was used in, as well as all across 
    

    
      the United States. So my handler would make sure that I was in designated areas at 
    

    
      specific times, either for programming, or to carry out the covert operations that I was 
    

    
      used in during the Reagan/Bush administration. 
    

    
      TRACY: OK, so Senator Byrd was not the only one. Is there a difference between a 
    

    
      handler and an owner,
       or a controller? 
    

    
      CATHY: I had two different handlers in the course of being under absolute robotic mind 
    

    
      control, and my father, I’m sure, would be considered a handler as well, because once he 
    

    
      agreed to raise me according to government specifications, he followed their instructions 
    

    
      and followed what they told him to do with me, and where to take me, how to condition 
    

    
      me, how to control my environment, and things like that. So in essence, he was my first 
    

    
      handler. When MK-ULTRA came into my life, the regimentation, the systematic kind of 
    

    
      conditioning and abuse and programming that I received from that point on was far more 
    

    
      structured than the natural high suggestibility resultant from the incest and the 
    

    
      pornography that I was used in as a very
       young child. My father was approached and 
    

    
      told. He didn’t think to do this on his own, in other words. He was being told. So he 
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      became a handler. Handlers follow instructions. Owners are the ones who decide which 
    

    
      projects or which operations to use someone in, and in my case, that was Senator Byrd, 
    

    
      and that was how I ended up on a higher government level. I first met him at Mackinaw 
    

    
      Island, at the Governor’s mansion when I was 13 years old, and that’s when he became 
    

    
      my owner, which lasted throughout my victimization right up until Mark rescued me and 
    

    
      my daughter in 1988. 
    

    
      TRACY: As far as the operations that you were used in for Project MONARCH--it 
    

    
      started out with prostitution and pornography, right? 
    

    
      CATHY: Right. 
    

    
      TRACY: And then did it move into other areas? Were you used as a drug mule? 
    

    
      CATHY: Well, I think the next step that was so significant to me was the use of 
    

    
      occultism. At that time the local Catholic church--and again, I’m not saying that all 
    

    
      Catholics are involved and that they’re all bad, but there is a criminal faction within the 
    

    
      Catholic Church, within the Order of the Jesuits, which is the intelligence arm of the 
    

    
      Vatican, a part of which my family ultimately had ties into and was a further causation 
    

    
      for me to be victimized within the church system. But nevertheless, the Catholic Church 
    

    
      was heavily involved in the sexual abuse of
       children, which was widespread and has 
    

    
      definitely come to light. They’ve had to pay out on numerous child abuse cases as a 
    

    
      result. But the reversal of the Catholic Mass is, of course, Satanism, and being exposed to 
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      Satanism is definitely trauma too horrible to comprehend. Any kind of blood trauma like 
    

    
      that is really horrible, and that was used to further dissociate my mind, further 
    

    
      compartmentalize it for future programming. And that theme was used right through my 
    

    
      second handler. Well, really, right on through my whole victimization there was always 
    

    
      some aspect of occultism that came in as well. And alien themes were also a very 
    

    
      common trauma base. Anything that’s beyond our ability to affect or control, or 
    

    
      something in our minds that we perceive as too big to be able to affect like that is what 
    

    
      they would use to ultimately gain control.
       Superstition begins 
      where knowledge leaves 
    

    
      off, and superstition makes a person more suggestible and easily controlled, so they 
    

    
      definitely used superstitious kind of themes to further program. Those were significant 
    

    
      trauma bases.  
    

    
      TRACY: Yeah, I understand from your book that there were Satanic rituals that took 
    

    
      place at this Catholic church. Were there Satanic rituals that took place elsewhere 
    

    
      throughout your life? 
    

    
      CATHY: Definitely, and so often they’re done more as a trauma base for mind control. 
    

    
      It’s even used in the military which, for example, has the occult Temple of Set, which is 
    

    
      supposedly more intellectually based, which is
       used to traumatize people. That leaves 
    

    
      them widely suggestible for mind control programming. It’s a very deliberate method, 
    

    
      and it has proliferated heavily on our military bases. And it was certainly a part of my 
    

    
      victimization right up until Mark rescued my daughter and me. And I say “rescued” 
    

    
      because I had lost my ability to even think to survive. There was nothing I could do to 
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      pull us out of our situation. I couldn’t think about what was happening. I was so robotic 
    

    
      by that time. It took someone with eyes to see and ears to hear, and a heart to care to be 
    

    
      able to take us out of the situation that we were in. 
    

    
      TRACY: You seem to be saying that these people
       were not religiously Satanists. They 
    

    
      were just using it to control people. 
    

    
      CATHY: Oftentimes that was the case. 
    

    
      TRACY: But do you think there is a spiritual aspect to this, where they actually believe 
    

    
      in the power of Satan, or of these other gods? 
    

    
      CATHY: I think there are some that believe
       that, but the primary mind control 
    

    
      programmers who use that for a theme certainly know better and know
       that the so-called 
    

    
      “Satanic power” was in the form of a stun gun and sophisticated mind control 
    

    
      programming [methodologies] that included harmonics, and a deliberate, systematic use 
    

    
      of sleep, food, and water deprivation. That was what they really knew to be the ultimate 
    

    
      power, and didn’t have anything to do with anything spiritual. 
    

    
      TRACY: There was, in your programming, a lot of imagery from Disney and other 
    

    
      popular children’s movies which was used. And also there was something you were 
    

    
      forced to participate in called “The Most Dangerous Game.” Have you seen that movie, 
    

    
      The Most Dangerous Game? 
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      CATHY: No. 
    

    
      TRACY: It’s this movie from the 50s about human hunting.  
    

    
      CATHY: I wonder if that was based on the military maneuver, or if the military 
    

    
      maneuver sprang from it. I’m not familiar with
       that movie, but I am familiar with the 
    

    
      military maneuver of playing “The Most Dangerous Game,” where a person is in the 
    

    
      woods and attempting to survive while they’re being hunted. That was the kind of trauma 
    

    
      that I was exposed to for programming purposes.  
    

    
      TRACY: I thought that it was significant when I found this out the other day: one of 
    

    
      Anton LaVey’s favorite places in the world was Disneyland, and his daughter, Zeena 
    

    
      LaVey’s favorite movie was The Most Dangerous Game. 
    

    
      CATHY: I think one of the strongest weapons is a scramble of fantasy and reality, kind 
    

    
      of along the same lines as military programming tactics. They use a video game for 
    

    
      military training, and they can’t tell reality from the video, so when they’re actually in a 
    

    
      combat situation, it’s more like they’re just
       playing out a video game. They lose their 
    

    
      ability to consciously comprehend what they’re doing, and to be
       able to critically analyze 
    

    
      it, which is really essential. And so they end up just being able to
       point and shoot, point 
    

    
      and shoot, without giving it any real thought to the magnitude of what’s actually 
    

    
      happening. They’ll play it out more like a video game. And oftentimes with mind control 
    

    
      programming, they would attempt to scramble it with a movie, hence the conditioning of 
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      the Disney movies and all, which were quite
       extensively used. But the primary one which 
    

    
      was used was The Wizard of Oz, because of the kind of dimensional aspects that come 
    

    
      into play of “over the rainbow.” We see a lot of indications that this is still going on 
    

    
      today. 
    

    
      TRACY: Do you think that the movies were written and edited specifically for the use of 
    

    
      mind control, or was the mind control adapted to the movies? 
    

    
      CATHY: That’s a good question, and I wouldn’t really know. 
    

    
      TRACY: When your father started participating in Project MONARCH, didn’t you say 
    

    
      that Gerald Ford came over to the house to give him instructions? 
    

    
      CATHY: Well, he was a local politician, and as his career escalated, so too did my 
    

    
      victimization. But then, again, I don’t know how you want to go about naming names and 
    

    
      the best way to put it in this particular
       article, so I’ll leave it up to you and your 
    

    
      discretion. But ultimately for names, I think I’d refer them to the book, because The 
    

    
      TRANCE Formation of America
       was written for the U.S. Congressional Select 
    

    
      Committee on Intelligence Oversight, and the facts that are in the book are all well-
    

    
      documented, where they would be able to have a point of reference for understanding 
    

    
      exactly the material that was written there, probably more so than the average person on 
    

    
      the street. So the documentation, the absolute facts, and names are definitely in the book.  
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      TRACY: So you don’t want to talk about the specific people that
       were involved, is that 
    

    
      what you’re saying? 
    

    
      CATHY: I think that I would much rather be
       able to put out information on mind 
    

    
      control, and the people involved in it, and the reality of it, and how widespread it is, so 
    

    
      that people would be able to arm themselves
       with the knowledge and actually evolve with 
    

    
      this knowledge, because knowledge is our only defense against mind control. And right 
    

    
      now, at this point in time, it’s essential that
       people have this information, because it’s a 
    

    
      key component of what’s terrorizing America and the world today. Terrorism breeds 
    

    
      mind control. Mind control breeds terror, and people have got to have the information on 
    

    
      mind control now more than ever. It will be able to stop the sexual abuse of children, the 
    

    
      injustice in the courts that is perpetrated on the children, and there is so much that we’re 
    

    
      going to be able to do when we have the information. I’m afraid it would even sidetrack 
    

    
      people to say, “This person, that person is involved, or was involved then,” when they 
    

    
      can be seeing today who’s involved based on a strong knowledge of mind control.  
    

    
      Going back to one other aspect, which personally I think is so very, very important, is the 
    

    
      use of Satanism and everything like that, because they can’t control a soul per se. When a 
    

    
      mind is absolutely controlled, there’s no free thought, and if there’s no free thought, 
    

    
      there’s no free will. And without free will, there’s no ability to have any soul expression. 
    

    
      If a person doesn’t have soul expression, they
       can’t stand up for what they believe in, 
    

    
      they can’t stand up for a cause, they can’t stand up for moral values, or anything like that, 
    

    
      which I consider to be more related to soul. So
       it’s not that they can control the soul, but 
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      by controlling the mind, they stop the person from
       being able to expr
      ess it. I think that 
    

    
      shows the magnitude of mind control, and how very important it is that people know that 
    

    
      our knowledge base is being altered, that this
       information is being suppressed, and people 
    

    
      are being led and misled by a deliberate use of a form of mass
       mind control, which is also 
    

    
      called “social engineering.” 
    

    
      TRACY: How would you identify someone who was actually being purposely controlled 
    

    
      to the point where they’re almost a robot. Is there some kind of telltale sign? Can you tell 
    

    
      if someone’s a mind-controlled slave just by looking at them, or seeing the way they act? 
    

    
      CATHY: I can tell it just from having been there and experienced it, and seeing how 
    

    
      widespread it is and where it’s used and everything. I’ve learned to recognize certain 
    

    
      characteristics or traits of mind control. For example, people under mind control rarely 
    

    
      blink. Their eyes stay wide open. And the micro-muscles in their face don’t move 
    

    
      properly, so they don’t have proper facial expression. They may always smile. I smiled, I 
    

    
      think, the whole time that I was under mind control. I had a little plastic smile plastered 
    

    
      on my face. My face looked waxy otherwise, and there was no smile in my eyes, there 
    

    
      was no twinkle, no depth to that little smile. There are certain mannerisms that can be 
    

    
      recognized. There’s a more rigid stance, or something that might be equated more to a 
    

    
      militaristic stance. 
    

    
      TRACY: It seems like if you were to go to a modeling school, this is what they’re trying 
    

    
      to teach those women to do. 
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      CATHY: That’s what Charm School did, and everybody that I was associated with back 
    

    
      then was being programmed alongside of me. It
       was like they were cranking us out so 
    

    
      that we’d pretty much look the same. You know, people that are conditioned the same 
    

    
      way do seem to have a certain look, or certain mannerisms about them. Politicians have a 
    

    
      way of looking a certain way. I’m
       not saying that they’re programmed. It’s just their 
    

    
      knowledge base and the way they’re conditioned.
       Attorneys might have a way that they 
    

    
      talk, and a way that they’re conditioned. You know, people have different projections, 
    

    
      and folks that have been conditioned for mind control definitely have an identifiable 
    

    
      projection that people need to know now more than ever. We’re being told that it’s up to 
    

    
      us to stay alert, and on guard, and watch out for potential terrorists, anyone who’s acting 
    

    
      or looking suspicious. Well, that’s not enough information. They need to release the 
    

    
      information on mind control so that people will
       know exactly what to look for, exactly 
    

    
      what characteristics and traits to be watching for. The more people know, the better off 
    

    
      we’re all going to be in this effort to stop terrorism. I’ve got some insight into what mind 
    

    
      control looks like.  
    

    
      I’ve got insight into some of the old characteristics. For instance, the stun gun was one 
    

    
      used so predominantly, and a stun gun leaves
       electric prod marks that are two inches 
    

    
      apart. It will actually leave moles, or raised places that turn into moles eventually. 
    

    
      They’re oftentimes located on the face, and those are so easily identifiable. I see people 
    

    
      all the time on TV, especially
       in pornography magazines, 
      that have these stun gun prod 
    

    
      marks on them. And when we become aware of exactly what these stun gun prod marks 
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      mean, that opens our eyes to being able to recognize mind control around us as well. I 
    

    
      think that’s another essential part. But stun guns aren’t used as much today because 
    

    
      they’ve moved technologically
       ahead with harmonics and different aspects now. Stun 
    

    
      guns are still used, and the prod marks still show up on many people who were 
    

    
      conditioned, particularly during the years I was used robotically under MK-ULTRA. 
    

    
      TRACY: Well, they used one on JonBenet Ramsey, didn’t they? I remember the story 
    

    
      coming out in The Enquirer, where they finally looked at the autopsy pictures, and they 
    

    
      found these stun gun marks, two inches apart, just like you said, on her body. 
    

    
      CATHY: That’s why this information is so essential. The more people know, the more 
    

    
      they’re going to be able to ask questions, and they’re going to start seeing it in society all 
    

    
      around them, and in these murders, and deaths, and terror and different
       aspects that come 
    

    
      in to play, they’re going to be
       able to say, “Oh that’s what 
      that is!,” and they’re going to 
    

    
      start recognizing it. They’re going to start noticing it in the music industry. It’s used 
    

    
      heavily in the music industry, and certain high-level entertainers have
       been subjected to 
    

    
      it. There are lawsuits that have gone on because certain entertainers are given the 
    

    
      harmonic equipment to use in their music, which drives their lyrics further into a person’s 
    

    
      head. If you think about it, people know that a song will bring them back to a time when 
    

    
      they fell in love, for example, or a time when
       they were doing this, or doing that. Songs 
    

    
      bring out memories because of how deep the harmonics carry into the brain. That has 
    

    
      been fine-tuned and refined so much now that it is an essential tool. If the information on 
    

    
      mind control were now released, people would realize that is what is causing people to 
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      take action with the lyrics that are going in
       their head. That’s what’s causing them to 
    

    
      react, and carry out a murder based on having listened to this music or that.  
    

    
      It’s not about free speech, and it’s not about the lyrics. It’s
       about harmonics, and that is 
    

    
      one more key ingredient, and one more aspect
       of society where people need to become 
    

    
      aware of exactly what mind control entails. Once they’re aware of it,
       they can critically 
    

    
      analyze and defend themselves against it, as well as recognize it around them so that we 
    

    
      know what a terrorist looks like, what mind control looks like, and who’s being abused, 
    

    
      what’s the devastation that sexual abuse ultimately creates, in raising suggestibility, and 
    

    
      how people are being manipulated, even on a mass scale, through trauma. Any time 
    

    
      trauma occurs, suggestibility rises. So when
       we have trauma, like we’ve got now, with 
    

    
      this horrible terror that occurred in the United States, people everywhere are so highly 
    

    
      suggestible at a time like this, they need to be on guard about what information is being 
    

    
      pumped into their heads, especially if it’s repetitious. They need to shut off their TVs, 
    

    
      they need to think for themselves, and there are different methods they can use to be able 
    

    
      to refocus themselves, and maintain their own freedom of thought at a time when the 
    

    
      most extensive trauma occurs. So with this information, people are actually able to 
    

    
      strengthen, and be far more vigilant. One of
       our last remaining freedoms is free thought. 
    

    
      TRACY: You said in your book that part of
       your programming was decorating your 
    

    
      room in red, white and blue, with American flags. Is it getting to you now that everyone 
    

    
      has a flag? 
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      CATHY: Well, absolutely, I was very patriotic, and I think patriotism is one thing that’s 
    

    
      separating people from each other. This isn’t about that. Terrorism isn’t about countries. 
    

    
      This is about individuals. This is a mind control issue, not a country
       issue, so if folks 
    

    
      want to find strength in waving a flag, it’s because they don’t know the essential point 
    

    
      and focus of what’s really happening, and that’s mind control. And once they realize that, 
    

    
      then we’re not going to have to take the strong divisions, either by race, country, religion, 
    

    
      or anything else, but people can unite in peace and through love, rather than having to 
    

    
      fight the so-called “enemy” of another country. That really isn’t what this is about at all. 
    

    
      So again, this is such an essential ingredient to what’s happening in society today. 
    

    
      Patriotism certainly isn’t the answer. It’s quite superficial. If people would just turn off 
    

    
      their TVs, they’d be able to find a lot more answers than they would by going out and 
    

    
      buying a flag.  
    

    
      TRACY: But hasn’t it gotten to you that when President Bush and others talk about this 
    

    
      war coming on, they refer to it in international terms, and they want everyone in the 
    

    
      world to join in this fight against terrorism? Doesn’t it seem like the ultimate end of this 
    

    
      could be a one-world government? 
    

    
      CATHY: Well, ultimately, people aren’t going to wake up in time, because this was such 
    

    
      an enormous trauma that absolutely has shaken people to their knees. It’s my fervent 
    

    
      hope that we can be able to get information out through folks like yourself who are 
    

    
      writing articles, and through every possible public means to get the information out on 
    

    
      mind control so that people are going to be able to make a positive difference in time to 
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      stop this effort. You’ve got a situation where criminal activity has perpetuated to this 
    

    
      point. The tons of covert activities that
       I was used in during the Reagan/Bush 
    

    
      administration included the CIA’s covert operation of the drug industry. And the drugs, 
    

    
      of course, were cocaine, primarily, as well as heroin. The poppy fields in Afghanistan 
    

    
      were certainly a part of my
       victimization, and in our book, 
      The TRANCE Formation of 
    

    
      America
       it’s mentioned as well. 
      But the whole Iran-Contra thing feeds into it. At one 
    

    
      time we were funding the war against the Soviet Union so that the Soviet Union would 
    

    
      topple, because they were the Evil Empire at the time. And now all of the sudden we’ve 
    

    
      got terrorists that have resulted from it. The negativity just continues to breed.  
    

    
      It’s very, very much like what’s happening in the military where they found out only 15% 
    

    
      of the people could shoot their so-called “enemy,” they didn’t figure that number was 
    

    
      high enough. They had to bypass critical analysis, and the way to do that was to get 
    

    
      people to not think, just to do it. Point and shoot, point and shoot, without any thought or 
    

    
      critical analysis of the fact that they were killing another person. The best way to do that 
    

    
      was to condition them through video games, the same video games that our children are 
    

    
      playing. I mean, they’re playing with a very, very dangerous
       weapon in itself that’s 
    

    
      teaching them to bypass critical analysis. What happens then is that programming goes 
    

    
      into place, where the military will point and shoot, point and shoot. And then they leave 
    

    
      the military, they’re turned out onto the streets, without being deprogrammed. It’s turning 
    

    
      our streets into a bloodbath, it’s creating extreme violence, and the children are being 
    

    
      conditioned into violence that we’re seeing coming out now in the school systems. 
    

    
      Because they’re being conditioned in exactly the same way, to take away that critical 
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      analysis. The whole negative aspect of everything is ultimately what is coming out onto 
    

    
      us now through this terrorism, and when we realize what the cause is, and can be able to 
    

    
      think for ourselves and critically analyze once again what’s
       really going on, we’re going 
    

    
      to realize that war and fighting is not the answer. Then people will unite through natural 
    

    
      attrition. They’ll unite with cause. They’ll unite with peace and love. Ultimately, that’s 
    

    
      the kind of world unity that I would like to see. The only way that we can achieve that is 
    

    
      by getting the information out on the reality of mind control, because this is absolutely a 
    

    
      case where the truth makes us free. 
    

    
      TRACY: [Getting back to your childhood], how did you function in school while all of 
    

    
      this was happening to you? 
    

    
      CATHY: I got very high grades in school. Mostly As, because when trauma occurs that’s 
    

    
      too horrible to comprehend, the brain automatically goes into its own mode, and it 
    

    
      photographically records events
       surrounding the trauma. For ex
      ample, most people know 
    

    
      exactly where and what they were doing when Kennedy was assassinated. That’s an 
    

    
      example from that time when I was growing up that I think most people would be able to 
    

    
      relate to, and that’s an example of how the brain photographically records events 
    

    
      surrounding trauma. Since I was being traumatized all the time, I was photographically 
    

    
      recording what I was being taught
       in school. So I got excellent
       grades. I wasn’t able to 
    

    
      use that information, but I was still receiving the information. It was still being driven 
    

    
      into my brain. 
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      TRACY: So after you graduated high school, did you go on to higher education? Did 
    

    
      you have a career? 
    

    
      CATHY: I had a couple of years of college just as I was being thrust totally into MK-
    

    
      ULTRA. When I was 18, of legal age, I was transferred to
       Louisiana, where I endured 
    

    
      extreme occult trauma for a period of three years, which left me so primed for mind 
    

    
      control that it was during those three years that I became absolutely robotic, and began 
    

    
      being used on a government level. So, from
       about the time I was 18 years old on, I was 
    

    
      used in government operations. But prior to that I went through education as far as I 
    

    
      could, and that included several semesters of junior college. 
    

    
      TRACY: Did you have career goals in mind? And since the government was using you, 
    

    
      were they also providing for you financially? Did you have a job? 
    

    
      CATHY: No, I wasn’t provided for financially. I worked different jobs, like most teens 
    

    
      would, but I was working three jobs at the time, just menial jobs, plus going to school. 
    

    
      And what this did was it kept me wore down. Sleep deprivation was necessary for the 
    

    
      kind of conditioning that I was going through at that time. 
    

    
      TRACY: And when you talk about “severe occult trauma,” were there human sacrifices 
    

    
      involved? 
    

    
      CATHY: Yes. 
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      TRACY: Were you forced to participate in that? 
    

    
      CATHY: Was forced to see it, not participate, per se. It was a trauma base for me. 
    

    
      TRACY: And is Kelly your only child, as far as you know? 
    

    
      CATHY: Yes. 
    

    
      TRACY: Did they, while they were abusing you, have you on birth control? 
    

    
      CATHY: Oh yeah. Predominantly, yeah, but first I had Kelly. I had her during the years 
    

    
      that I was being traumatized so horrifically with the occultism. Kelly was born into MK-
    

    
      ULTRA on a much more sophisticated level than I had been exposed to. She was 
    

    
      conditioned literally from birth, and on a harmonics, high-tech level, whereas mine had 
    

    
      been on a sexual abuse and trauma level. And that initial upbringing that I had was the 
    

    
      kind of mind control that I was maintained
       under throughout my victimization, whereas 
    

    
      my daughter Kelly was almost immediately thrust into the harmonic level. I couldn’t 
    

    
      think to save her from it any more than I could think to save myself, and we could only 
    

    
      do exactly what we were told to do, both of us.  
    

    
      TRACY: Now, when she was being programmed, would they take her away from you? 
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      CATHY: Oftentimes, and sometimes not. It depends on the trauma base. Often multi-
    

    
      generational incest-based families will have children who are sexually abuse, who 
    

    
      sexually abuse their children, and so it goes.
       Both my father and my brother were 
    

    
      sexually abused, so they sexually abused me. In my case, for whatever reason, that gene 
    

    
      didn’t come through to me. I can’t comprehend pedophilia. I cannot comprehend the 
    

    
      sexual abuse of a child. Despite my whole upbringing, having been in it, for me to think 
    

    
      of sexually abusing a child is
       just--I don’t know why people 
      would even want to do that, 
    

    
      and I’m certainly not into the control thing either. My daughter’s abuse was used against 
    

    
      me to traumatize me. Of all the tortures, of all the traumas, of all the horrors that I saw 
    

    
      and witnessed and experienced throughout my victimization, any abuse, including sexual 
    

    
      abuse, of my daughter was the most horrible,
       horrible thing that I 
      ever endured. It was 
    

    
      absolutely awful. 
    

    
      TRACY: So they never forced you to participate in it? 
    

    
      CATHY: There were different situations that I was forced into with Kelly. For example, 
    

    
      I was used in pornography throughout my victimization, from the time I was a little bitty 
    

    
      child right on through. But most of the kind of
       sexual filming that was done was covert 
    

    
      filming that was used for blackmail purposes. In
       cases like that, I am aware of several 
    

    
      instances where my daughter was present, and that is truly the most
       horrible thing that 
    

    
      I’ve ever experienced, and I’ve experienced a lot of awful things. But nevertheless, that 
    

    
      was used. 
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      TRACY: Was Kelly ever taken to Bohemian Grove? 
    

    
      CATHY: Yes. We both have been there. 
    

    
      TRACY: Is that like a big Satanic group meeting for people in positions of power? 
    

    
      CATHY: Again, this is where we separate the superstition from the hard-core facts. They 
    

    
      would use that theme perhaps for traumatization, but it was not the leading theme, or the 
    

    
      predominant theme whenever we were at the Grove. When we were taken to the Grove, it 
    

    
      was usually a meeting of global leaders that
       were actively involved in the New World 
    

    
      Order effort through mind control of the masses. They had the same agenda, they were 
    

    
      like minds, and they would come together in a place like Bohemian Grove to meet and 
    

    
      discuss their plans, and actually formulate them. The worst things I heard there had to do 
    

    
      with mass genocide rather than occultism. 
    

    
      TRACY: So when they’re having these meetings, and they’re talking about New World 
    

    
      Order policy, are those meetings separate from all the kinky sex that goes on there? Is 
    

    
      that recreation that takes place after the meetings? 
    

    
      CATHY: Well, it’s secretive there, and it’s my
       experience that when these people got 
    

    
      together, they didn’t have, like, a formal round table sit-down with ties and suits, for 
    

    
      Heaven’s sakes. You know, this was very informal, and they would just talk as friends 
    

    
      talk. Because they felt that they were in an environment that wasn’t being monitored, and 
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      wasn’t being scrutinized by anyone, they felt free to do whatever they wanted. That 
    

    
      certainly went into areas of perversion, and a lot of cocaine use, and whatever they were 
    

    
      wanting to indulge in, they felt free to do. 
    

    
      TRACY: Have you seen Stanley Kubrick’s Eyes Wide Shut? 
    

    
      CATHY: Yeah, I have. 
    

    
      TRACY: Was that an accurate representation of one of these experiences at Bohemian 
    

    
      Grove? 
    

    
      CATHY: You know, I think the theme was taken from that, but I can’t really relate to it. 
    

    
      It’s not quite the same. But there are aspects of it that are probably more realistic than any 
    

    
      other occult movie that I’m familiar with.  
    

    
      TRACY: They have the Cremation of Care ceremony (at Bohemian Grove), in which 
    

    
      some people have accused them of sacrificing babies, by tossing them into a huge bonfire 
    

    
      in front of a giant owl statue. But the official
       story from Bohemian Grove is that they’re 
    

    
      actually tossing bundles of
       stick into the bonfire. Is that correct? 
    

    
      CATHY: Yeah, but that wasn’t a primary aspect of my victimization. It was part of a 
    

    
      threat that whatever I did I had to do as though my life depended on it, because it did. 
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      And I’ve certainly seen people die. The secretiveness of the Grove and what went on 
    

    
      there would certainly lend itself to that kind of trauma. 
    

    
      TRACY: Have you ever seen babies sacrificed? 
    

    
      CATHY: During the horrible conditioning of those three years that I mentioned, yes. 
    

    
      TRACY: I’ve heard of “Mother Goddesses” who are used as breeders for these babies. 
    

    
      Have you ever met anyone like that? 
    

    
      CATHY: No, actually, that goes into, I think, the more superstitious aspect of the occult, 
    

    
      rather than the deliberate use of occultism for a trauma base for mind control. The level I 
    

    
      was used on was a White House/Pentagon level, so it was pretty
       extreme, pretty 
    

    
      regimented, whereas I think what
       you’re talking about there is
       a little more New Agey, a 
    

    
      little more along those lines. So I’m not as familiar with that. I’m more familiar with 
    

    
      genetic studies in breeding that were going on for genetic purposes, and genetic mind 
    

    
      control. That’s what Project MONARCH is: it’s a genetic mind control project, and it’s 
    

    
      part of MK-ULTRA. MK-ULTRA has different branches, and the one that I was 
    

    
      subjected to was a genetic mind control project. So I’m more familiar with things from 
    

    
      that end than I am from the aspect you mentioned. Like in
       my daughter’s case, she was 
    

    
      born for espionage. Her father was mind-controlled, and he was used in mercenary 
    

    
      paramilitary operations in very murderous aspects. They wanted to breed those abilities 
    

    
      in with mine, which were more on a message-delivering aspect and a sexual aspect. And 
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      so they combined two multi-generational mind control slaves for creating Kelly. That’s 
    

    
      all I know. That’s the kind of thing that I was exposed to, was that kind of deliberate 
    

    
      effort. I certainly wouldn’t have chosen to have anything to do with Wayne Cox under 
    

    
      any circumstances, especially to father my child. 
    

    
      TRACY: So you were used as kind of a storage server for information, and a courier, 
    

    
      correct? 
    

    
      CATHY: Very much so, and used primarily in the drug industry. The cocaine operations 
    

    
      were so heavy back in those days, in the Caribbean and Mexico. I was used on the 
    

    
      groundwork of NAFTA with then-President De
       la Madrid and Vice-
      President Salinas, 
    

    
      and it had been determined even back then, when I was being used, that Salinas was 
    

    
      going to go into the office of President of Mexico when George Bush went into the office 
    

    
      of President of the United States. So it was already pre-determined. Both of them were in 
    

    
      the Vice-Presidential capacity, and yet both of them had more power and influence than 
    

    
      the figurehead presidents of both our countries. I saw some extreme inner workings in the 
    

    
      groundwork for NAFTA. I was used in the capacity of funding the New World Order 
    

    
      efforts [via] the CIA’s involvement in the cocaine industry. 
    

    
      TRACY: Did you have any prior knowledge that George Bush, Jr. was going to be 
    

    
      President? 
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      CATHY: I knew that he was being conditioned. I had seen him. I knew he was definitely 
    

    
      jostling for that. But I didn’t know that aspect of it. I did hear conversations about Bill 
    

    
      Clinton, but, you know, I’d refer people to the book on something like that. I wouldn’t 
    

    
      want to be quoted on that. 
    

    
      TRACY: Do you still believe that you have an immunity to all sexually transmitted 
    

    
      diseases--that they gave this to
       you as part of your training? 
    

    
      CATHY: I have no reason not to believe that. 
    

    
      TRACY: Do you think that “They,” the bad guys, have purposely bred AIDS, and other 
    

    
      diseases like that, or have allowed them to
       proliferate while they possess the antidote or 
    

    
      the vaccine. 
    

    
      CATHY: Mass genocide has been discussed, and has certainly come to pass and been 
    

    
      perpetrated. AIDS is something that I have cause to suspect in that regard, based on the 
    

    
      operations I was used for in Haiti, and based on conversations that I heard. Also, consider 
    

    
      the fact that they did not use any kind of sexual protection whatsoever in the sexual 
    

    
      activities that I was engaged in
       with these various government leaders, even coming right 
    

    
      back from Haiti where AIDS was already rampant. Also, there was quite a bit of 
    

    
      confidence surrounding that fact, and it was a known fact--that since I was used on a 
    

    
      White House/Pentagon level, and was what they termed a “Presidential Model,” they 
    

    
      would not get AIDS from me, because I was “clean.” That was the term used.  
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      TRACY: Are these perpetrators primarily white and male? I know that you had 
    

    
      experience with Hillary Clinton, and some other wives of prominent people. Do you 
    

    
      think that there are a lot of women that are involved in this as well, on a hierarchical 
    

    
      level? 
    

    
      CATHY: I knew several that were heavily involved. I think the mindset or propensity 
    

    
      towards the New World Order effort through mind control of the masses spans all 
    

    
      genders, race, countries, and nationalities. I don’t see any differentiation except mindset, 
    

    
      and there are people that believe the only way to world peace is through mind control of 
    

    
      the masses. How can we have world peace that way, if there’s no soul expression? That’s 
    

    
      a different definition of peace, which I guess would require peace-keeping forces rather 
    

    
      than the power of love. 
    

    
      TRACY: If they’re talking about mass genocide, though, then there must  
    

    
      be certain groups of people that they wish to eliminate. I mean, did you not get that 
    

    
      impression? 
    

    
      CATHY: Especially from a genetic aspect, yes, they wanted what they termed the “less 
    

    
      desirables” to be eliminated from the planet, because the planet was what they considered 
    

    
      to be too overpopulated anyway. I’ve definitely heard conversations to that effect, and the 
    

    
      predictions that I heard I’ve seen come about, particularly
       through the spread of AIDS. 
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      TRACY: But there are elite strains within all of the races that you are aware of that were 
    

    
      considered worthy by them to preserve, and it’s
       just the lower elements of all the races 
    

    
      that they want to eliminate. Is that correct? 
    

    
      CATHY: I would say so to a large degree, but mostly it’s the ones in the so-called 
    

    
      “secret societies,” the people who were of like mind that they considered to be the most 
    

    
      evolved and the ones who should survive. 
    

    
      TRACY: Were you ever abused within the confines of a Masonic lodge? 
    

    
      CATHY: Oh yes. Oh yes! Even in my younger years, because my mother’s father ran a 
    

    
      Masonic lodge in Michigan. I mean, it was definitely sprinkled throughout my 
    

    
      victimization. But then again, I wouldn’t say all Masons are bad, but
       I don’t think all 
    

    
      Masons know what the ultimate secrets are. 
    

    
      TRACY: But you think this New World Order philosophy might be one of the ultimate 
    

    
      secrets of Masonic teachings. 
    

    
      CATHY: I believe it’s an ultimate goal of many of them that are involved in Masonic 
    

    
      aspects. But then again, any time you’ve got
       secret societies, and information is 
    

    
      suppressed, they operate on the philosophy that
       secret knowledge equals power, and if 
    

    
      they’ve got secret knowledge, they can exercise it over other people. That’s exactly 
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      what’s been happening for way too long, and that’s why I say, “It’s truth that sets us 
    

    
      free.” It’s time to start telling their secrets. It’s
       time for the truth to be brought to light so 
    

    
      that everyone can see exactly what’s going on, and as far as I’m concerned, that’s the 
    

    
      only way we’re going to be able to
       effectively combat terrorism. 
    

    
      TRACY: Well, the thing is that people have very short attention spans, and they don’t 
    

    
      have to be programmed to be that way. They
       are that way naturally. So how do you distill 
    

    
      a message so that it’s actually
       useful for people who hear it
      ? I mean, if they see a “60 
    

    
      Minutes” piece on this, is that going to do it? Because in mind control, they distill a 
    

    
      message down to a phrase or a couple of words, and they repeat that over and over again 
    

    
      until people have it burned into their brains. Is there some way of distilling this 
    

    
      information so that people will finally catch on? 
    

    
      CATHY: They need to expand their thoughts, and ask questions, and think outside the 
    

    
      box. They’ve been limited in their thinking for so long, and it’s like, people have gotten 
    

    
      lazy mentally. It’s time that we expand our thinking. When I recovered from mind 
    

    
      control, what I had experienced was a more
       exaggerated scale of what everyone goes 
    

    
      through. I mean, there is a form of mind control on a mass scale. There is a social 
    

    
      engineering. There is a conditioning that has taken place. That, combined with the 
    

    
      deliberate militaristic aspect, through things
       like video games, and stuff, is further 
    

    
      conditioning society: the suppression of pertinent information, the suppression of 
    

    
      technology, the suppression even of a fact like harmonics. Once people know about that, 
    

    
      then we can be more vigilant to protect our free thought, instead of
       just having things 
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      driven into our heads through TV and through music. This is pertinent information. Why 
    

    
      should it be a National Security secret? Why are the components of mind control being 
    

    
      kept secret under the guise of National Security? It’s National Security that’s threatening 
    

    
      the security of our nation, threatening the security of our free thought, and threatening the 
    

    
      security of humanity as we know it. People have a right to this information, and it’s time 
    

    
      that it came out. When people realize that mind control is a reality, they’re going to begin 
    

    
      to ask questions. Asking questions is the key for them to start thinking out of the box, 
    

    
      thinking beyond what they’ve been told, thinking beyond the little bits and pieces that 
    

    
      they’ve been allowed to know. They’re going to
       be able to stop and think, “Hey, maybe 
    

    
      this isn’t exactly new information. Maybe this is just a little tidbit they’re feeding us. 
    

    
      Now what more is there?”  
    

    
      And once people begin to ask the questions, their eyes are open, and they start looking 
    

    
      further. So it’s not that we can give them a pat answer. As a matter of fact, when Mark 
    

    
      and I taught mental health back in early 90s
       on how to help people recover from sexual 
    

    
      abuse, from trauma, from PTSD, and all these dissociative disorders, we were telling 
    

    
      them that they needed to teach people how to think, not what to think. For example, when 
    

    
      people were recovering memories of incest or sexual abuse, they remembered that they 
    

    
      had sexual abuse in their past, but because of the kind of compartmentalization that 
    

    
      happens, they weren’t really sure, and they were trying to remember exactly what 
    

    
      happened. Since the mind is so suggestible, if the therapist asks at that time, “Was that 
    

    
      Daddy who did that to you?,” then it becomes Daddy in their minds. So that’s telling 
    

    
      them what to think, whereas teaching them how to think is to teach them to question, and 
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      say “Who was that? What were the circumstances?” Even details like, “What were you 
    

    
      wearing?” Little details like that will bring the truth forward, instead of being told what to 
    

    
      think.  
    

    
      And that’s what’s happening in
       society, even now, with the terrorist attacks. As that 
    

    
      happens, we’re told over and over again what to
       think, and we need to be told how to 
    

    
      think. And how to think is to begin to ask questions, and look further than just what we’re 
    

    
      told--to be able to learn how our brain actually works, and what the limitations are. It’s 
    

    
      essential that people shut off their TVs and look into mind control, and arm themselves 
    

    
      with that knowledge. Once they have that, they’re on the road to freedom. 
    

    
      TRACY: Now, in your memories of your past, do
       you have screen memories in addition 
    

    
      to real memories? How can you tell them apart? 
    

    
      CATHY: The only way to recover memory that’s too horrible to comprehend is to make 
    

    
      it comprehensible. And the only way to make it comprehensible is to take it from the 
    

    
      emotional to the logical. The way to do that is by writing. So I wrote out my memories. 
    

    
      And what that does is it switches the information into the logic part
       of the brain, because 
    

    
      it takes the logic part of the brain to move
       a pen. So the information’s becoming logical 
    

    
      as it’s being written. Once it’s logical, it becomes comprehensible. Once it’s consciously 
    

    
      comprehensible, then a person begins to recover. I functioned under mind control on a 
    

    
      subconscious level all those years, and I had no ability to consciously think, or to reason. 
    

    
      I had no conscious awareness at all until I recovered the memory. And when I began to 
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      recover by using the logic part of my brain, and making the incomprehensible 
    

    
      comprehensible, I gained a conscious awareness. With that conscious awareness came the 
    

    
      ability to ask questions, and to critically analyze, and to look at things.  
    

    
      It’s real easy to separate a screen memory from a real memory under conditions like that. 
    

    
      You ask yourself: “What happened before?” “Well,
       I sat in front of the TV, or a sat in 
    

    
      front of a movie, you know, or this equipment was being used.” Those kinds of things are 
    

    
      really easy to remember, so ultimately, when I deprogrammed, I deprogrammed the 
    

    
      program first, and that made it easy to separate the reality from what was being pumped 
    

    
      into my head. It’s a very deliberate process as a recovery mechanism from the kind of 
    

    
      robotic mind control that I had. In the first years that Mark and I were publicly speaking, 
    

    
      back in the early 90s, on the issue of mind control, since I was one of the very first to 
    

    
      have recovered, we were actually teaching mental health professionals how to help the 
    

    
      numerous survivors that they were seeing recover as well. And one of the first steps was 
    

    
      to be able to separate the screen memory, to
       be able to teach them how to think rather 
    

    
      than what to think. In those days false memory was proliferating rapidly, because mental 
    

    
      health was ignorant and did not know what they were dealing with. The information on 
    

    
      mind control had been suppressed from mental health from the earliest years, back when 
    

    
      Dr. Ewen Cameron, who’s the founder of our A.P.A., was actually working on mind 
    

    
      control for the CIA in Montreal, Canada.  
    

    
      Of course, Dr. Cameron and the CIA were found guilty of their involvement in that, and 
    

    
      actually had to pay some of their Canadians victims in a lawsuit, which, if you’re 
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      interested, is in a movie that they released. It’s brilliant. It’s a documentary that they 
    

    
      released in Canada called The Sleep Room. It was banned in the United States, but they 
    

    
      are aware in Canada of what went on because of Dr. Cameron. And Dr. Cameron is the 
    

    
      one who suppressed the information initially from mental health to the point where they 
    

    
      had to relearn. They’ve since even had to rename the dissociative disorder that is a basis 
    

    
      for mind control from Multiple Personality Disorder, which is a misnomer, to 
    

    
      Dissociative Identity Disorder. This is a much
       more well-defined term, not only for what 
    

    
      the disorder is, but for how to recover from it. Whereas with Multiple Personality 
    

    
      Disorder, they get all kinds of
       demonic possessions, and this
       and that, and all kinds of 
    

    
      superstitions sprinkled in it so
       heavily that they’ve had ex
      treme difficulty. I don’t know 
    

    
      of any cases that have recovered from the superstitious aspect, whereas with what’s 
    

    
      happening now, people are actually beginning to recover. So I am one of the very, very 
    

    
      first, and I am extremely fortunate to have survived, to have been able
       to recover, and to 
    

    
      be able to help bring this information to light. 
    

    
      TRACY: So you didn’t have multiple personalities, is that correct? 
    

    
      CATHY: Well, they termed it that at one time, but it’s actually a dissociative disorder 
    

    
      that creates a compartmentalization of memory in the brain. So I didn’t have multiple 
    

    
      personalities. I had the essence of who I am, or
       my personality, that 
      was shattered into so 
    

    
      many different parts, so that, for example, the part where my father would sexually abuse 
    

    
      me--that part of my mind would compartmentalize around that event so
       that the rest of 
    

    
      my mind could function normally. I couldn’t think to bring to mind his sexual abuse until 
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      it happened again. And when it happened again,
       the part of my brain that knew how to 
    

    
      deal with it would automatically
       open. Our brains are really 
      phenomenal. That part of my 
    

    
      brain would open to deal with that trauma again and again, and that trauma is all that part 
    

    
      of my brain knew. That’s not a personality. That’s not a whole person there. That’s a 
    

    
      little tiny fragment of my brain and my own persona that was reserved just for my father, 
    

    
      and knew only my father’s abuse. It was like going through existence with blinders on. I 
    

    
      only knew certain politicians, I only knew certain sexual activities, I only knew to be 
    

    
      involved in drug industry. But whatever activities I was forced to carry out, I couldn’t 
    

    
      think to bring it to mind to discuss it with
       anybody. I could only do exactly what I was 
    

    
      told to do. And that wasn’t various personalities, see, that’s just simply 
    

    
      compartmentalized memory. 
    

    
      TRACY: Yeah, I understand. You didn’t walk around thinking that your name was Mary 
    

    
      or Helen, or thinking you were a little girl. 
    

    
      CATHY: Exactly, exactly. See what a difference that makes for recovery? If someone’s 
    

    
      going through the role play of being this person, that person, and all, how are they going 
    

    
      to recover? That’s not reality. That’s the misconception right there. Another really 
    

    
      important point is: I was used in a sexual capacity in later years, during the Reagan/Bush 
    

    
      administration, because my sexuality had been so
       heightened from the early sexual abuse. 
    

    
      It had actually gone into an area of eating, or drinking, or survival, because of my father’s 
    

    
      substituting his penis for my mother’s nipple. That goes in on the strongest of levels of 
    

    
      just basic survival. That’s where my sexuality
       went into a heightened mode, and it just 
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      stayed heightened all my life. Whether mind control is used on a sexually abused child or 
    

    
      not, their sexuality is heightened. 
    

    
      TRACY: I hope this isn’t too personal a question, but I was kind of curious about it 
    

    
      myself. You said that there was some kind of carving, some kind of scar that they put on 
    

    
      your genital region. What was it? 
    

    
      CATHY: It was a vaginal mutilation carving that was used in pornography. It was used 
    

    
      to fulfill some perversions, or whatever. It’s
       something that doesn’t go away, and it was 
    

    
      something that was done to my vagina where it
       looks like there is a face that actually 
    

    
      comes out. It’s hideous, and I remember exactly when it happened, how it happened, and 
    

    
      how it was carved. I wasn’t given any drugs, or
       any kind of anesthetic or anything, so I 
    

    
      certainly was acutely aware of it, and it was painful. But it’s appearance has a function, 
    

    
      which I don’t get (but then again, I don’t get a lot of
       these perversions), and then it also 
    

    
      has some physical aspect that can give men pleasure in a little bit different way. So they 
    

    
      knew what they were doing, and I’m not the only one that’s been carved that way, but I 
    

    
      don’t know of anyone that’s survived who has it.
       It’s definitely evidence that doesn’t go 
    

    
      away. Kind of like stun gun prod marks, you know, it just is there. 
    

    
      TRACY: So you said that it gives the man pleasure. Is this, like, the same concept as 
    

    
      ribbed condoms? 
    

    
      CATHY: Yeah, maybe.  
    

    
      61
    

  
    
      TRACY: Was it distinctive? Would you say that if a person found a pornographic picture 
    

    
      of you that was taken, you could match it up? 
    

    
      CATHY: Oh yeah, absolutely. No
       question about it.  
    

    
      TRACY: You said that Larry Flynt had some pictures of you taken in Hustler. Do you 
    

    
      know when those were taken, and when they were published? 
    

    
      CATHY: Yeah, different ones in different ways for different purposes. I’m not really 
    

    
      sure what all magazines were used, but there were a couple that do stand out more. 
    

    
      TRACY: But you wouldn’t know what to tell me if I were to go through some back 
    

    
      issues to try to find you in there, or anything? 
    

    
      CATHY: You know, on some of them, yeah. He’s got a few that are more underground 
    

    
      than Hustler.  
    

    
      TRACY: How old is Kelly now? 
    

    
      CATHY: 21 [In 2001]. 
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      TRACY: So if she’s been locked up in a juvenile institution, shouldn’t she be getting out 
    

    
      about now? 
    

    
      CATHY: She was turned out when she was 18. She is on her own to a degree, but Kelly 
    

    
      still needs rehabilitation desperately for the high-level mind control that she was exposed 
    

    
      to. In essence the key that locked the door to her mind needs to be used to unlock it. 
    

    
      When I recovered my memory, and remembered
       the trauma, that actually took down the 
    

    
      barriers in my brain, which gave me access to those parts of my brain. Instead of 
    

    
      compartmentalization, I now have free-flow full access to all of my mind. In Kelly’s 
    

    
      case, her compartments were created through harmonic vibration, and they need to be 
    

    
      harmonically vibrated back down. So she’s still got the compartments in her brain that 
    

    
      can be accessed, and she still is definitely accessible. She has an extremely difficult time 
    

    
      just getting by, particularly with this administration that’s
       in right now. She’s having a 
    

    
      really hard time.  
    

    
      TRACY: Wasn’t she forbidden while she was in the juvenile facility from using the 
    

    
      word “George Bush”?  
    

    
      CATHY: Yes, it’s a matter of court record. She and I were both forbidden to say the 
    

    
      words “George Bush,” “Wizard of Oz,” and “mind control.” That’s pretty weird, in itself, 
    

    
      that they would put that in a court record. Kelly’s court case--there wasn’t anything legal 
    

    
      about it. So much so that a District Attorney actually went before the court on Kelly’s 
    

    
      and my behalf, and told the judge that he was in violation of this law, and this law, and 
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      this law. And the judge at that time said, “Laws do not apply in this case for Reasons of 
    

    
      National Security.” 
    

    
      TRACY: And reasons for that were never given, right? 
    

    
      CATHY: No, but it’s rare. Usually those kind of
       statements are made behind closed 
    

    
      doors, rarely as a matter of public
       record in court. But the f
      act that the National Security 
    

    
      Act has been invoked in my daughter’s case is pretty significant in itself. It’s pretty 
    

    
      validating to the magnitude of what she went
       through. So the gross injustices that she 
    

    
      went through while in the custody of the State of Tennessee are to me just as horrific and 
    

    
      horrible as what she endured under mind control. It’s awful what that child has been 
    

    
      through. Just absolutely horrible. 
    

    
      TRACY: What was she being institutionalized for? 
    

    
      CATHY: This is kind of complex, but brainwashing was one of the first forms of mind 
    

    
      control used on an espionage level, and like I said, Kelly had been born and bred for an 
    

    
      espionage level from the onset. In
       the old days they used to gi
      ve the old cyanide pill, that 
    

    
      you may have heard about, which they would take before being tortured, so that they 
    

    
      could die with their secrets instead of revealing them. That pill has been replaced with 
    

    
      programming. The subconscious mind can be manipulated to the point where it controls 
    

    
      the areas of breathing and the respiratory area, and blood flow, so that even military 
    

    
      Special Forces, for example, can take a bullet and not bleed. So they figured that they 
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      didn’t need to have that cyanide pill anymore. Why not just program espionage agents 
    

    
      with an automatic circulatory or respiratory failure? In Kelly’s case, hers is respiratory 
    

    
      failure, activated as soon as she begins to remember her past. When we were in Alaska, 
    

    
      after Mark rescued Kelly and me, we felt safe
       for the first time in our whole lives. We 
    

    
      knew love for the first time. It was such a dramatic difference. I really thought I had died 
    

    
      and gone to Heaven. I believe that in one of those near-death experiences that I had 
    

    
      actually crossed over, and I thought that Kelly and I had died, but of course we hadn’t. 
    

    
      Since we felt safe, we began to remember, and the memories started flashing, and they 
    

    
      were intrusive, and bits and pieces of what had happened started coming forward. Up 
    

    
      until that time, I was completely amnesiac about my past. I didn’t know where I had been 
    

    
      for ten years. I didn’t know what had happened. I had absolutely no memory of it 
    

    
      whatsoever. When Mark first rescued me, I really thought that I was 24 years old. It was 
    

    
      a trip finding out I was 30. 
    

    
      TRACY: They had lied to you about your age? 
    

    
      CATHY: I had no concept of time. Under mind control, since there’s no ability to 
    

    
      maintain a continuity of thought or a conscious awareness, there’s no concept of time. 
    

    
      And with no concept of time, there’s no ability to know how old you are. And they 
    

    
      actually did some studies on aging based on that, because if a person doesn’t know how 
    

    
      they’re supposed to act their age, or how they’re supposed to
       look, they don’t, and people 
    

    
      don’t age properly. Oftentimes people under mind control are age-inappropriate. Their 
    

    
      age doesn’t show in their face. They can
       maintain a youthful look way beyond what’s 
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      normal. So I had no concept of time. I’ve caught
       up with that since those days, now that 
    

    
      I’m aware. But since we felt safe, we began remembering. When we began remembering, 
    

    
      Kelly went into respiratory failure. When she went into that programmed respiratory 
    

    
      failure, she was taken to Humana Hospital in Anchorage, Alaska. She wasn’t responding 
    

    
      to any kind of conventional medication. That’s the first time that I heard the term 
    

    
      “Multiple Personality Disorder.” That’s the first time I heard a term applied to what we 
    

    
      had experienced. The psychiatrist that was treating her initially diagnosed her with 
    

    
      Multiple Personality Disorder, with
       active mind control programming.  
    

    
      TRACY: That’s a diagnosis? 
    

    
      CATHY: That’s a diagnosis. And that diagnosis was rejected by the State of Tennessee 
    

    
      when she was thrust into their custody. When
       they took custody of her, they would not 
    

    
      accept diagnoses from outside the state, and of
       course the cover-up ensued from there. 
    

    
      But Kelly ended up in the custody of the State of Tennessee because of a Federal 
    

    
      program, the Violent Crimes Claims Commission, that was actually overseen out of 
    

    
      Washington, D.C. It was a catch net, in essence, and Kelly was scooped up immediately, 
    

    
      and thrust into the Tennessee system. Once it was determined in Alaska what she 
    

    
      suffered from, that diagnosis was picked up, and the State of Tennessee took custody of 
    

    
      her through illegal and immoral means. And she was raised in their custody, then, right 
    

    
      up until she was 18 years old, and of legal age, and it left her in quite a mentally 
    

    
      devastated condition. But Kelly does know who and what Mark and I are up against. She 
    

    
      has had enough memory to be aware of that, which has given her a very deep and 
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      profound insight into life, into reality, into what’s happening these days. In so many ways 
    

    
      she’s a wise person, yet at the same time her ongoing need for qualified rehabilitation 
    

    
      leaves her unable to hold down a job, for example, or to become a contributing part of 
    

    
      society like she would like to be. She’s still not free to be what she wants. She doesn’t 
    

    
      have the ability to have the soul expression to do exactly what she would choose. 
    

    
      TRACY: Is she not accepting help from you and Mark? 
    

    
      CATHY: She and I are very, very close, and we’ve had a lot of conversations since she’s 
    

    
      been out of custody and everything. But there’s extreme limitations on it because when 
    

    
      she sees me, when we’re together, when we
       talk about anything, it triggers memories. 
    

    
      Because she feels safe and loved, it automatically starts to flood her mind. When it floods 
    

    
      her mind, she goes into respiratory failure. And that’s a reality that she and I live with to 
    

    
      date, which has got to be one of the most cruel things that any parent
       and child could ever 
    

    
      endure. She knows that, like truth, I’m not going to go away. I’m not going to abandon 
    

    
      her needs in any way whatsoever, and Mark and I are totally dedicated to getting the 
    

    
      information out on mind control. Instead of operating out of desire for vengeance on the 
    

    
      perpetrators, or wanting to expose their political influence and all so much, it’s more out 
    

    
      of love for humanity, love for Kelly, love for the children that motivates us. Love is the 
    

    
      most powerful force in the universe, and it’s
       certainly what drives Mark and I today. 
    

    
      Hate, vengeance--those kind of negativities are immobilizing, and they actually hinder 
    

    
      progress. There isn’t time for that. It’s essential to get the information out for Kelly’s 
    

    
      sake and for everyone’s sake. 
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      TRACY: Now, is there significance in the name
       “Kelly,” because I know that Brice 
    

    
      Taylor’s daughter is named “Kelly,” and there are some others
       also. It’s been said that 
    

    
      slaves were told to name their daughters “Kelly” for ease in tracking, or something like 
    

    
      that. That’s what I’ve heard. What’s your answer? 
    

    
      CATHY: I don’t know, it’s something about--what’s it called: “Kiley,” the messenger of 
    

    
      death, or something? There’s some
       negative aspect to why they 
      wanted it. It’s really more 
    

    
      occult based. 
    

    
      TRACY: Oh, Kali, the Hindu Goddess of Death!  
    

    
      CATHY: Yeah! And I’ve got a sister named Kelly. My daughter’s named Kelly. I didn’t 
    

    
      have any choice in that. Yeah, there are a lot of Kellys out there. Just because someone’s 
    

    
      named that certainly doesn’t indicate any kind of conspiracy, or mind control, or anything 
    

    
      like that. But nevertheless, there is an inordinate number of Kellys out there that have 
    

    
      been used on that level. I think that’s even why they used the name “Kelly Bundy” [on 
    

    
      Married … with Children], because it was so prevalent. 
    

    
      TRACY: I’m so glad that you gave me that answer, because the other thing about how it 
    

    
      makes it easier to track them doesn’t make any sense. If you’ve got 100,000 Kellys that 
    

    
      you’re supposed to track… 
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      CATHY: That sounds like something that would come more from the Brice Taylor/Sue 
    

    
      Ford direction, since you brought up her name. She is someone that I am certainly 
    

    
      familiar with. I think that she’s done more damage than anybody with her 
    

    
      misinformation, based on the fact that the mind control aspect is something that she 
    

    
      pulled in initially from false memory through her therapist, and kind of stuck to. I can’t 
    

    
      imagine what would motivate somebody to do that. Nevertheless, she was sexually 
    

    
      abused, that I’m aware of from having known her, and she suffered from Dissociative 
    

    
      Identity Disorder, and needed to recover from
       that. She is one of the most prominently 
    

    
      known victims of the False Memory Syndrome that was being perpetrated through the 
    

    
      mental health system, and which she continues to perpetrate through the misinformation 
    

    
      and disinformation that she’s putting out there, which I think is a crime against humanity 
    

    
      in itself. I wish she would stop, and I wish that she would ultimately find her own peace 
    

    
      and know that truth makes her free. But you know, of course that’s not something that I 
    

    
      can do. All I can do is just count on the reality that truth always prevails, and love wins. 
    

    
      TRACY: I was wondering what you would say about
       her, because I haven’t read her 
    

    
      whole book [Thanks for the Memories], but I did read an excerpt where she says that she 
    

    
      went and stayed at your house, or that you stayed at her house, you and Mark, and then 
    

    
      she supported you financially for months and months, and went through all this 
    

    
      programming. And then she says, “At the end of
       it all, Mark told me that I wasn’t a 
    

    
      victim after all.” And it sounds so horrible. I was just wondering what you had to say. 
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      CATHY: Actually, I had heard that she had rewritten her original novel, when it was a 
    

    
      novel, which I think would have been admirable. She’s someone that Mark helped 
    

    
      recover from a Dissociative Disorder, because we were working real close with mental 
    

    
      health back in those days, and the whole False Memory Syndrome was there. And it is 
    

    
      possible for someone to recover from Dissociative Disorder while having had implanted 
    

    
      false memories through bad therapy, with the “Was that Daddy that did that?” type of 
    

    
      questions. Recovery was possible, and she did recover, but all it did was … I don’t know. 
    

    
      Somewhere along the way she picked up a weird motive and a weird direction. I can’t 
    

    
      understand why somebody would do that, but she did nevertheless. So what does that 
    

    
      mean about the recovery process for someone like that? I don’t know. It just means we’ve 
    

    
      got a whole world of problems out there that we’ve got to overcome, from the 
    

    
      misinformation and disinformation that began back with the Dr. Ewen Cameron mind 
    

    
      control at the very onset of the organization of mental health. That’s another case where 
    

    
      mental health itself needs to think outside of the box, and think beyond the education that 
    

    
      they paid to have, and realize that a PhD doesn’t mean they know it all.  
    

    
      TRACY: I think one of the side effects of this information about Project MONARCH 
    

    
      coming out is that there are a lot of desperate people out there who have been traumatized 
    

    
      in their past, but what they really want is attention. 
    

    
      CATHY: It’s really hard to understand that, you know? For me it is. 
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      TRACY: I don’t find it hard to understand. It’s like the same type of people who go 
    

    
      around saying that they were abducted by UFOs. I think that it’s the same scenario. I 
    

    
      mean, there are just so many people who come out saying that they were victims of mind 
    

    
      control, and you can tell that they’re just congenital liars. And maybe they did experience 
    

    
      some form of mind control, but how do you separate that from the fact
       that they’re liars? 
    

    
      CATHY: Exactly. People are people, whether they’ve suffered from a dissociative 
    

    
      disorder or not. When they recover, people are people, and personally, I don’t choose to 
    

    
      live in the “victim mentality,” or the “survivor mentality.” There’s too many exciting 
    

    
      aspect to life. There’s too much
       to learn, too much to grow 
      with, and this is a phenomenal 
    

    
      process. I am so fortunate to have recovered from all of that, and to be free to think for 
    

    
      myself and to be myself. Living true to soul and being myself every day is a non-stop, 
    

    
      constant pleasure that I never take for granted. It’s given me different priorities in life, a 
    

    
      different perspective on life. Things that other people think are worth arguing about and 
    

    
      fighting about, to me seem really trivial in
       comparison to the magnitude of what really 
    

    
      happens in this world, and the wonder of our brains.  
    

    
      Where we’re going to be able to go with this
       information on mind control is exciting in 
    

    
      itself. It will give us a view into the other 90% of our brain that we haven’t used. We’re 
    

    
      always told that we use about 10% of our brain, and with a dissociative disorder, you’re 
    

    
      blasted into other parts of your brain. So much has been learned, and there are so many 
    

    
      exciting things ahead for people to learn, about what their brains are capable of. Once 
    

    
      they realize it, they can
       utilize it. But that’s an exciting as
      pect to the future that keeps me 
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      hopeful that people will wake up, arm themselves
       with the information 
      so that we can get 
    

    
      the problems taken care of. The truth makes us free, and once we’re
       free, we’re going to 
    

    
      be able to expand, and learn and grow in ways that people never dreamed were even 
    

    
      possible. The future looks really exciting from
       my perspective. I can
      ’t imagine miring it 
    

    
      down by clinging to some negativities of the past 
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      Access Granted: An Interview with Mark Phillips 
    

    
      Mark Phillips is Cathy O’Brien’s husband, and co-author with her of The TRANCE 
    

    
      Formation of America, as well as the more recent
       ACCESS DENIED For Reasons of 
    

    
      National Security.
       He claims to have rescued her a
      nd hr daughter Kelly from the CIA’s 
    

    
      Project MONARCH and mind-controlled sex slavery. This interview took place in 
    

    
      October of 2001.
    

    
      TRACY: How did you come to know about mind control and Project MONARCH? 
    

    
      MARK: 
       Well, Project MONARCH--that information 
      I’ll have to relate a little bit later 
    

    
      on. I became acquainted with mind control--certainly not trauma-based mind control, that 
    

    
      was something that I was just aware of, but I had absolutely no interface with it 
    

    
      whatsoever. I worked in a variety of positions working closely with the intelligence 
    

    
      community. The Central Intelligence Agency was one of those communities. The others I 
    

    
      can’t really go into any detail on because I did sign an oath of secrecy. However, I 
    

    
      worked in the capacity as a Defense Department subcontractor, so I’m not bound by the 
    

    
      same oaths as would be someone who worked
       strictly military. I became acquainted with 
    

    
      mind control, or external control of the mind through just association with now 
    

    
      declassified information that was acquired at
       the Primate Center in Atlanta, and out in 
    

    
      Colorado, and at various other Defense Department subcontracting installations that were 
    

    
      researching, and doing what I call “mind mapping.”
       I use that term loosely. I don’t think 
    

    
      that is a real term. But that’s really how I became aware of
       mind control, and how it was 
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      being used, particularly within
       the Soviet Union. This was 
      during the late 60s and early 
    

    
      70s, when there were large masses of people in
       certain places within
       the Soviet Union, 
    

    
      primarily within Russia proper, that were being used for a variety of methodologies, 
    

    
      including just normal information control. They were more or less sequestered from the 
    

    
      rest of the population of the country at the time, and all of the information that they were 
    

    
      fed was very controlled, and very contrived.  
    

    
      There were also a number of studies going on in
       the area of genetics
      , and I was not privy 
    

    
      to any of those specifically. That was how I became acquainted with one of the projects. 
    

    
      There were about 120 odd projects that I was aware of, and I recall the names of about a 
    

    
      dozen or so of them. But Project MONARCH was one that was used, actually one of the 
    

    
      smaller ones. They were not using specifically blond-haired, blue-eyed people--you know 
    

    
      the Nazi mentality-type family genetic line. They weren’t following that specifically. 
    

    
      They were more or less staying within the blond-haired areas, but they were using people 
    

    
      of all mixed nationalities. Project MONARCH
       was one that was used in Michigan, 
    

    
      Pennsylvania, small parts of Ohio within a number of religious sects there, as well as in 
    

    
      California--in Northern California, particularly. Beyond that, I don’t know of any other 
    

    
      place where Project MONARCH was an active project. [Editor’s note: the use of 
    

    
      Monarch programming and its trail of victims is likely more widespread, including 
    

    
      Canada.] There has been some information released, but the name
       of Project MONARCH 
    

    
      has never, ever been declassified, and since I did not work in that project, I can talk about 
    

    
      it, because it’s hearsay. It has never been a term that has shown up in any Freedom of 
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      Information Act documents. All the genetic research that I know about, with regards to 
    

    
      MK-ULTRA, for instance--none of
       the Project names have been
       released, that I know of. 
    

    
      TRACY:  And besides blond hair, what other genetic qualities were they looking for? 
    

    
      MARK: 
       They were also looking for certain bone 
      structure. They were looking primarily 
    

    
      at the family involved. Even though I wasn’t aware that they were specifically targeting 
    

    
      multi-generational incest, I knew that they were looking at families. Particularly I was 
    

    
      aware of the twin studies, and I was also aware of the research that was specifically 
    

    
      targeting persons or families that had at least two generations
       of very specific artistic 
    

    
      capabilities that seemed to be genetically encoded. It was pretty benign stuff, frankly, and 
    

    
      it certainly did not prepare me for what I ran into in 1988 when I met Cathy O’Brien. 
    

    
      TRACY:  How did you meet Cathy, and what did you think when you first met her? 
    

    
      MARK: 
       Well, the first time I saw her, I beli
      eve, was at the airport, when she was 
    

    
      meeting her handler and husband by the name
       of Alex Houston, a so-called “country 
    

    
      music MC” and state fair ventriloquist, supposedly an entertainer. I didn’t find him very 
    

    
      entertaining. But nevertheless, he and I had a business relationship, and I didn’t have to 
    

    
      tolerate his so-called “entertainment business.” I met Cathy very briefly, like “Hello.” 
    

    
      Virtually no eye contact when she picked Alex up at the airport. It was a most peculiar 
    

    
      thing: most business people, when they’re in a partnership, usually have dinners, and they 
    

    
      have social gatherings with the families of their partners, and this did not happen with 
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      myself and Alex Houston. Why, I never really questioned, and since I did not particularly 
    

    
      want to socialize with him anyway, it really didn’t matter. He and I didn’t really seem to 
    

    
      share any common interests. He played golf and I didn’t, and he was into country music, 
    

    
      and I wasn’t. It more or less stopped there.  
    

    
      I met Cathy, actually, at a party that I had in my house, to which Alex brought her. That 
    

    
      was the first time that I actually met her, or had any chance to talk to
       her, and talking to 
    

    
      her was very much like talking to my hand. She really wasn’t very responsive. I was 
    

    
      concerned just in the back of my mind because of the amount of white that was at the top 
    

    
      of the iris of her eyes. In other words, her eyes were really wide, and she didn’t have a 
    

    
      proper blink response, which I equated more or less as probably stemming from some 
    

    
      sort of trauma in her life. I really wasn’t interested in
       knowing much about her because 
    

    
      she did not reflect her ego as having much intellect driving it, and I was not interested in 
    

    
      pursuing any intelligent conversation with her. She had a plastic smile, and wasn’t 
    

    
      dressed like anyone that I associated with, either. She looked very much like a 1950s 
    

    
      prostitute, and I did not find that to be conducive with anything that I wanted to have any 
    

    
      association with, frankly. I thought perhaps that that was conducive to the country music 
    

    
      business, and that was the reason that she was dressed in that kind of attire. I didn’t 
    

    
      associate it with anything else. I had no reason to. She had very little to say to me. 
    

    
      TRACY:  And when did you catch on? 
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      MARK: 
       Actually, I didn’t catch on. Mind control 
      is so subtle that when people tell me 
    

    
      that “I can see that that person is under mind control,” I immediately just walk away from 
    

    
      them, because, quite frankly, unless you are very well-versed in this particular science, 
    

    
      and you literally test the person … There are some things you can do to test someone’s 
    

    
      suggestibility, and this sort of thing, on the spot. And linguistically, you can listen to 
    

    
      someone and know if they’re this or that. But knowing if someone is under mind control, 
    

    
      per se, is virtually impossible unless these people
       are clinically tested, and that wasn’t my 
    

    
      forte. I mean, I had an interest in the mind, but certainly not in mind control, per se. It 
    

    
      wasn’t until I was in China that I was notified, because of my company. I was president 
    

    
      of the Uniphayse Corporation, and Uniphayse was a manufacturer of
       large capacitor bank 
    

    
      systems to help the mining industry over there conserve on energy so they wouldn’t have 
    

    
      to shut down those mines. Shutting a mine down is like shutting a glass or a steel plant 
    

    
      down--it costs more to start it back up than it
       would to have kept it running, and they had 
    

    
      a huge energy shortage over there because of when they lived in their proverbial 
    

    
      “Bamboo Curtain,” and to the West in China it is
       a constitutional law 
      that they have to 
    

    
      maintain a balance in trade.  
    

    
      In other words, it cannot be indebted to any country. In order for them to literally launch 
    

    
      into the 20th century, they had to technologically speaking, be able to keep up. They had 
    

    
      to be able to provide goods and services, and those goods and services, of course, took 
    

    
      energy to produce. And as a result, they had a tremendous need for energy conservation, 
    

    
      and that was what my company provided. It
       was an ancient technology to help them 
    

    
      produce more product at a lesser cost. It was the Chinese military, of course, that ran the 
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      mining industry, because anything made out of metal, the Chinese military is in charge 
    

    
      of. I know this sounds peculiar, but this is Chinese law. Now this is
       the People’s Republic 
    

    
      of China. This is not Taiwan we’re talking about.  
    

    
      At any rate, my counterparts were Chinese military people, and it was at the ribbon-
    

    
      cutting ceremony of our factory at the Chin-Chin province that I was notified that my 
    

    
      partner, who was not present with me at the time, Alex Houston, was involved in both 
    

    
      child and adult pornography, which is punishable by death in China. He was also engaged 
    

    
      in drug running and money laundering. This would be very much like telling you that 
    

    
      there’s an alien sleeping under your bed, or something. It totally blew me away. I could 
    

    
      not even begin to comprehend it or believe it, because even though I had no personal 
    

    
      relationship with Alex Houston, he did not appear to me to be on an intellectual level 
    

    
      with the people that I had been associated with by working within the intelligence 
    

    
      community. Of course, I worked within the scientific aspect of it, and these people were 
    

    
      very, very bright, and most of them very nice people, as far as I knew. I heard stories 
    

    
      about people engaged in espionage, the proverbial “Manchurian Candidate” production 
    

    
      facilities located on certain military bases,
       using technologies that were brought over 
    

    
      from Project PAPERCLIP. But I personally had no contact with that. I mean, it was just 
    

    
      idle chatter with some scientists that I was acquainted with, most of them with NASA.  
    

    
      The intelligence officer who confronted me with the information about Alex Houston, 
    

    
      and offered to buy his shares of stock out, which I thought was a takeover, literally, of all 
    

    
      of my work to set the company up, and to bring in the engineers from all over the United 
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      States to do all of this. I thought my investment of time and money had gone down the 
    

    
      drain with their takeover. I had been warned that this
       could happen. It’s called a joint 
    

    
      venture agreement, which is what I had. But that was not the case. They literally let me 
    

    
      maintain that extra 1%, so I was still installed as President of the company, and I was not 
    

    
      going to loose my position, or the company, or my
       shares of stock. They were even going 
    

    
      to fund it, which they did. They gave me the money to buy Alex Houston out, and I did 
    

    
      buy him out.  
    

    
      But in the process, when they did all of this, I contacted someone when I got back in the 
    

    
      United States from the State Department that I knew through a channel, and told him that 
    

    
      I had seen documentation not only on Alex
       Houston, but also on myself, that was 
    

    
      classified. I said, “I don’t know whether they falsified it on Alex Houston, or if any of 
    

    
      their story is true. I have no way of knowing. But I am going to launch a personal and 
    

    
      private investigation on it. But I did want to alert you that the very people that I am in 
    

    
      business with are in possession of classified
       documents on Mark Phillips, and some of 
    

    
      that stuff looked like it had original stamps on it, and original signatures.” Any time you 
    

    
      read a classified document, particularly on the work history of some individual working 
    

    
      in the intelligence community, somebody has to sign a piece of paper. Back in those days 
    

    
      you would sign it on the border, or on the side, or you stamp it and sign it, and some of 
    

    
      those papers they had were originals, or at least they certainly appeared to be.  
    

    
      Moving on, I was totally just blown away by the fact that a couple of days later, or some 
    

    
      time past, I don’t know, a day or two, I got a call back from an unidentified person with 
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      the State Department who related enough detail to me for me to know that it was, indeed 
    

    
      coming from that office, to leave the case alone, never mention it again, that it had no 
    

    
      significance, and don’t probe it, in essence. I’m paraphrasing. I’ve got them written down 
    

    
      here somewhere. But nevertheless, I was completely shocked into the reality by what I 
    

    
      had heard from that Chinese intelligence officer, and by my partner in China, who was a 
    

    
      major arms dealer for the Chinese, and he owned a ship line. His name was Mr. William 
    

    
      Yoon, a very good man, by the way, in spite of his profession, and he informed me that 
    

    
      they had no reason to lie about it, and that he knew for a fact that it was true. I trusted Mr. 
    

    
      Yoon implicitly. I had no reason not to. He had never misled me and never lied to me. He 
    

    
      was very clever and very wealthy and successful businessman, Korean by birth, and lived 
    

    
      in Hong Kong at that time.  
    

    
      It was Mr. Yoon who told me that it would be nice if someone could help that woman 
    

    
      out, and that little girl that she had, but it would be impossible since,
       in essence, he was 
    

    
      just echoing what that Chinese intelligence officer had told me, that Alex Houston was 
    

    
      connected all the way to the White House. Well that was absurd to me. At the time, it just 
    

    
      was totally off-the-wall. However, when I got back home, and had that fly up in my face, 
    

    
      I did launch an investigation through some friends of mine who were still active within 
    

    
      the intelligence community, both within the military, and with the CIA. I was then 
    

    
      informed that this was in fact true, and that I had best leave it alone. At that point in time, 
    

    
      I was trying to make a decision as to what to do, because I needed to go back to Hong 
    

    
      Kong for business reasons, and I could not be
       laden down with a couple of people that 
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      were literally traumatized out of their minds. I certainly wasn’t qualified to help them 
    

    
      myself.  
    

    
      So through a string of events that are outlined in our book, The TRANCE Formation of 
    

    
      America, I moved on to making a personal decision, actually based on one pivotal point: 
    

    
      the local sheriff came and told me about the surveillance that I had been enduring. I lived 
    

    
      in a rural area. He informed me that my life was in jeopardy, that friends within the FBI 
    

    
      had informed him, out of the Nashville office that I was as good as dead if I did not leave 
    

    
      that woman and that girl alone, and stay away
       from it. That was the inspiration to move 
    

    
      forward, and I do not take threats lightly, nor
       do I ever discuss them with anybody. Cathy 
    

    
      and I have a rule: we do not discuss any harassment or threats, period, because I don’t 
    

    
      want anybody getting credit for it. I’ll go after them
       my own way.  
    

    
      And as a direct consequence, since I knew what
       I was up against, I t
      hought I’d just try to 
    

    
      outsmart them, and get Cathy and Kelly into some form of qualified help. I certainly had 
    

    
      the money to do it, and I thought I had the connections. But unfortunately, there was so 
    

    
      little known about helping people, and the physicians around the United States and 
    

    
      Canada that were doing public research developing a treatment modality for what they 
    

    
      call “polyfragmented”--it was called Multiple Personality Disorder back in those days, 
    

    
      which couldn’t be further from the truth. I’m glad they changed the name. But 
    

    
      nevertheless, I couldn’t find anybody. The first person that did contact me was Dr. Jolyn 
    

    
      West out of UCLA. And of course he’s dead
       now. Hopefully I’ll have his records soon. 
    

    
      They normally release them a couple of years after they’re dead, under the FOIA. But I 
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      was contacted by Dr. West’s office because I had put an inquiry out, and apparently one 
    

    
      of my inquiries hit the wrong button, and I wound up getting the bad guys all over me.  
    

    
      TRACY:  You mean you were threatened? 
    

    
      MARK: 
       Um, how many times? The bottom line is
      , I came from that world. It was 
    

    
      absurd to threaten me, because for one thing, threats are meaningless. These people don’t 
    

    
      threaten you, they just do it. I told Cathy at the time, “Actually these people are being 
    

    
      very polite. These threats are a polite way of saying ‘Please, please don’t go any further 
    

    
      with this.’” So I took what I had and turned it over to some people, like the Head of U.S. 
    

    
      Customs at that time. I turned it over to him through channels that he trusted. In other 
    

    
      words, I did it through political channels out
       of Washington, and through intelligence 
    

    
      channels out of Langely as well, to ensure that the information got into the hands of the 
    

    
      people that could be acquainted with some of the players involved in this stuff. And since 
    

    
      I had very little hard proof at the time, I proceeded just to focus on getting Kelly some 
    

    
      help, and in the process was handed information, piece by piece, on how to help Cathy. 
    

    
      Because Cathy had not been structured by anybody, as far as a doctor making the usual 
    

    
      mistakes of asking “How does that make you feel?,” and doing re-associations with the 
    

    
      traumas that she had endured, she recovered quite nicely.  
    

    
      It took about a year, actually about 9 months almost to the date from the time that I 
    

    
      started. And I got this information through a series of 800 numbers that were given to me 
    

    
      in a most clandestine, covert
       way. I don’t even know who 
      I was talking to, and I didn’t 
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      know if the information was real. I mean, it sounded logical, and it was easy to apply, but 
    

    
      I didn’t know if I was hurting her, or if I was helping her. I had no clue, except that she 
    

    
      seemed to be getting better, and by that I mean that she stopped her constant state of 
    

    
      dissociation. She acquired a sense of time. She acquired a sense of self, and who she was, 
    

    
      and where she’d been. Then I started collecting those details up, handing them over to 
    

    
      people that were in a capacity, working for the government, to get them verified. And 
    

    
      when they started getting them verified, one or two of them made their usual mistakes, 
    

    
      They tapped on the wrong doors, apparently, and that created some very serious 
    

    
      problems. As a result I was almost indicted for something that I didn’t do. That’s usually 
    

    
      what they do. 
    

    
      TRACY:  What was it? 
    

    
      MARK: 
       Well, they said that I had written a th
      reatening letter to the President of the 
    

    
      United States. That was untrue. I had written a letter to the President of the United States, 
    

    
      even though I knew that he was named and involved in the thing, but I had a federal 
    

    
      lawyer eyeball the letter, and then I had a United States congressman read it, and then 
    

    
      hand-deliver it to the President. I think it was that simple. So I was clear 100%. So when 
    

    
      the FBI took me down and fingerprinted me, I actually thought it was probably one of the 
    

    
      funniest things, a pathetic type of humor. Because, I mean, my fingerprints, they must 
    

    
      have had 10,000 copies of them. To put me through that intimidation process was 
    

    
      ridiculous. I had lost everything that
       I had, and, you know, if you back somebody up 
    

    
      against a wall after you’ve taken everything away from them, and then you threaten them, 
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      then they have nothing to lose. A man that has nothing to lose is extremely dangerous, if 
    

    
      he knows the rules, and I did know the rules. 
    

    
      TRACY:  What were you doing to deprogram Cathy? 
    

    
      MARK: 
       Well, the process of actually de
      programming somebody--you don’t ask them 
    

    
      any questions. It’s not like most people would think. I had to know certain codes, keys 
    

    
      and triggers. I had
       to, and I was provided a few of 
      those, enough to get the information 
    

    
      flow going inside of her own head. She had to
       write. She wasn’t allowed to verbalize. I 
    

    
      wasn’t able to ask her any questions. Really, what it amounted to was, I was no more than 
    

    
      a bodyguard and a nurse, and a housekeeper, and a cook, if you want to get right down to 
    

    
      the nuts and bolts of it. The process is outlined in our book. We’d be on this phone for 
    

    
      quite a while if I went through each step, but basically I had to just sequester Cathy away 
    

    
      from all forms of information. In other words,
       her suggestibility was so high that if she 
    

    
      saw an ad on TV for Kentucky Fried Chicken, she could taste it and smell it in the house. 
    

    
      I mean, it was the Pavlovian Dog thing. So I had to keep her away from all sources of 
    

    
      information. She had to pretty much live inside of her head during this period of time, 
    

    
      and I was, of course, just trying to keep us alive through what little savings that I had left. 
    

    
      I was just making sure that the bad guys didn’t know that I was interested in any of the 
    

    
      content of what she was saying.  
    

    
      Quite frankly, the stuff she was telling me was outside of my realm of experience. I had 
    

    
      never knowingly been acquainted with anyone who had been a victim of family incest. I 
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      wasn’t raised that way, nor would I have been able to recognize it, even. So the stuff that 
    

    
      she was telling me sounded 100% totally preposterous. The only thing I did was, I made 
    

    
      sure that there were certain things that could verify whether or not her memories were 
    

    
      correct. For one thing, she would write them down, and three weeks later, if she could 
    

    
      remember exactly what she wrote down, word
       for word, verbatim, and the beginning and 
    

    
      the end of the particular event that she was describing, and the smell and the tastes 
    

    
      involved, in other words, the olfactory sense,
       if it was involved, then I knew it wasn’t 
    

    
      what is called a “screen memory,” or a false memory. Everybody has false memories. 
    

    
      Everybody has screen memories, and two people,
       if they see an acc
      ident, will recall it 
    

    
      differently, for instance. But when someone is under trauma, they have a photographic 
    

    
      memory, and if they are at the point of that trauma, the photographic memory also is 
    

    
      compartmentalized cellularly. In addition to that, they also have complete memory as far 
    

    
      as the olfactory sense goes, and that’s pretty much the tell-taler right there. One of the 
    

    
      oddest things that I ran across with Cathy was,
       she had forgotten that she had ever been 
    

    
      able to dream in her entire life.  
    

    
      Many years later, Cathy and I got onto the lecture circuit, and of course we attracted 
    

    
      mental health and law enforcement first, because I thought that would be the safest way 
    

    
      of getting this information out, and the most
       credible way of getting it out. I never 
    

    
      dreamed of going public with it. Quite frankly, they shoot messengers, and this kind of 
    

    
      stuff would be hard for most people to accept,
       because they have these impressions that 
    

    
      entertainers and people involved in high-level politics might
       be sociopaths, but they’re 
    

    
      not pedophiles. Or, they might be this, but they’re not that. So I didn’t think it would be a 
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      good idea to go public with this. I think I’m jumping around a bit. I was mentioning the 
    

    
      dream state thing being the oddest part. When we got on the road, a number of people 
    

    
      would come and tell me that they knew they were under mind control because they 
    

    
      dreamed this, and they dreamed that, and they dreamed this, and I’m thinking: “Yes, you 
    

    
      definitely have a problem, but I’m not qualified to diagnose you. How about taking this 
    

    
      test?” And this test is commonly called a D.E.S. test. It’s a test for your level of 
    

    
      suggestibility, and dissociativeness that all of us have. 
    

    
      TRACY:  What do the letters stand for? 
    

    
      MARK: 
       I was afraid you would ask that. Oh my
       goodness. I can almost see it myself. I 
    

    
      do not have the luxury of a photographic memory. But nevertheless, the DES test was 
    

    
      developed around 1990--1991, and it was a result of
       some information I had released, as 
    

    
      well as a number of physicians who were studying the rise in the phenomena of what was 
    

    
      then called Multiple Personality Disorder. Particularly they were studying individuals 
    

    
      coming out of the military. These people were projecting different personas, but they 
    

    
      were unaware of each other. But in fact it was one personality that was fragmented, and 
    

    
      what they were seeing were the coping skills that each persona or fragment had 
    

    
      developed. They were naming them, and labeling them, and all this incredible nonsense. 
    

    
      It became almost humorous, except that it was so sad for the patients. These doctors 
    

    
      would stand up and say, “Well, I’ve got a patient with 712 personalities,” and another one 
    

    
      would say, “That’s nothing. I’ve got one with 1215 personalities.” And it became a 
    

    
      spitting match, and it was almost absolutely
       absurd. Cathy probably had thousands of 
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      persona fragments, and many of them were because of the change in histamine. Her face 
    

    
      would change, and her eye color would change, and her skin would change. There were a 
    

    
      lot of changes that the religious community
       for many years called demonic possession. I 
    

    
      mean, it is quite frightening. If you see it for the first time and you don’t know what 
    

    
      you’re looking at, it’s terrifying, as a matter of
       fact. I won’t say “quite frightening,” it’s 
    

    
      just plum terrifying.  
    

    
      However, there is a very logical, scientifically-based reason for this change, and there’s 
    

    
      also a reason why the person doesn’t dream at night, or have any recall in dreams. I 
    

    
      happen to believe--and this is a theory of mine that has yet to be
       proven, publicly--I 
    

    
      happen to believe that everyone
       dreams, regardless of whethe
      r they’re under mind control 
    

    
      or not. But under mind control, they have absolutely no recall whatsoever of any dreams. 
    

    
      Now, if someone is suffering from horrific abuse, yes, they’ll dream at night. If they’ve 
    

    
      endured a severe trauma where perhaps they
       endured a near-death 
      experience, they will 
    

    
      have horrific dreams as a result of it. And people who suffer from Post-Traumatic Stress 
    

    
      Disorder have horrific dreams. All the stuff that’s been happening as a result of the recent 
    

    
      terrorist attacks has caused untold numbers of
       people to suffer from varying levels of 
    

    
      Posttraumatic Stress Disorder, with horrific nightmares that either could be or could not 
    

    
      be directly associated with what they saw on television.  
    

    
      TRACY: If dreams are supposed to happen mostly during the Rapid Eye Movement 
    

    
      stage of sleep, and if these mind controlled slaves can’t blink when they’re awake, maybe 
    

    
      that can’t do it when they’re asleep, either. 
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      MARK: 
       Well, that’s a very good observation. Wh
      at you just said is very true. Most 
    

    
      dreams occur during the R.E.M. state. The R.E.M. state occurs after about 2 or more 
    

    
      hours of rest. It normally occurs between two and four hours, and you normally have 
    

    
      around 17 minutes per episode of R.E.M. state.
       And this particular
       sleep state is not 
    

    
      possible for someone under mind control to have, because if they do allow these people 
    

    
      to go into R.E.M. state, then the sleep deprivation thing is over. Their brain chemistry 
    

    
      will return back to a normal level, and these people will rebel and run. You know, the 
    

    
      fight or flight syndrome kicks in. So, yes,
       when someone is under mind control, the 
    

    
      R.E.M. state is interrupted, and it is interrupted first through a ritualistic program. 
    

    
      Whoever their handler is has to
       interrupt their sleep through so
      me kind of trauma, so that 
    

    
      they are not allowed to go into R.E.M. sleep. And once this pattern is established, it 
    

    
      becomes part of their nightly routine. With Cathy, and Kelly as well, that was the first 
    

    
      thing that I noticed. They did not sleep soundly. They would just sleep restlessly for an 
    

    
      hour or an hour and a half, under the 2-hour minimum that it requires to have R.E.M. 
    

    
      sleep, for your brain chemistry to change. 
    

    
      TRACY: I was curious about whether or not you had any experience with personally: 
    

    
      I’m always hearing about these Project MONARCH slaves, and how they have levels of 
    

    
      programming that correspond to Greek letters. Did you have any experience with that? 
    

    
      MARK: 
       No. As a matter of fact, 
      these stories circulate, and we hear them, and at one 
    

    
      point in Cathy’s relationship with me, when we
       were spending most of our days in court, 
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      I mean, literally, for a couple of years, I didn’t have much else to do except research this 
    

    
      stuff. And so, yeah, I followed the trail of some of these stories, and they always dropped 
    

    
      back into the same mental institution, and the same person. It was a doctor who was 
    

    
      recognized as credible who had released this information, without any validation 
    

    
      whatsoever. Actually, someone who’s been a victim of mind control would not know it. 
    

    
      They would never have any conscious awareness of it, unless they
       had gone through the 
    

    
      deprogramming process, or unless they had some sort of brain surgery. There are a 
    

    
      number of extraordinary conditions that might trigger some memories, but people who 
    

    
      claim mind control, with the Alpha-Beta-Delta-Theta programming denote some stuff 
    

    
      that does have some basis of reality to it.  
    

    
      As far as the symbols going for the victims themselves, of course they wouldn’t know 
    

    
      that stuff. But there has been reference, very credible reference that cannot be proven 
    

    
      because that kind of information has been redacted from the FOIA files for MK-ULTRA. 
    

    
      I can tell you categorically, “Yes, there’s Delta programming, yes, there’s Beta 
    

    
      programming. Yes.” But no, I’m not going to say that victims of this stuff were aware of 
    

    
      any particular Greek alphabet. 
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      Where’s Johnny? An Interview with Noreen Gosch 
    

    
      Noreen Gosch is the author of Why Johnny Can’t Come Home
       and founder of the Johnny 
    

    
      Gosch Foundation, which can be found at johnnygosch.com. Her son Johnny Gosch was 
    

    
      kidnapped in 1982. The case was very high-profile and was featured several times on 
    

    
      America’s Most Wanted. However, media interviews became harder to obtain when Ms. 
    

    
      Gosch began voicing her opinions about the alleged connection between her son’s 
    

    
      kidnapping and Project MONARCH. This interview took place on September 3, 2001.
    

    
      TRACY: Why do you think your son was chosen to be kidnapped? 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       From the reports that we have gotten, 
      from Paul Bonacci, who was one of the 
    

    
      victims, and a witness providing us with information, Johnny was chosen because he fit 
    

    
      the description of what they were looking for in the pornography and prostitution 
    

    
      industry. Paul Bonacci testified to this fact in a courtroom February 7th of 1999 before 
    

    
      Federal Judge Urbom. 
    

    
      TRACY: Do you know what the specific traits were that they were looking for? 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       Well, he was blond, blue-eyed, and tall. 
      They looked for kids that were from 
    

    
      the type of homes where they would be, basically, in a normal situation. Not a one-parent 
    

    
      home, but the typical two-parent home, you know with the pet dog and that type of thing. 
    

    
      A paper boy. They had been, according to Paul Bonacci, kidnapping kids that had been 
    

    
      90
    

  
    
      runaways, kids that were fairly streetwise, and they decided--by they, I mean the people 
    

    
      that were involved in this particular kidnapping--they decided to go for kids that might 
    

    
      not be as streetwise, perhaps just a little more naive. This is what Paul Bonacci said when 
    

    
      the Judge asked him that question, and it sounds pretty logical when you consider the 
    

    
      kidnapper’s point of view. I suppose they feel that those kids are easier to intimidate 
    

    
      and/or manage when they have them under their control.  
    

    
      TRACY: I read the sample chapter from your book posted on your web page. You seem 
    

    
      to believe that the police department
       was purposely bungling the investigation. 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       Oh, it’s not that I seem to believe 
      it. It happened. The morning of the 
    

    
      kidnapping, we had five witnesses, and every one of them saw the man, talked to the 
    

    
      man, saw the man flicking the dome light on and off three times. A second man came out 
    

    
      from between two houses and followed Johnny around the corner. Then the witnesses 
    

    
      heard the slamming of the car, the screeching of the tires and this car pulling away from 
    

    
      the scene heading North on 42nd Street [in Des Moines, Iowa], which takes you right out 
    

    
      to the interstate. One of the witnesses was a 44-year-old attorney who is now a judge, and 
    

    
      yet when all of this information was presented to the police, the police chief said they 
    

    
      considered him a runaway, and they weren’t going to do anything for three days. My 
    

    
      contention is, when there’s a bank robbery, they don’t call it runaway money for three 
    

    
      days.  
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      When Johnny was taken, we had what most families don’t have, which is that we had five 
    

    
      witnesses on the street, and each of them witnessed a different part of the kidnapping. 
    

    
      One of the witnesses happened to be a 44-year-old attorney who is now a judge. Pretty 
    

    
      reputable. Pretty credible. And yet, they wouldn’t look. They
       wouldn’t call in the FBI. 
    

    
      They refused. They wouldn’t do aerial searches. They wouldn’t use free volunteer canine 
    

    
      teams to begin to search for our boy. We as a family had to do this all on our own. And 
    

    
      something is wrong in an investigation when
       this happens. Many years later, I learned 
    

    
      that our police chief, the one who is no longer in office, Cooney, is extremely good 
    

    
      friends with the Police Chief from Omaha,
       Robert Wadman. And Robert Wadman was 
    

    
      involved in the Franklin Credit Union cover-up, which was a porn and prostitution ring 
    

    
      operated in Omaha, Nebraska, that was uncovered in the late 80s. And our Police Chief 
    

    
      went over to the parties that they had. The Police Chief from Omaha got one of the girls 
    

    
      pregnant. 
    

    
      TRACY: So he himself was a pedophile and involved with the same group that 
    

    
      kidnapped your son? 
    

    
      NOREEN: That’s right. And I learned all of this later, much, much later, and then two 
    

    
      and two made four. It became pretty simple
       why the Police Chief 
      wouldn’t call in the 
    

    
      FBI, why he wouldn’t do certain
       things. They didn’t want me to find Johnny. They didn’t 
    

    
      want me to uncover what had really happened to him. 
    

    
      TRACY: And you learned all of this from Bonacci? 
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      NOREEN:
       Bonacci, and then there have been a nu
      mber of other witnesses, victims that 
    

    
      we have talked to since Bonacci came forward, and they all tell the same story, with the 
    

    
      same people involved. And these other witnesses are credible. Paul Bonacci was real 
    

    
      credible in a court of law. 
    

    
      TRACY: And what about the Des Moines Register? Two of their paper boys were 
    

    
      kidnapped, and they didn’t seem to have
       much interest in the subject.  
    

    
      NOREEN:
       Yes, isn’t that curious too? 
    

    
      TRACY: 
       Well, why do you think that is? Do you have any theories? 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       From what I know about pedophile rings
      , people who are very influential can 
    

    
      be involved, in any city, stretching all the way to Washington,
       D.C., as we found out. It’s 
    

    
      very possible that there are people right here in Des Moines
       that are involved. Someone 
    

    
      else is protecting them. 
    

    
      TRACY: You don’t think that they might have set your son up to be kidnapped in the 
    

    
      first place? 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       I have not ruled that out. That’s still 
      under consideration. You can consider it, 
    

    
      and you can get pieces of information and evidence, but when it becomes difficult is 
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      when you try to prove it in court. You can know it, but if you can’t
       prove it by all the 
    

    
      means necessary, then you have to just sit on your information. We know, basically, what 
    

    
      happened to Johnny, why, who, how, and much of it was brought out in that court case in 
    

    
      1999. Once we got the Judge’s ruling, I went back to the county attorney, the police 
    

    
      officials here, and asked them to talk to Paul Bonacci. That’s something they have never 
    

    
      done. They have never interviewed the boy. And today [September 3, 2001] there was a 
    

    
      big article here in the Des Moines Register
       about a retiring police detective. That police 
    

    
      detective happened to be the one that worked on the Eugene Martin case [another, 
    

    
      possibly related kidnapping.] And it said in this article that
       he would probably go to his 
    

    
      grave not knowing what happened to these two boys. Well, part of the reason why they’ll 
    

    
      go to their grave not knowing is because they
       didn’t investigate one of the key people 
    

    
      who could have answered all of their questions. They refused to talk to Paul Bonacci. We 
    

    
      have tried for many years to get them to sit down with him, so that he can tell them what 
    

    
      happened. 
    

    
      TRACY: Is he still there in town? Is he available? 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       Paul Bonacci lives in Omaha, Nebras
      ka, which is about two hours away. He 
    

    
      would talk to them if they asked, but you see they don’t, and the reason they don’t is 
    

    
      because they simply don’t want the story of
       Eugene Martin and Johnny Gosch to come 
    

    
      out. They do not want any implications towards anyone that they’re trying to protect. 
    

    
      That’s sad to say, but that is
       the situation that I’m up agai
      nst here. And my only hope and 
    

    
      help is to be able to go public with everything that I know, and to remain in a public 
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      situation where I speak out about
       it, rather than cowering in 
      silence. There’s safety in 
    

    
      bringing out the truth. Are you familiar with John DeCamp
       at all, and the Franklin Credit 
    

    
      Union? He’s a good fellow. He’s worked in this almost as long as I have. It will be 19 
    

    
      years Wednesday since Johnny was kidnapped, and John De Camp
       came in to this in the 
    

    
      1980s, when Paul Bonacci, who was accused of another crime wrote a letter to him, and 
    

    
      asked John DeCamp to come represent him. John agreed to represent him. And it was 
    

    
      during one of their initial visits that Paul Bonacci told him that he had been in the car, 
    

    
      and helped to kidnap Johnny. 
    

    
      TRACY: Did Bonacci mention anything about this pornography ring being linked to the 
    

    
      CIA and Project MONARCH? 
    

    
      NOREEN: Yes, he did. He also told us that he was put into MONARCH training at a 
    

    
      very young age, right at Offutt Air Force Base. Offutt is one of the training centers. I 
    

    
      have also over the years received communication from some of the former Air Force men 
    

    
      who worked at Offutt, and they confirmed what Paul Bonacci told me. Since I’ve gone 
    

    
      public I get lots of information just by people contacting me, and these two gentlemen 
    

    
      had worked at the Offutt Air Force complex during the 80s. They said that is where they 
    

    
      brought kids to put
       them through the 
    

    
      rigorous MK-ULTRA training.  
    

    
      TRACY: So, do you believe that’s what happened to your son as well? 
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      NOREEN: Yes, that is the information we
       have, through Paul, through private 
    

    
      investigators, and many years of searching, and interviewing other victims who were also 
    

    
      with Johnny at many periods of time. They all reveal that he was put through the same 
    

    
      training. 
    

    
      TRACY:
       Didn’t your son come back and vi
      sit you at some point in 1997? 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       In 1997, I had been on a network TV s
      how just a couple of months before 
    

    
      this had happened--the Lisa Gibbons program. She asked me if I wanted to give a special 
    

    
      message to Johnny on the show, and so I did. I said to him that I just knew that he was 
    

    
      alive, and that I would help him no matter what had transpired in his life. I gave my 
    

    
      address on national television where he could find me. And within three months, there 
    

    
      was a knock on my door at 2:30 in the morning. I about had a heart attack--seriously, I 
    

    
      did. I could hardly believe my ears when I heard him say “It’s me.” I asked through the 
    

    
      door who was there, and this voice said, “It’s me. It’s Johnny. It’s me, Mom.” And I 
    

    
      looked out the peephole on the door, and our hallways are very well-lit at this apartment 
    

    
      complex. I could see him out there, and his eyes
       had not changed. Yes, he was older, yes. 
    

    
      He was grown-up and physically developed into a young man, but the eyes had not 
    

    
      changed, and I knew it was my son. He did have a young man with him, and he did not 
    

    
      volunteer his name, he did not want me to know who it was. They both came in, and we 
    

    
      talked for about two hours. And I offered to have someone come who I felt I could trust, 
    

    
      because I thought Johnny was home to stay. And when I said that I would call somebody, 
    

    
      he became very alarmed. He said, “You don’t understand. No one can know I was here. 
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      I’m bringing you information that
       I want you to take to law 
      enforcement. Hopefully they 
    

    
      will make some arrests. But no one can know it came from me just yet.”  
    

    
      And so I promised him I wouldn’t tell anybody, and I didn’t. For two years, I told no one. 
    

    
      My own mother didn’t know. And it wasn’t until I was in that court room in 1999, and 
    

    
      John DeCamp
       asked me the question, if I had seen or
       talked to Johnny in all of that time, 
    

    
      and I had to answer, because the judge made me answer the question. There was a 
    

    
      reporter in the room, so of course she wrote everything down. And I did take the 
    

    
      information that I received from my son to
       the County Attorney. I asked for a special 
    

    
      meeting. I just could not tell him that the informant who came forward was my son. I had 
    

    
      to tell him that it was just someone else, because I did honor my son’s request. And the 
    

    
      police typically said they weren’t sure what they would do with
       the information, if 
    

    
      anything, which is always their response. And so
       I told them that I had my own attorney 
    

    
      with me, because I felt that was what I needed for my own protection. I did inform the 
    

    
      County Attorney that I had come in voluntarily, and shared my information with them, 
    

    
      and so therefore they could never accuse me of withholding info. And I told them that 
    

    
      they could conduct their investigation in any way they chose, and I would continue doing 
    

    
      the same with mine.  
    

    
      TRACY: Did your son tell you all about the mind control? 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       Yes, he did. He told me that he had 
      been subjected to mind control, and many 
    

    
      of the horrendous things that he had been forced to do. He did, however, hold back on 
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      some of the information, I think probably out of embarrassment, you know, for himself, 
    

    
      and some sensitivity for me. Because some of
       it would be pretty graphic, as you can 
    

    
      probably understand.  
    

    
      TRACY: Did you understand that he had been sold as a prostitute to high-ranking 
    

    
      businessmen and politicians? 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       That’s correct. That’s what he told me
      --that he had been used in that manner, 
    

    
      and that his job was to compromise politicians, and any VIP that
       they felt they wanted to 
    

    
      do that to.  
    

    
      TRACY: And were there Satanic rituals involved? 
    

    
      NOREEN:  He only mentioned the Satanic rituals briefly. He didn’t go into depth about 
    

    
      them as far as the details of what they did, but
       he did say that was part of what they did, 
    

    
      and that was also confirmed at an earlier date
       by Paul Bonacci, and the other victims that 
    

    
      I have talked to. Because there have been others that have come forward besides Paul, but 
    

    
      they did not want their name in the press. But they had also been part of this ring, and 
    

    
      they had also been with Johnny on many occasions. And to date, we have interviewed 45 
    

    
      of them. We have quite a few, yeah. As you see, all of this information was presented to 
    

    
      the police. All of this was given to them. And they still say that they do not want to talk 
    

    
      to Paul Bonacci. They’re just not interested.  
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      TRACY: So the attitude of the police hasn’t improved at all over the years? 
    

    
      NOREEN: No, it hasn’t. They’re content to leave this
       as an unsolvable ca
      se, and it’s just 
    

    
      the opposite. It’s quite solvable, if they were willing to investigate Paul, and take the 
    

    
      information that he has given, which is part of
       court transcripts where the judge ruled that 
    

    
      he was telling the truth. If they would take that information and work, then they would 
    

    
      have it. But they are not interested in doing that. I’ve even gone to the governor of our 
    

    
      state, and the governor’s response was, “Well,
       this is really none
       of my concern, two 
    

    
      missing boys in Iowa.” And then he suggested that I take my problem to the Department 
    

    
      of Public Safety. Well, they do traffic lights.
       They do zoning for traffic situations. They 
    

    
      help make those decisions for the city. So they won’t help either. And yet for the 
    

    
      Governor [Tom Vilsack], it is within his power. He could direct the department of 
    

    
      criminal investigation to work on this. He has that power. But he has chosen not to. Now 
    

    
      why do you suppose that is? I’ll tell you why. We found out that this Governor is 
    

    
      extremely close friends with the former governor of Nebraska [Bob Kerry], who was 
    

    
      involved with this whole Franklin
       mess. They have been long-time friends. Our Governor 
    

    
      brought Governor Kerry’s sister over here and gave her a top key position here for six 
    

    
      figures, and there was quite a collusion there. 
    

    
      TRACY: I’ve heard from a lot of proclaimed Project MONARCH victims that Presidents 
    

    
      of the United States have been involved. 
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      NOREEN: Yes, that’s what I have heard as well. I’ve gotten a lot of help and a lot of 
    

    
      information from John DeCamp, and another man is Ted Gunderson, who is a former FBI 
    

    
      agent. He’s one of the good guys, however. In the early 1980s he retired, and went into 
    

    
      private practice as a private investigator, but he still has the connections to get 
    

    
      information. So with his help, coming on board with Johnny’s case, and John DeCamp
    

    
      with his knowledge of the Franklin
       situation, we were really fortunate, and we started 
    

    
      putting the pieces of the puzzle together concerning Johnny. And we found out that 
    

    
      Johnny’s case is right smack in the middle of this whole Franklin
       situation. Law 
    

    
      enforcement doesn’t want to touch it. They don’t want to touch it in Omaha, Nebraska, 
    

    
      and they don’t want to touch it in Iowa. They’d just as soon let this rest, and wish that I 
    

    
      would just go away and forget about it. But you see, there were two young boys that were 
    

    
      ripped off the street here in Des Moines, Iowa. My son first, and then within two years, 
    

    
      Eugene Martin. Both boys are gone. Identical
       circumstances. We know
       that the cases are 
    

    
      connected. And yet we have a governor who says
       that this is none 
      of his concern. Don’t 
    

    
      you think that’s a very odd statement by a politician who might want
       to get re-elected 
    

    
      some day? Why is it not his concern? Why? Well, let’s go back to his association with 
    

    
      Nebraska. What is he possibly involved in that hasn’t come
       out? I don’t know. It’s either 
    

    
      one of three things: he’s either incredibly stupid, incredibly naive,
       or he’s involved in 
    

    
      something, and he’s hiding it to protect himself and/or his friends. I would choose the 
    

    
      latter. Because you know he’s not a stupid man, and he’s not a naive man. 
    

    
      TRACY:
       It must make you very uncomfortable to know so many people in positions of 
    

    
      power are involved in this somehow. 
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      NOREEN:
       Oh, it does. It’s very disheartening wh
      en you realize that you’ve worked all 
    

    
      these years, and you have the truth, and they choose not to accept it. When I went to the 
    

    
      County Attorney, I was shocked. ‘Cause I took the transcripts from the court, and the 
    

    
      judge said that Paul Bonacci was telling the truth. And he just looked at me and said, 
    

    
      “Noreen, we just aren’t going to accept the judge’s ruling.” It took the wind out of me. I 
    

    
      couldn’t believe it. I said: “Wait a minute, this is a Federal court ruling, doesn’t it apply 
    

    
      in every state?” And he said, “Well, we’re just
       not going to accept it.” So then I appealed 
    

    
      to the governor, and he told me the same thing, that this was none of his concern, and I 
    

    
      should go to the Department of Public Safety. So, does this sound like passing the buck, 
    

    
      shuffling the hot potato? It doesn’t take a rocket scientist to figure out what’s going on 
    

    
      here in Des Moines, Iowa. I don’t have any qualms about saying this. I’ve said it on TV 
    

    
      programs, I’ve said it in various articles where I’ve been interviewed, and I’m very 
    

    
      cautious about my safety. But the public needs to know that this is going on, because it’s 
    

    
      not only going on in Iowa, but no doubt other states, and if they could do this to me, and 
    

    
      to my son, they can do it to anybody. The men who took my son, and Eugene Martin, and 
    

    
      many other kids, have not been caught, have not been punished, and there is absolutely 
    

    
      nothing to prevent them from striking here
       again, or in any city they choose. 
    

    
      TRACY: Did either Paul Bonacci or your son tell you that Michael Aquino was involved 
    

    
      in this somehow? 
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      NOREEN:
       That information first came from Paul
       Bonacci, who told us that Aquino--he 
    

    
      kept referring to him as “The Colonel”--came to the location in Sioux City, Iowa, where 
    

    
      they had held Johnny captive for about 14 days. That’s where they took the first pictures 
    

    
      of him while he was being molested. And Paul
       Bonacci stated that he came there and 
    

    
      gave the kidnappers cash for having done
       the job of kidnappi
      ng Johnny. He basically 
    

    
      bought Johnny from them. And then he took Johnny with him to Colorado. The next time 
    

    
      Paul Bonacci saw him was about a year later,
       at this Colorado location that he said 
    

    
      belonged to the Colonel. Then we also heard the same information from probably 25 of 
    

    
      the 45 other victims that we have talked to and interviewed. 
    

    
      TRACY: Do you know where this location was in Colorado?  
    

    
      NOREEN:
       It was a couple. They had one that was called a safe house, and it was kind of 
    

    
      an old house up in the mountains of Colorado. America’s Most Wanted
       did a show on 
    

    
      Johnny, and then they did five updates. And on one of those last updates, America’s Most 
    

    
      Wanted,
       with Paul Bonacci, went to this locat
      ion, and they filmed it, and it was on 
    

    
      television. And they showed that in the basement they had cages where the kids were 
    

    
      locked up when the adults would have to leave. That was just one of the houses. They 
    

    
      had them in New Mexico and Arizona. They called them “safe houses.” But there was 
    

    
      also living quarters there in Colorado. Kind of a ranch, they called it, where Aquino 
    

    
      supposedly had his place, and they went to this place quite often, where they would have, 
    

    
      you know, different activities planned. And the kids would be flown by plane to these 
    

    
      locations for parties. They were also transported at night. They would drug the kids, and 
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      they would then sleep. They would just have them all in the back of the van, and they 
    

    
      would travel to wherever they were going. They would travel by night, and then have the 
    

    
      kids to the location the next day for one of their parties.  
    

    
      TRACY: 
       I think I remember reading that 
      there was a relative of Anton LaVey
       involved. 
    

    
      I remember reading it. They said
       it was his son, “Michael LaVey.” 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       Anton’s
       son agreed to be f
      ilmed and interviewed by 20/20. They were 
    

    
      involved in much of the information gathering with their detectives. And during the 
    

    
      interview with them LaVey said that he had been with Johnny on many occasions at the 
    

    
      Satanic ritual ceremonies, where they serviced different men for their owners. And the 
    

    
      only reason he agreed to speak in front of cameras was because the father is now dead. 
    

    
      Then I found out very recently that Anton LaVey’s
       daughter lived in Des Moines. She 
    

    
      was here during the 90s. And Anton LaVey
       came to Des Moines and stayed here for 
    

    
      quite some time prior to his death, which I did not know until about four months ago 
    

    
      [May 2001]. 
    

    
      TRACY: I’m really confused, because to my knowledge, Anton LaVey
       doesn’t have any 
    

    
      sons by that name. Is this an illegitimate child or something? 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       I don’t know what the circumstances ar
      e, but there are two daughters and a 
    

    
      son that I know of. I know of one man through a third party who dated one of his 
    

    
      daughters. Since I’ve gone public with this aspect of the story, people hear about it, and 
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      they are very willing to contact me with the facts. That’s how I found out that his 
    

    
      daughter had lived here. And then I did some checking on it with my detectives, and sure 
    

    
      enough, he was here.  
    

    
      TRACY: Well, I’m really curious about this Michael LaVey character, because one of 
    

    
      my good friends was friends with Anton LaVey
       for years, and he’s the one who told me 
    

    
      that Anton LaVey
       doesn’t have a son named Michael. So
       I’m really interested in tracking 
    

    
      this guy down, because either he’s
       lying about being Anton LaVey
       son, or Anton 
    

    
      LaVey’s
       has a son that nobody knows about. 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       It’s very possible that he does have 
      a son that nobody knows about, or that is 
    

    
      not publicized. The information that I got on that was given to me by 20/20
       after they had 
    

    
      done the interview. And they had victims, 45 of
       them, all on tape talking about this whole 
    

    
      thing, including MK-ULTRA, including all the sex, and prostitution, and pornography, 
    

    
      and the Satanic rituals, which many
       of these kids participated in. 
    

    
      TRACY: And I presume that none of this footage got aired.  
    

    
      NOREEN:
       It hasn’t yet. They have a one-hour
       special called “The Johnny Gosch Show” 
    

    
      ready to go, and I don’t know when they’re going
       to release it. I know that there have 
    

    
      been other people who have tried to get the rights to it, and 20/20
       won’t release it to 
    

    
      anybody. They’re holding onto it. They want to wait until Johnny is located, and then 
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      they want to run it. They don’t want to jeopardize his life any further.
       And within all that 
    

    
      material is the LaVey interview.  
    

    
      TRACY: From your impression, what do you think the role of Satanism is in this? Do 
    

    
      they really religiously believe in the Satan concept, or is this just kind of a fetish? 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       I think it’s more a means of control of 
      kids. That’s what I think it is. Because, 
    

    
      you know, you grab a kid from somebody, some little 12-year-old kid, and you take him 
    

    
      away from his mom, his dad, everything he knows, his toys, his room, and you start to 
    

    
      brainwash him. To start to break him down. You can tell him anything, at that point, and 
    

    
      have him believe it, so that you can gain complete control of him. So that you could walk 
    

    
      into a public place and know that he wouldn’t run, because of what you’ve indoctrinated 
    

    
      into him. All these young victims that have been kidnapped, like Johnny, they’ve been 
    

    
      gone for over half their lives. They’ve been away from their families. This is all they’ve 
    

    
      known. Their education stopped at 12. They have not been educated in any school. And 
    

    
      the one thing that I learned from these victims,
       because I asked this question of just about 
    

    
      all of them that I’ve talked to: When you got sick, or when you needed a dentist, what did 
    

    
      they do? Did they take you to a dentist, to a doctor?” And the answer was the same with 
    

    
      every kid. “Oh no. They wouldn’t risk taking us
       to a doctor’s office. They brought their 
    

    
      doctors to us. They had their own.” Further proving that pedophiles come in all sizes, 
    

    
      shapes, and career levels. The medical profession is not exempt. But they had their own, 
    

    
      and they brought them in, because, you know, think about it: kids are going to get sick. 
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      They’re going to need medical care, they’re going to need things. And this is the answer 
    

    
      we got from every single one of them.  
    

    
      TRACY: 
       So what is it that binds all of thes
      e people together. Just an interest in 
    

    
      pedophilia? 
    

    
      NOREEN: No. Money. Kiddy porn is a multi-billion dollar industry in this country. How 
    

    
      did it get that way? Supply and demand. There are pedophiles that are rich enough that 
    

    
      they don’t have to dirty their hands and go out and grab a kid, or solicit a kid. All they 
    

    
      have to do is call somebody who supplies it to them, brings the kid to them. The internet 
    

    
      is a new playground for pedophiles too. 
    

    
      TRACY: 
       So you can order a kid online? 
    

    
      NOREEN: They have chat rooms. They go into chat rooms, and they begin to make an 
    

    
      approach with children, begin to lure them into conversation. The reason I know this is 
    

    
      ‘cause I work with an internet detective. He
       poses as a 13-year-old 
      child in a chat room. 
    

    
      He has pedophiles approach him. He learns the name of the pedophile, and in some cases, 
    

    
      the pedophiles have even Federal Expressed airline tickets for him to travel to their home. 
    

    
      As soon as he gets an identification, he contacts the National Center for Missing Children 
    

    
      in Washington. They then contact the police and/or FBI in the town, and the arrest is 
    

    
      made. They’ve brought down some pretty big ones in the last year. They got one of the 
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      top executives with Burlington Industries, and they got one of the top executives of 
    

    
      Eastman Kodak. 
    

    
      TRACY: Burlington. Are those the people that make the coats? 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       Textiles. Mmm Hmm. Both cases were 
      due to go to court in May [2001], and 
    

    
      both executive plea bargained, probably pushed enough money around in the court, and 
    

    
      they did not have to go through the court process. But that’s two biggies in this country, 
    

    
      and they were caught by the internet. There’s another one that involved a pretty famous 
    

    
      surgeon in the midwest. This is a doctor that
       you or I might go to a
      nd put our lives in his 
    

    
      hands. He was arrested for luring a 13-year-old
       girl to a motel room for prostitution.  
    

    
      TRACY: So if money is the motivating factor, why is the CIA involved? Are they 
    

    
      involved in the child pornography industry just to raise funds
       for their various projects? 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       That, and they were heavily into the 
      mind control aspect of it. That’s how it 
    

    
      all got started in the first place. The mind control, remote viewing, all of that was being 
    

    
      used and taught to our spies for the purpose of protecting America. And then there were 
    

    
      people within that organization that thought, “Oh, this would be cool. Let’s use it on 
    

    
      kids.” 
    

    
      TRACY: So what they get out of it is the chance to experiment on children? 
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      NOREEN:
       A lot of experimentation has gone on w
      ith kids, yes, as well as soldiers, and 
    

    
      prisoners in our prisons. They’ve all been exploited over time. And the way this all got 
    

    
      started, I’m sure that you’re
       aware of the German scien
      tists and how this whole mind 
    

    
      control project developed in our country, or why we even have it. 
    

    
      TRACY: So when you met with your son for those few hours, did you see in his 
    

    
      personality any evidence of this? Did it seem like he had multiple personalities? 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       Yes. 
    

    
      TRACY: Really? 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       I would say that he probably does. I 
      didn’t see too much of
       it displayed that 
    

    
      night, but knowing how they work, knowing all that the other victims have told me, I do 
    

    
      believe that it would have been difficult for him to have escaped it. Now, the only reason 
    

    
      why Johnny is free now is because he and several other boys did escape in the late ‘80s. 
    

    
      They stole a car in the city, and that’s how they got away. They went to one of the boys’ 
    

    
      homes, Jimmy. He had been a runaway, and he was later grabbed by these guys. He got 
    

    
      to know Johnny, as well as some of these other kids. When Jimmy took these kids to his 
    

    
      father’s home, he just told him that they were
       buddies of his that ha
      d needed a little help, 
    

    
      a place to stay for a couple of nights. So his father let them stay there, gave them some 
    

    
      meals, and then some of these kids, one
       of which was my son, moved on. Jimmy’s 
    

    
      parents didn’t look too hard for him when he
       turned up missing, because he had run away 
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      in the past, and they just figured he’d turn up sooner or later. I’ve talked to this man many 
    

    
      times. He’s a CPA, a very well-respected man. He did not realize that the boy that was 
    

    
      staying in his home was my son. He didn’t realize it until he saw his picture on America’s 
    

    
      Most Wanted, which was just a couple of months
       later. At that point he called me, and he 
    

    
      felt so terribly bad, because he
       said, “I had your son right he
      re. I could have called you, 
    

    
      but I didn’t know it was your boy until I saw the show.” And the man was quite 
    

    
      reputable. Johnny did stay there. He was there. And I know the circumstances of his 
    

    
      escape. That’s probably the only reason why he’s still alive. After these kids outlive their 
    

    
      usefulness, are no longer marketable for prostitution and pornography, then there’s only a 
    

    
      couple of choices: they either make a break for it, or they’re killed, or
       they’re tu
      rned into 
    

    
      perpetrators, and made a criminal.  
    

    
      So in Johnny’s case, he and these other kids had the guts to try and get away. This is what 
    

    
      some of these other victims have told me, that Johnny had tried repeatedly to get away, 
    

    
      even shortly after he was captured, and that he took a lot of beatings because he kept 
    

    
      trying to get away, to get back home. So this
       wasn’t anything new, 
      him fighting back, and 
    

    
      trying to be free of them. If you’re familiar at
       all with what happened to Paul Bonacci, 
    

    
      when he came forward, people said that he was nuts. People said that
       he was not credible, 
    

    
      wasn’t telling the truth, that he was a dingbat. Multiple Personality Syndrome obviously 
    

    
      meant he was nuts. John DeCamp
       and I worked eleven years 
      before we got the judge’s 
    

    
      ruling. Eleven years it took to
       get the ruling. Well, now, Jo
      hnny knows Paul Bonacci, so 
    

    
      do all these other kids who have escaped. Johnny and these other kids are too afraid to 
    

    
      come forward, seeing what was done to Paul for telling the truth. They saw him being 
    

    
      109
    

  
    
      charged with another crime, and having to spend five years in prison for just keeping 
    

    
      quiet. I believe that these other boys and my son will come forward. I’m quite sure of 
    

    
      that. It’s because of the fear of the way that the system will treat them. Because they 
    

    
      haven’t done anything wrong. They were kidnapped. They were forced into this. And yet, 
    

    
      they’re afraid that they
       won’t be believed.  
    

    
      TRACY: So what do you think it would take to bring your son back, to get him to come 
    

    
      forward? 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       What it would take would be some hi
      gh-profile publicity showing that the 
    

    
      police actually took a hold of the information that was provided by Paul Bonacci, and are 
    

    
      working it like they should have back in 1989 when Paul Bonacci first came forward. 
    

    
      You see, we’ve spent over a decade here [now
       nearly two decades] 
      that’s been wasted. 
    

    
      TRACY: I suppose that if the police did finally decide to investigate this, and they chose 
    

    
      a couple of individuals to prosecute, then
       Johnny could come forward, and he would 
    

    
      receive immunity. 
    

    
      NOREEN: He would receive immunity, and also protection. Because that was his other 
    

    
      big fear when he was here. He said I didn’t understand why he couldn’t just stay here. 
    

    
      You know, “It’s over. You’re back home. We’ll go to a county attorney in the morning, 
    

    
      we’ll talk it over, blah blah blah.” He said, “Mom, you don’t understand. There are so 
    

    
      many of the high officials in this country that are involved in this. I know because I’ve 
    

    
      110
    

  
    
      been with them. They’re involved in this. What makes you think my life would be safe if 
    

    
      I was in their hands? They would kill me for what I know.” He said, “Your life is not safe 
    

    
      either, for all that you’re doing, and coming out publicly. You have to be very, very 
    

    
      careful.” And that was the other reason he did not want me
       to tell anyone that he had 
    

    
      been here, for as long as I could possibly keep it. And I will have to tell you, when my 
    

    
      mother found out that Johnny had been here, that I hadn’t told her, she was absolutely 
    

    
      shocked that I could keep it silent, and tell no one, absolutely no one. When I had to live 
    

    
      with that for two years, and try to figure out a way to help my son without jeopardizing 
    

    
      him, it was very hard for me, because I didn’t know who I could turn to, or if I could turn 
    

    
      to anyone and trust them. My attorney did not know Johnny had been here. When we 
    

    
      went into that meeting, he believed, just like
       the county attorney was told, that there was 
    

    
      an informant that had come forward with this
       information. Because when I went into that 
    

    
      meeting, I turned over a list of names of people that were involved, what their part was, 
    

    
      how they kidnapped Johnny, how they selected him, where they took him, the house 
    

    
      where they had him, who came and bought him, every bit of it was given to the county 
    

    
      attorney. And all I told him was that an informant had come forward. I was not at liberty 
    

    
      to tell him that it was my son, because it would have jeopardized Johnny’s life, and he 
    

    
      was my first priority. 
    

    
      TRACY: Can you name some of the names that were on that list, besides people that 
    

    
      we’ve already mentioned?  
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      NOREEN:
       I can’t, at this time, because these people have not been charged with a crime. 
    

    
      The county attorney has them. The police have
       them. But if I name
       them publicly, then 
    

    
      they can come after me with slander and/or any kind of libel suit. 
    

    
      TRACY: But these are nationally-known figures, some of them. 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       Some of them are, yes. Some are local.  
    

    
      TRACY: Did you come across any information indicating that some of the revenue 
    

    
      being derived from this child prostitution was being funneled to the Nicaraguan Contras?  
    

    
      NOREEN:
       We did come across some of that information. That was provided to me by 
    

    
      Karen Burns, at ABC’s 20/20. You see, when 20/20
       stepped into this, and asked for 
    

    
      exclusive rights to do a one-hour special
       on Johnny’s story, they had someone 
    

    
      investigate, so that we could get the information that we needed, close the case, and then 
    

    
      I could go to the county attorney and say, “This is what we’ve learned.” Well, when I did 
    

    
      that, we know what resulted. They said they
       wouldn’t accept it, or
       the judge’s ruling.  
    

    
      TRACY: Do you think 20/20
       would be willing to talk abou
      t this show that’s in the can 
    

    
      right now? 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       No. There have been others that have tried to get information out of them, 
    

    
      and they say, “Oh no. There’s no story there.” And there are a number of reasons why 
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      they don’t want to talk about it. I have one young man who told me that he tried to get the 
    

    
      story. He’s also with ABC, but just another show, and they wanted to do the Johnny 
    

    
      Gosch special. So they went to 20/20, and they were told: “Back off the Gosch story. It’s 
    

    
      classified. No one else can have it, and 20/20
       owns it.” He represents a different show on 
    

    
      ABC, and he was quite upset that he couldn’t get it.  
    

    
      TRACY: Yeah, I’m surprised that they wouldn’t even talk about it. 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       They’re not ready to do thei
      r thing yet, and so they’re not going to give a clue 
    

    
      to anybody else.  
    

    
      TRACY: Oh, if they talk about it then some other show will do it, and that’s what they 
    

    
      don’t want. 
    

    
      NOREEN: Yes. Then they’ll be scooped. And that’s why they’re keeping a tight lid on 
    

    
      it. 
    

    
      TRACY:
       But if they aired the show, it might bl
      ow this whole thing wide open, and that 
    

    
      might make the atmosphere safe for Johnny to come back.  
    

    
      NOREEN:
       That’s exactly right. 
      I have a feeling that there’s been perhaps some 
    

    
      involvement by the CIA or the FBI here too. When America’s Most Wanted
       was 
    

    
      preparing to do Johnny’s story, just days before the show was to air, the FBI called 
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      America’s Most Wanted, called John Walsh, as a matter of fact, and told them to kill the 
    

    
      Gosch story. And Paul Sparrow, who was the producer at that time, called me and said 
    

    
      that he had talked to John Walsh, and they decided they were going to do the show 
    

    
      regardless, even though the FBI was threatening them. But the FBI did not want the 
    

    
      information that I was going to give to go nationwide. They wanted to kill the story. That 
    

    
      came first-hand from John Walsh and the producer. That’s another red flag: why would 
    

    
      the FBI want to cancel the Gosch story? Why would they find it so threatening--the 
    

    
      information that Paul had to share? You have to ask these questions, because it makes 
    

    
      people start to think, “Wow, what if it would have been my kid, or my nephew, or my 
    

    
      niece that had been taken, and the parent did all that Noreen has done, and this is what 
    

    
      they do?” I am not a person who has ever been
       a conspiracy theorist
      . I was not even into 
    

    
      reading about them. I know there are plenty of books out there, but I had not even delved 
    

    
      into anything like this. When Johnny was kidnapped, it happened in such a swift manner, 
    

    
      from the time that he left the house, that I knew the kidnappers were organized. I knew 
    

    
      there were two of them, from the witnesses.  
    

    
      What I didn’t know (and it took many years, and the help of John DeCamp
       and Ted 
    

    
      Gunderson, and some detectives from 20/20, and my own detectives) was that it was tied 
    

    
      to this level of prostitution and pornography. I knew when they took my son, they 
    

    
      weren’t going to take him to Disneyland to show him a good time. I knew that it had 
    

    
      something to do with sexual abuse of children, of course. But I had no idea that it was 
    

    
      that sophisticated in our country, let alone the fact that they used mind control on the 
    

    
      kids. I mean, this isn’t something that you just pick up any paper and find out about. In 
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      fact, back in the ‘80s, no one even said the word “pedophile.” I knew there had been 
    

    
      sexual abuse of children, beause I saw it in the news, but no one used the word 
    

    
      “pedophile.” I didn’t even know what it meant.
       I had no clue what the word meant until 
    

    
      my son was taken.  
    

    
      Then I got another eye-opener when I went
       to Washington D.C. in 1984, and I was called 
    

    
      in to testify before the organized crime hearings. At that hearing, the FBI presented 
    

    
      physical evidence as well as testimony. They had a table full of paraphernalia that had 
    

    
      been confiscated from pedophiles. On the table were books on how to molest toddlers 
    

    
      and leave no marks, how to lure a child to a car. These were all bound books. Somebody 
    

    
      went to the trouble of publishing them. And then
       there were sexual torture toys--that type 
    

    
      of thing. But the book that startled me the most was a small book, it was kind of like a 
    

    
      spiral bound thing, and in it there were lots of pictures of kids. But these were kids that 
    

    
      had not been kidnapped yet. It was like a catalogue. And everyone there at the senate 
    

    
      hearing, the press, everybody was shocked. And yet, after the presentation of this, our 
    

    
      congress did nothing. It was like the senate hearing was just
       an exercise for the day. 
    

    
      “Well, OK, let’s get all these parents, and let’s do something to make everybody feel 
    

    
      good, make them think we’re going do something.” But they never did. Johnny was 
    

    
      photographed before he was kidnapped. Johnny was photographed on his way home from 
    

    
      school.  
    

    
      TRACY: And wasn’t one of the people involved in the kidnapping posing as a 
    

    
      policeman before it happened, and talking to your son? 
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      NOREEN:
       Yes, at a football game.  
    

    
      TRACY: Do you know who that was, then? 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       It was a West Des Moines policeman. 
    

    
      TRACY: So it was
       a policeman? 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       It was a policeman, and he paid
       particular attention to Johnny. 
    

    
      TRACY: So there were other members of the police department involved from the very 
    

    
      beginning. 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       I’m sure that there were, yes. And this
       particular officer would not consent to 
    

    
      being interviewed by our detective.  
    

    
      TRACY: Since you’ve delved into conspiracy literature and the subject of Project 
    

    
      MONARCH, do you buy into any of the theories involving the Illuminati--that this is 
    

    
      some secret occult brotherhood that goes back thousands of years? Do you entertain those 
    

    
      thoughts at all? 
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      NOREEN:
       I think there’s a distinct 
      possibility that some of the people involved in this 
    

    
      could very well involve themselves in that. But there’s probably also a lot of them that 
    

    
      work these kiddy porn situations that are not, that simply do it for the money, or the 
    

    
      trade-off in drugs, or whatever else they’re getting in exchange for the use of children. So 
    

    
      I think you might have a mixed bag there. I’ve done a lot of reading on the Illuminati. I 
    

    
      don’t discount it. I believe that it exists, and that they intend to bring the New World 
    

    
      Order, but I just don’t believe that all pedophiles necessarily fall under that umbrella. I 
    

    
      think we have too many that are creative and find ways to use kids as innovatively as 
    

    
      they can.  
    

    
      TRACY: Did you come across any information that
       in addition to kidnapping children, 
    

    
      they raise them, they breed
       them for this purpose?  
    

    
      NOREEN:
       Yes, we came across information that there were breeder mothers whom they 
    

    
      have impregnated for the designed purpose of bearing children to be
       kept within this 
    

    
      organization. Therefore there are no birth records that they can trace, like they can with 
    

    
      somebody missing. They make sure that there is nothing recorded. Many of these are 
    

    
      babies that are sacrificed within their Satanic rituals. And I’ve heard this from a lot of the 
    

    
      victims. In the back of my book, I invite victims of this horrible thing to contact me, and I 
    

    
      give my email address, and I answer all emails. I was just deluged. I was getting 50 
    

    
      emails a day. And many of those came from victims who are now adults that have been 
    

    
      through the multi-generational abuse, that
       weren’t kidnapped li
      ke Johnny was, but 
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      nevertheless as children, this was the way they had to live.
       And they bear the scars, 
    

    
      emotionally, because of all that they were put through. 
    

    
      TRACY: Have any of your informants come up with a name for this organization, or is it 
    

    
      just a number of different ones? 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       It’s a number of different ones that
       operate throughout the country. This 
    

    
      particular one that was involved in taking Johnny was based out of Omaha, Nebraska. 
    

    
      That’s just one. But there’s more. They ship the kids around. It’s an international 
    

    
      situation. And yet you’ll have politicians, you’ll have the FBI stand up in front of a 
    

    
      microphone and say crime is going down these days, that crime against children is on the 
    

    
      down-sweep. Well, that just isn’t true.  
    

    
      TRACY: Are they not counting these? 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       They’re not counting them, right. Th
      ey’re not recording them properly. 
    

    
      Because when a child is taken, and moved from one place to another, that constitutes 
    

    
      abduction, that constitutes kidnapping. When a child has been molested, and many times, 
    

    
      murdered, the charge that is given to the man that is caught, if they catch him, is Murder 
    

    
      One. The fact that the child was kidnapped first and sexually abused beforehand are 
    

    
      minor charges that come down later. So they’re not always caught in the record-keeping 
    

    
      of kidnapping. And those types of crimes are cases where it is maybe a pedophile who is 
    

    
      acting alone. He’s not operating within a big organization. I call him your garden variety. 
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      The ones that live in Our Town, USA all their lives. And they might be the guy that 
    

    
      volunteers for the scouting, or whatever, just so
       that they can get close to kids. And they 
    

    
      molest over, and over, and over, and they get the kids to keep quiet. And then you have 
    

    
      the ones that kill. And finally you have the ones that belong to these organizations.  
    

    
      I’ve had to go to five different prisons since Johnny was taken, to meet with inmates, to 
    

    
      get information. The one that I will never forget, that still raises the hair on the back of 
    

    
      my neck happened to be a serial killer. He had molested little kids, girls, and he had also 
    

    
      killed them. But he had information, so I went to see him. During our conversation he 
    

    
      gave me all the information he thought he could, and I said to him: “I have to know why 
    

    
      you killed those children. Because you wore a ski mask, so they didn’t know who you 
    

    
      were. They couldn’t identify you. So why kill them?” And he got this smile on his face, 
    

    
      and he said: “You don’t understand. At the moment my victims know that I’m going to 
    

    
      kill them, that look of fear in their eyes, that is my turn-on.”
       Well, I never forgot the look 
    

    
      on that guy’s face. He’s not much above an animal in the way that he would hunt down a 
    

    
      child like it was his prey. But the look of fear in the eyes of a child, when they know they 
    

    
      are going to die, that is his turn-on. It made
       me sick. All I wanted to do was go out and 
    

    
      take a shower after being in that room with
       him. But see, how many of those do we have 
    

    
      running around the country? I don’t know what the estimated number of serial killers is, 
    

    
      or if they even know.  
    

    
      TRACY: So do you think this is what happens
       to most kids that disappear? 
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      NOREEN:
       I think it happens to a great number 
      of kids that disappear, and nobody looks. 
    

    
      They write it off as a runaway, or a case that can’t be solved. Most of the guys that were 
    

    
      on Johnny’s case from the beginning have either retired, or they have died now. So we’ve 
    

    
      got a new, younger crop of men that are at the department. They have young kids. They 
    

    
      are raising families. They know that they don’t want their kids hurt. So they are a little 
    

    
      more sympathetic to me. I have one detective in particular. He has twin sons, and he has 
    

    
      been very good. He has tried to talk to the police chief. The new police chief, by the way, 
    

    
      is from Omaha, Nebraska, and a good friend of the old police chief from Omaha. He 
    

    
      begged his chief to start a task force within the department to do nothing but work on 
    

    
      Johnny’s case and Martin’s case until they were solved. He was told by the police chief 
    

    
      to stop trying to help Noreen solve this case. In other words, “Back off.” And the 
    

    
      detective said, “Why?,” and he said “We don’t want this to go any further.” Well, he 
    

    
      came to me to tell me that. He said that: “If you ever bring it out publicly with my name, 
    

    
      I’ll have to deny it to protect
       myself.” But he said, “You need to know what you’re up 
    

    
      against. They’re not going to help you. They’re not going to do one thing with the 
    

    
      information that you have worked so hard to get, and that you’ve proven to a court of law 
    

    
      in Nebraska. They’re just simply not going to
       do it, because they don’t want this case to 
    

    
      go any further.” That came directly from the police detective. He came to me with this 
    

    
      after I had published the book, otherwise it would have been
       in the book, just without 
    

    
      using his name.  
    

    
      TRACY: It must make you feel kind of hopeless. 
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      NOREEN: Well, it doesn’t make me feel that it’s going to end any time soon, but I keep 
    

    
      hoping. I have a great deal of faith. I’m very strong. And I just can’t believe that there’s a 
    

    
      supreme being in the universe, a god, that would let you go through all this, and let you 
    

    
      work this hard to try and find the answers to help your child, and along the way do the 
    

    
      work that I’ve done to help other kids--I just
       don’t believe that this could be allowed 
    

    
      without finally being given a resolution of some kind. I already have the knowledge of 
    

    
      what happened to him. The resolution is what’s beyond my grasp right now. 
    

    
      TRACY: Do you believe he’s safe now? 
    

    
      NOREEN:
       All I know is that he’s hiding, and that
      ’s what he has to do to remain safe 
    

    
      right now. So I know he’s probably not living the kind of life that I would want for him, 
    

    
      you know, like in a nice home, with education, and maybe a nice wife with kids. Because 
    

    
      he’s almost 30 [now 38]. He’s probably living hand-to-mouth, with very little money, just 
    

    
      trying to get by. Nobody wants that for their kids. It kind of hurts me to know that I’ve 
    

    
      got one son out there that has the bare minimum of what most people would consider 
    

    
      adequate living. Now that I know
       that he’s away from them
      , I know that he’s not being 
    

    
      mistreated anymore, so that’s a comfort. But he can’t come home for dinner. He can’t 
    

    
      come home for Christmas. He’s too afraid to
       even come near the family. He’s afraid 
    

    
      they’ll grab him. What all the victims have told
       me is that after they
       kidnap the kid, after 
    

    
      they’ve given them the initial drugs, and their first sexual abuse contact, they take them 
    

    
      out and they force them to commit a felony. And therefore they have leverage. They tell 
    

    
      the kids, “You try to get away, and we’ll turn you in. If you try to get away, you can 
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      never go to a police person to help you, because you’ve committed a felony. You’re 
    

    
      wanted.” And you tell a twelve-year-old kid that, they’re going to believe you. If that’s 
    

    
      all you’ve been told, from the time you were ripped away from your parents, you would 
    

    
      live in that fear. You would not
       go to a policeman for help.  
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      The Franklin Cover-Up: An Interview with John DeCamp 
    

    
      John DeCamp is the author of The Franklin Cover-Up, and a former Nebraska State 
    

    
      Senator. He has been a good friend to Noreen Gosch and a colleague to Ted Gunderson. 
    

    
      This interview took place over the phone on October 3, 2001. 
    

    
      TRACY:
       Would you first tell me br
      iefly how you came to investigate “the Franklin 
    

    
      Cover-Up”? 
    

    
      JOHN:
       Purely accident. I was hearing some of th
      e stories on the street
       from some of the 
    

    
      senators, and I was one of the first ones to
       stand up and say, “This 
      is absolute nonsense, 
    

    
      and this couldn’t be, and if I really believed any of this, I’d be the first to do something 
    

    
      about it.” So I got a call then from a kid who was in jail named Paul Bonacci, who asked 
    

    
      me to at least come see him and talk to him. I went to see him, talked to him, talked to a 
    

    
      psychiatrist sent by the state to examine him, ’cause they thought he was acting strange. 
    

    
      He was a multiple personality. I became convinced that I should look further, and kept 
    

    
      looking, and once I got involved, I just kept
       getting deeper and deeper. I ended up 
    

    
      representing a number of the children involved. So I started out on the opposite side 
    

    
      completely.  
    

    
      TRACY:
       Did you come to the conclusion that wh
      at was happening to these kids in 
    

    
      Nebraska, where they were getting kidnapped and being used as prostitutes, was an 
    

    
      outgrowth of Project MONARCH? 
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      JOHN:
       I came to the conclusion that for sure some of the children who were truly 
    

    
      involved in this--and for every real one, there’s somebody who makes up their own story 
    

    
      or something--but anyway, for every kid legitimately involved, there always seemed to be 
    

    
      a linkage or a relationship to some sexual improprieties, and compromise, that being a 
    

    
      key ingredient of MONARCH. Of course, [former CIA Director William] Colby, who 
    

    
      was kind of my best friend and mentor, assured me that there was no such thing as 
    

    
      MONARCH officially; that’s the name the kids knew the program by, but that was not 
    

    
      the official name, and you won’t find anything in the official record by that name.  
    

    
      What he did say, however, was, after the Korean War, the American CIA and the 
    

    
      American government, in fact, were very terrified. We [the CIA] believed that the ability 
    

    
      of other countries, particularly China, Russia,
       North Korea, at “brainwashing,” as it was 
    

    
      known at the time, and mind control was developed to such a degree, that, he said, “I 
    

    
      know this sounds silly, and you’ll laugh when I tell you, but we at the Company 
    

    
      (meaning the CIA) actually believed that the Russians had developed techniques so that 
    

    
      they could put someone in the same room with, let’s say, the President of the United 
    

    
      States, and through E.S.P. actually know what he’s thinking. And you can imagine how 
    

    
      dangerous that was, and we decided we couldn’t afford to be behind. For the very 
    

    
      salvation of the country we had to catch up. And so millions and billions were poured 
    

    
      into these programs,” and he said, “I’m sure
       there were some horrible abuses, but that 
    

    
      wasn’t the intent.” The intent was to “save the country.” And then
       he said one other 
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      thing. He made particular mention of one fact. He said, “I’ll tell you one thing, John. 
    

    
      When all is said and done, we were never behind, and we aren’t today.” 
    

    
      TRACY:
       What role do you think Satanism 
      played in “the Franklin Cover-Up”
       and 
    

    
      Project MONARCH? Some people seem to be of
       the opinion that it was just used as a 
    

    
      mind-control technique to traumatize the children. 
    

    
      JOHN:
       I think that’s probably a fair stat
      ement. I don’t know. I don’t claim to know 
    

    
      enough about any of this. I don’t now if there’s a Satan, but I know that there are cults 
    

    
      that claim to be Satanists, and they do some pretty bizarre things. I’m always one of those 
    

    
      who’s the opposite of the conspiracy theorists. I look for practical explanations for 
    

    
      virtually everything. 
    

    
      TRACY:
       So you don’t think that all these people we
      re part of a particular group or cabal 
    

    
      of occultists? 
    

    
      JOHN:
       Not particularly. I find that difficult to 
      believe, but I’ll admit that I don’t know. 
    

    
      All I know is that there are some horrible things that are happening to some young 
    

    
      people. It did happen, and I’m sure it’s still going on: the combination of mind control, 
    

    
      using techniques from some of the “Satanism-type activities,” or whatever. One of the 
    

    
      key things involved creating multiple personalities. As I understand it, you can create a 
    

    
      personality that’s literally like a robot, that does what you want, or can be programmed 
    

    
      for particular activities, and I am quite certain from talking to enough people, and seeing 
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      enough information that such techniques exist.
       What banner they run under, whether it be 
    

    
      Satanism in some occasions, or mind control, or military intelligence, or National 
    

    
      Security, or whatever, I think it boils down to the same thing. The most malleable mind 
    

    
      of all is that of a young person, particularly someone about 11-15 years old. You get the 
    

    
      right material, or tool, or equipment, and you apply the right techniques, which seem to 
    

    
      almost inevitably involve things that we would normally consider sexual aberrations, and 
    

    
      then you throw in some other techniques learned over the ages, and particularly the 
    

    
      practice of skills by some of the better psychiatrists, or psychologists, or whatever, 
    

    
      involving some drug use, and pretty soon you have a mixture of a product that you can 
    

    
      breed horrible creatures with--people who will do what you want and accomplish certain 
    

    
      goals.  
    

    
      TRACY:
       Do you think that this is what happens 
      to most of the children that go missing? 
    

    
      That they’re inducted into
       these pornography rings. 
    

    
      JOHN:
       I don’t know. Certainly some are. Whet
      her that’s what happens to most or 
    

    
      whatever I don’t know. 
    

    
      TRACY:
       Don’t you think it’s strange that so
       many public officials and wealthy 
    

    
      businessmen are involved in this type of activity, like child prostitution, and particularly 
    

    
      that they seem to be interested in homosexual activity with male children? That just 
    

    
      seems so out of proportion to
       the rest of society.  
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      JOHN:
       I think it’s a fair statement what you just
       said. There seems to be an inordinate 
    

    
      percentage of individuals that adhere to a little different sexual code who are involved in 
    

    
      these particular practices. Whether they got into them, and then got compromised into 
    

    
      staying in them, I don’t know. But when you just start looking you certainly start seeing a 
    

    
      disproportionate percentage. But then, you’re talking about some pretty strange practices 
    

    
      too. 
    

    
      TRACY:
       Yeah, I just was wondering why people in positions of power seem to be 
    

    
      predisposed to this. 
    

    
      JOHN:
       I don’t really know. 
      I just know that if you were doing a study, that’s one of the 
    

    
      things that you would first take note of. There seems to be an inordinate percentage of 
    

    
      that particular cast of characters, when you’d think normally that it should be quite the 
    

    
      opposite. It should be the dregs of
       society that you’d find involv
      ed in this, and instead, so 
    

    
      typically the most shocking surprise is when you discover that the personalities involved 
    

    
      are often the best and brightest and most respected, and most trusted.  
    

    
      TRACY:
       So in your position now I imagine you stil
      l deal with a lot of people who are in 
    

    
      politics or who are wealthy businessmen. Does this make you wary of them. 
    

    
      JOHN:
       Oh, not more than anybody else, no. 
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      TRACY:
       Do you think that some of the money fo
      r these activities was used for secret 
    

    
      government operations, or Contra Aid, things of that nature? 
    

    
      JOHN:
       I believe that it’s fa
      irly well known. I don’t think there’s any contest among 
    

    
      those that know that the CIA, and to a degree the FBI, determined for a significant period 
    

    
      of time that they were vested with the responsibility to save the country, and that the 
    

    
      politicians were kind of incompetent, and they needed a funding source where they 
    

    
      wouldn’t have to be accountable. That was the key thing. They needed a funding source 
    

    
      where they didn’t have to be accountable to
       Congress in explaini
      ng what they were 
    

    
      doing, and that resulted in things such as arms dealing and drug dealing, whether being 
    

    
      on the fringes of it, or making sure that it could occur, and then getting a pay-off. I have 
    

    
      no doubt in my mind today, painful as it is for me
       to say it, that the CIA engaged in this 
    

    
      conduct.  
    

    
      But the problem started when they decided that
       they had to save the country because the 
    

    
      politicians were too dumb, and they couldn’t get the necessary funds to do what they 
    

    
      thought they had to do. Of course, any time you go off on that track, then you have the 
    

    
      abuses crop in, and what was a noble goal turns into a whole bunch of
       stealing and theft, 
    

    
      and that sort of thing. And that’s what I believe occurred. It
       was the old “end justifies the 
    

    
      means” thing that got out of control, the end being that “we have to protect the country 
    

    
      from the bad people, and we’re the secret agency vested with the responsibility, but we 
    

    
      don’t have enough funds, because politicians aren’t smart enough to know that we have 
    

    
      to do these things, and so we have to have a funding source where we don’t have to 
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      explain anything.” Well, what’s the funding source? The most quick, easy, available 
    

    
      funding source to get that kind of money without having to explain anything is drugs.  
    

    
      TRACY:
       And prostitution. 
    

    
      JOHN:
       Oh yes.  
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      The Finders: An Interview with Ted Gunderson 
    

    
      Ted Gunderson is the author of How to Locate Anyone Anywhere Without Leaving Home. 
    

    
      He is a former FBI Special Agent, radio talk show host, and expert on Satanic 
    

    
      conspiracies. This interview took place on August 25, 2001.
    

    
      TRACY: I know you worked for the FBI. How did you first get introduced to the subject 
    

    
      of Project MONARCH? 
    

    
      TED: Right after I retired, I opened a private investigative firm
       in Westwood, Los 
    

    
      Angeles, California, which is by the UCLA campus, and my first major investigation was 
    

    
      the Geoffrey MacDonald case. He’s a former Green Beret doctor who was convicted of 
    

    
      murdering his wife and two children at Fort Bragg. The murders occurred on February 
    

    
      17th, 1970. Anyway, I got involved in that investigation, and I had 19 witnesses. It’s 
    

    
      probably the most highly publicized legal trial case in the history of the United States 
    

    
      other than maybe O.J. Simpson’s. Within 10 months, as a matter of fact, on October 25, 
    

    
      1990, I obtained a signed confession from the girl who said that it was her Satanic cult 
    

    
      group that was involved in the murders. He did not commit the crime.  
    

    
      Now once you get involved in such a case, the first thing you’re going to do is look at the 
    

    
      evidence, look at the testimony, see where evidence was lost, stolen, destroyed, and 
    

    
      altered by the government. The Satanic cult group that was involved in the murders was 
    

    
      also involved in a large-scale drug operation, bringing drugs in military planes, including 
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      C.I.A., from Southeast Asia into the various
       bases in this country during the Vietnam 
    

    
      War. And the cult that wiped out the family went in without the permission of the higher-
    

    
      ups in their operation, which included police officers, two attorneys in Fayetteville, North 
    

    
      Carolina, and high-level military personnel. The cult did not obtain permission from them 
    

    
      to do that. They went in randomly and did this. And the higher-ups in the military were 
    

    
      afraid that if there was an investigation of the cult it would expose the whole drug 
    

    
      operation. By the way, there’s documentation in Time Magazine, January 1, 1973 about 
    

    
      the drug operation. Anyway, the girl gave me the confession. By the way, she died 
    

    
      January 1983 under mysterious circumstances. 
    

    
      TRACY: How’d she die? 
    

    
      TED: She was in her apartment, and she died of slight pneumonia, weak lungs, and 
    

    
      cirrhosis of the liver. She had called us about two weeks earlier and said that she was 
    

    
      under surveillance by two guys in suits in the neighborhood. She was nude from the waist 
    

    
      down, and the kitchen faucet was running. That’s a Satanic sign, by the way. 
    

    
      TRACY: Why’s that? What does it mean? 
    

    
      TED: The signs that they are involved with are Earth, Wind, Fire, Water, and then a 
    

    
      combination of all of those. Those are just
       part of their ritual, you know. Anyway, her 
    

    
      six-month-old child was on the floor, dehydrated, but alive, and did survive. I don’t know 
    

    
      what happened to the kid, but she died that way. So anyway, I went public with the 
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      information, and I was on a number of major TV talk shows. I was on CNN debating 
    

    
      Freddy Casaba. I was on a number of other shows, like Geraldo, and also on radio talk 
    

    
      shows. I came forward with this information that Dr. MacDonald did not commit these 
    

    
      murders. They were committed by a Satanic cult group. So as a result of that, people just 
    

    
      virtually came out of the woodwork from all over the country. People who didn’t know 
    

    
      each other from the East Coast, West Coast,
       South, North, and so forth, and told me 
    

    
      about the Satanic cult groups in
       this country. A lot of them were victims themselves--
    

    
      adult survivors, we call them. So that was my introduction into what was going on, and 
    

    
      I’m saying to myself, “If somebody from New Hampshire is furnishing me with the same 
    

    
      information as somebody from California,
       and they don’t know each other, I mean, 
    

    
      there’s got to be something to this.  
    

    
      So then from there, I was involved in other cases, including a case from Nebraska. It’s 
    

    
      called The Franklin Cover-Up. That case involved military training at Offutt Air Force 
    

    
      Base. I ended up talking to some of the kids
       who were victims themselves, talking about 
    

    
      the MK-ULTRA mind control program. They received their training at the base. They 
    

    
      opened up to me. They told me all about their training. I have documentation of it. It’s in 
    

    
      a book called The Franklin Cover-Up
       by John DeCamp, a former State Senator in 
    

    
      Nebraska. So anyway, in that case, it not
       only involves MK-ULTRA,
       but it involves a 
    

    
      large-scale kidnapping ring. One of the kids that’s been talking to us and giving us a lot 
    

    
      of information is Paul Bonacci. One of the victims was a twelve-year-old newspaper boy 
    

    
      named Johnny Gosch, who was kidnapped on his paper route in Des Moines, Iowa. It 
    

    
      involves some of the leading people, and businessmen, and so forth, in Omaha, 
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      Nebraska., such as the publisher of the Omaha World-Herald. His name is Harold 
    

    
      Anderson. It involves the Society Editor of the Omaha World-Herald. They were 
    

    
      identified by the kids. It involves a fellow name Eugene Mahoney who was the head of 
    

    
      the Forestry Service, who was on the Vice Squad of the Omaha Police Department. And 
    

    
      these kids identified these people as involved in not only their training at Offutt Air Force 
    

    
      Base, but also in the Satanic movement. This large-scale kidnapping ring was kidnapping 
    

    
      kids all over the country. They were being held
       in safe houses after 
      they were kidnapped. 
    

    
      Some of them were auctioned off in Toronto, Canada, some of them were auctioned off 
    

    
      here in Las Vega, Nevada. I’ve talked to, and have in my hip pocket, Rusty Nelson, who 
    

    
      was the lead photographer for the group. He’s been
       identified as involved, of course, and 
    

    
      he has thousands of photographs of sexual exploitation and sexual involvement by some 
    

    
      of America’s leading politicians. 
    

    
      TRACY: Like who? 
    

    
      TED: George Bush, Sr.  
    

    
      TRACY: So you’ve seen these pictures of George Bush sexually abusing children? 
    

    
      TED: Yeah. Well, he’s got them involved in sexual exploitation. I haven’t seen the 
    

    
      pictures yet because they’re in a cave in Colorado. Rusty Nelson’s in Oregon, and if we 
    

    
      ever get enough money, we’ll go over there and pull these pictures out.  
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      TRACY: Do you know where this stuff is located? 
    

    
      TED: No, Rusty is the only one that knows. It’s at about 12,000 feet. So the only time 
    

    
      you can go in there is the spring or the summer. You can’t go in there in the winter. But 
    

    
      anyway, he’s got the pictures. We are talking about a large-scale pedophile ring, and a 
    

    
      large-scale kidnapping ring. The ring, by the way, is known as “The Finders.” It’s a CIA 
    

    
      covert operation running out of Washington, D.C. I have a copy of a U.S. Treasury report 
    

    
      on an investigation of the Finders that was quashed and closed down. The FBI refused to 
    

    
      investigate it.  
    

    
      TRACY: Why are they called “The Finders”? 
    

    
      TED:
       Because that’s just a c
      over name for finding children, and actually what they’re 
    

    
      doing is picking them up and kidnapping them. It’s part of the Satanic cult movement in 
    

    
      this country today. The Satanic cult movement
       dovetails with U.S. intelligence to some 
    

    
      degree. It’s like any other organization: there’s good and bad in every organization of 
    

    
      people. They, in addition to being involved in this kidnapping ring, were taking kids out 
    

    
      of Boy’s Town, and out of foster homes and orphanages, and flying them out of Sioux 
    

    
      City, Iowa to Washington, D.C. for sex orgy parties with congressmen and senators. 
    

    
      Massachusetts Senator Barney Frank has been
       identified by the kids, and George Bush 
    

    
      Senior has been at the parties while he was Vice-President. He became more discreet as 
    

    
      time went on, I guess. That’s my introduction to it--a combination of those two cases, and 
    

    
      going public with the information, and these people just coming from everywhere. 
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      TRACY: You’re saying that there are large elements of the CIA, and the government in 
    

    
      general that are part of a Satanic cult. Is it just a number of Satanic cults, or is there one 
    

    
      large organization? 
    

    
      TED: No, that’s hard to define and clarify. First of all, you have to go back. When I 
    

    
      learned about this, I started saying to myself, “Well, why, how, when, what, and where?” 
    

    
      So as a result of my research I learned about an organization called the Illuminati. And 
    

    
      I’ve got all sorts of information about the Illuminati. The Illuminati was an organization 
    

    
      founded in 1776 in Germany, and its purpose was to take over the world. A fellow named 
    

    
      Adam Weishaupt set forth 24 goals at the request of the Rothschild family out of 
    

    
      England. And the goals were to control the mainstream media, to corrupt the youth 
    

    
      through sex and drugs, to put their own people as
       agents behind the scenes, to put them in 
    

    
      as leaders, etc. Anyway, that’s what it’s all about. And their activities dovetail with the 
    

    
      Satanic movement, into the U.S. intelligence
       community, the CIA in
       particular. I think 
    

    
      that the deterioration of the FBI over the last 25 years or so is the reason. I think it’s the 
    

    
      Illuminati. I think the FBI’s been used as
       a political pawn. When I got on in 1979 we 
    

    
      were not involved in politics whatsoever. We
       used to tell the Attorney General to go 
    

    
      jump in a lake when he would call up and tell us to do something ridiculous.  
    

    
      TRACY: So, did you not know about any of this when you were working for the FBI? 
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      TED: Not a thing. It was only after I got out and started operating on my own that I 
    

    
      learned what was going on.  
    

    
      TRACY: Did you then reflect on some of your experiences in the FBI and realize that 
    

    
      there might have been some connections? 
    

    
      TED:
       No, I didn’t, because when I was in the FB
      I, I never ran across this. I think that’s 
    

    
      what’s happened since then. In my day the FBI was a straight organization. We didn’t 
    

    
      have any problems like they’re having now. We
       didn’t have any Waco
      s. We didn’t have 
    

    
      any Oklahoma Cities--which is a cover-up, by the way. McVeigh was a political pawn, 
    

    
      just like Lee Harvey Oswald. We didn’t have any Ruby Ridges. We did have the 
    

    
      Kennedy Assassination. I did learn, since I got out, by the way, that that was a joint CIA-
    

    
      Chicago mob hit. Of course, I have all kinds
       of information about the CIA involved in 
    

    
      drugs. I mean, you know, Iran-Contra is an example of it. All this information just kind of 
    

    
      melds in and dovetails, and one element is scratching the back of the other element.  
    

    
      TRACY: So would you say that the CIA has been under the control of the Satanic 
    

    
      Illuminati since the very beginning? 
    

    
      TED: No, not from the beginning. Like with the FBI, I think it’s happened in the last 25 
    

    
      years. I think they’ve been infiltrated by this Illuminati movement, and again that 
    

    
      dovetails with the Satanic movement, and you’re talking about human sacrifices. I’ll give 
    

    
      you an example. Here about a month ago [September 2001], in a two-day period we had 
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      about 14 children disappear here in Las Vegas. It was on the news, then it was on one 
    

    
      time on ABC, and then nobody ever heard any more
       about it. So when I heard about it, I 
    

    
      called the Metro police here. First of all, I called my informant, who was the official 
    

    
      photographer in Nebraska for the group back there. By the way, he’s been arrested, and 
    

    
      he’s on bail, and he’s on probation right now for pornography. I called him, and he told 
    

    
      me about the landing strip that’s out in Las Vegas where they were flying these kids out 
    

    
      of. So I called the Metro police here in Las Vegas, and I told them: “Look, I have 
    

    
      information that they were flying kids out of
       here, 10 or 12 years ago, at least, but it’s 
    

    
      certainly worth looking into today, and if
       you want to send somebody over to the house, 
    

    
      I’ll be happy to sit down with them and give you all the information on it. It’s a landing 
    

    
      strip in between here and Pahrump, Nevada. Pahrump is about 50-60 miles away, out in 
    

    
      the country some place.  
    

    
      TRACY: Yeah, Art Bell is out of Pahrump. 
    

    
      TED: By the way, he sued me. Oh yeah, I’m the guy. Remember when he went off the 
    

    
      air? He blamed me for all of that. But it was a BS lawsuit. He claimed that I made 
    

    
      statements about him being a child molester, and I never did. But anyway, that’s another 
    

    
      story. Anyway, I called Metro, and said I have this information, and well, I haven’t heard 
    

    
      from them yet. Doesn’t it kind of make you wonder about what’s going on? Why 
    

    
      wouldn’t they look into that right away, when you’ve got missing kids, you know? 
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      TRACY: I don’t know, but it seems like they don’t take the whole missing kid thing 
    

    
      seriously in the first place. 
    

    
      TED: That’s because too many people are involved. Reader’s Digest
       in July, 1982 had 
    

    
      an article about 100,000 children who disappear
       every year and are never heard from 
    

    
      again. Well, I mean, that’s serious. And we’re not talking about runaway teenagers. 
    

    
      We’re talking about 2-to-7-year-old kids. And they’ve covered it up. 
    

    
      TRACY: So you think most kids that are kidnapped are being taken by the Satanists? 
    

    
      TED: Oh, there’s absolutely an international child-kidnapping ring. These kids are 
    

    
      auctioned off on the auction block for $50,000 each. Anywhere from actually $15,000-
    

    
      $50,000, according to Rusty Nelson. 
    

    
      TRACY: And where’s all this money going? What’s it being used for? 
    

    
      TED: It’s going into the pockets of these individuals, you know, the Illuminati members, 
    

    
      and others.  
    

    
      TRACY: Are all these kids, you think, being mind-controlled as well? 
    

    
      TED: Yeah, that’s part of the program. In Des Moines, Iowa we got the Johnny Gosch 
    

    
      case, the newspaper boy. His mother, Noreen has been involved in this research. John 
    

    
      138
    

  
    
      DeCamp has been involved in this research. We’re talking about reputable people. I’m a 
    

    
      reputable individual. Nobody listens to us, but we’re out there shouting from the rooftops. 
    

    
      TRACY: Did you talk about Project MONARCH and the government and stuff when 
    

    
      you went on the Geraldo
       show?  
    

    
      TED: No, I talked about Satanic cults. I was on four of his shows, and I was on a show 
    

    
      with Michael Aquino. He’s been accused. In fact, Johnny Gosch told his mother that 
    

    
      Aquino was one of the kidnappers, that Michael Aquino was the one that bought him.  
    

    
      TRACY: And Noreen Gosch also says that there’s someone named Michael LaVey who 
    

    
      told her this, Anton’s son. But Anton LaVey doesn’t have a son by that name, officially. 
    

    
      TED: Anton LaVey does have a son. He’s been castrated. 
    

    
      TRACY: Excuse me? 
    

    
      TED: Yeah. Anton LaVey has a son called Anton LaVey, Jr. And you know he died a 
    

    
      couple of years ago. I got the documentation. I’ve got 216,000 pages of documentation 
    

    
      on MK-ULTRA. I receive probably four or five phone calls a week from these people, 
    

    
      because they’re all looking for help. I mean, they’re desperate people. 
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      TRACY: Now, do you believe all these people, or do you think there are some people 
    

    
      that are just trying to get attention? 
    

    
      TED: Half and half. Some I believe, some I don’t, some I think are plants. I’ve had a 
    

    
      number of people planted on me. 
    

    
      TRACY: So there is a lot of harassment. 
    

    
      TED: Harassment? Oh my God, are you kidding me? It’s unbelievable. I go to get in my 
    

    
      car, and the direction signal’s turned on in the morning. They used to run surveillance on 
    

    
      me until I started chasing them out of the neighborhood. I’d put my gun on them and go 
    

    
      after them. That happened twice, and I got them cornered one time, and I reached under 
    

    
      the seat for my gun, and there was too much traffic. Maybe I would’ve shot them, maybe 
    

    
      I wouldn’t. Who knows. But anyway, they realized “This guy’s crazy. We’d better stay 
    

    
      away from him.” So now what they do is these little tactics like come into my hotel room 
    

    
      when I travel and leave little signs. And I’ve been burglarized here in my house. They 
    

    
      took some of my research. “They” are probably joint CIA-covert operations. These 
    

    
      people are highly-trained and professional burglars and assassins, or killers. I knew the 
    

    
      head of George Bush, Sr.’s assassination squad. He had 3000 men around the world he 
    

    
      could call on to do their dirty deeds. 
    

    
      TRACY: The President had an assassination squad? 
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      TED: Oh yeah, they all do. The current Bush President [George W. Bush] probably has 
    

    
      one, I’m sure. Clinton had one too. They operate out of the White House. It’s the 
    

    
      National Security Council. The NSC doesn’t answer to anybody but
       the President.  
    

    
      TRACY: With President Clinton and all of the women that he was involved with, do you 
    

    
      think a lot of those were mind-controlled sex slaves? 
    

    
      TED: Not only Clinton, but I think past Presidents. Brice Taylor says
       that she’s had sex 
    

    
      with every one of them except Jimmy Carter since she was 15 or 16 years old.  
    

    
      TRACY: Aren’t there a lot of people in the entertainment industry involved as well? 
    

    
      TED:
       There are some. I don’t know if there are 
      a lot. But I worked the McMartin case. 
    

    
      I’m the guy that went in there in 1990 in the spring and hired an archaeologist, and we 
    

    
      found the tunnels under the school. The kids said there were tunnels under the school. 
    

    
      TRACY: What exactly did they look like? 
    

    
      TED: Well, they were tunnels that had been filled in. We were there for 34 days with the 
    

    
      whole team of archaeologists. 
    

    
      TRACY: Was this covered by the news at all at the time?  
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      TED: Yeah, but the mainstream media wasn’t going to touch it. Nobody would do 
    

    
      anything with it. The Los Angeles Times
       had one article on it. 
    

    
      TRACY: Did you find carcasses or skeletons of animals? 
    

    
      TED: We found 2000 animal bones. We did not find any human bones. We had 
    

    
      everything analyzed. It cost thousands of dollars. I spent personally $17,000 out of my 
    

    
      pocket on that project, and then some of the companies that worked with us donated their 
    

    
      time, and we had monetary donations from others. Anyway, I’m the guy that went in 
    

    
      there and found the tunnels, so I’m not too popular with my adversaries. And yes, those 
    

    
      kids identified some actors. One was Chuck Norris, whom they said was involved. 
    

    
      TRACY: So, do you think that’s likely to be true, or do you think that’s just something 
    

    
      that they told the kids? 
    

    
      TED: 
       Oh, I don’t think there’s any 
      question that the kids were
       telling the truth. Because 
    

    
      they [officials?] said that they were hallucinating, but the kids talked about tunnels under 
    

    
      the school, they talked about being flown up into the mountains. Well, I know the 
    

    
      abandoned Satanic site in Crestmount, I’ve got pictures of it. And I went up there and 
    

    
      took pictures, and when the case broke I called Dale Reuben, the prosecutor, and I said, 
    

    
      “I think I know where the kids were taken.”
       She wasn’t interested. Nobody wanted to 
    

    
      look at it. And the kids said there were tunnels under the school. There were
       tunnels 
    

    
      under the school--they’d been filled in, and I have a 186-page report by the 
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      archaeologists that documents it. This wasn’t me going out and digging. I’m just an 
    

    
      investigator. This was an archaeologist. This
       was a doctor from UCLA. We kicked their 
    

    
      asses. 
    

    
      TRACY: So, do you think the prosecution in that case was being controlled? 
    

    
      TED: Yes, I do.  
    

    
      TRACY: And so this whole operation in the McMartin school was part of Project 
    

    
      MONARCH? 
    

    
      TED: Yes, there’s no question in my mind. I’ve been trying to do something about this 
    

    
      for years, ever since I ran into
       it and discovered it. I even ha
      d my own radio talk show for 
    

    
      two years. 
    

    
      TRACY: Oh, was that a national talk show? 
    

    
      TED: Yeah, it was all over the world, actually. It was short wave out of Nashville, 
    

    
      WWCR, Worldwide Christian Radio. I’ve done probably a thousand radio shows myself. 
    

    
      As you can tell I can talk right off the top of
       my head, and I have the documentation to 
    

    
      back it up. “They”--meaning this evil element within our government--they’re very 
    

    
      concerned about me, because I’ve got the documentation. I have it hidden in four 
    

    
      different locations. I went on a ten-day trip a year ago last June, and, Hell, they came in 
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      here and stole a bunch of my boxes--somebody did. They didn’t take any jewelry or 
    

    
      anything like that, they just took my research. They’re so concerned about the research I 
    

    
      have that they don’t know what to do about me. You know, and I don’t back down to 
    

    
      them, either. 
    

    
      TRACY: So you don’t know specifically who it was that broke in? 
    

    
      TED: They didn’t break in. They have keys
       for everything. They’re professional 
    

    
      burglars, professional killers,
       they’re assassins; they’re 
      almost every evil word you can 
    

    
      think of. That’s what we’re dealing with. And like I said, this involves our US 
    

    
      intelligence community, the CIA in particular, and then later on the FBI, whereas in the 
    

    
      past it didn’t. There’s no question about it. What they do is, the CIA recruits out of 
    

    
      Special Forces. McVeigh came right out of Special
       Forces class. They recruit them out of 
    

    
      there, and then they train them to be assassins and killers, and to run their drug 
    

    
      operations. Now McVeigh wrote a letter to his sister, I don’t know if you remember this 
    

    
      or not. He said this in his letter. This is public information. So I’m not talking off the top 
    

    
      of my head. 
    

    
      TRACY: Do you think that most of the cases you hear of Satanic Ritual Abuse are all 
    

    
      parts of this government operation? 
    

    
      TED: Oh, I don’t think there’s any question that it’s an organized ring, if  
    

    
      that’s what you’re looking for. There is a conspiracy here. There’s no question about that. 
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      TRACY: And what’s the overall goal? 
    

    
      TED:
       The overall goal is to
       take over the world. 
    

    
      TRACY: They just essentially want everyone
       to be mind-controlled slaves? 
    

    
      TED: They want to take over the world. They want
       a two-class society:
       the very rich, and 
    

    
      then the slobs, like us, you now, the servants? It’s well-planned, and it’s well-organized, 
    

    
      and if you look at the 25 goals that were set forth in 1776, 230-some years ago, you’ll see 
    

    
      that most of those, are about 85% complete
       today. Like corruption of the youth through 
    

    
      sex and drugs. I mean, look at what’s going on with our youth today. Control of the 
    

    
      mainstream media. Do you think the mainstream media is going to have the guts to print 
    

    
      what I’m telling you now? Hell, no. And I’ve got the documentation. I’ve got cabinets 
    

    
      full of material, to prove that I’m right. Hell, no, they won’t, because they’ve got the 
    

    
      Brokaws, and the Rathers. You know, you’ve
       got those people. They’re all being 
    

    
      controlled. They wouldn’t dare talk about this because they’d
       lose their jobs. Nor would 
    

    
      the Los Angeles Times, or the New York Times. They won’t touch any of this stuff. 
    

    
      Maybe Hustler Magazine
       has the guts to print this, I 
      don’t know. Let me tell you a little 
    

    
      hook, here. It’s really interesting. One of the… Who’s the owner of Hustler? 
    

    
      TRACY: Larry Flynt. 
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      TED: Yeah, Larry Flynt’s former body guard was at the time a contract killer, and 
    

    
      attempted to take my life in 1987. His name was Bill Menser. 
    

    
      TRACY: What were the circumstances? 
    

    
      TED: Well, there was a fellow named Mike Riconosciuto  from the CIA, who was 
    

    
      talking, exposing these people. You see, when
       people come forward from the inside who 
    

    
      can give direct knowledge of what’s going on, they either end up dead or in prison. Well, 
    

    
      Mike Riconosciuto started talking. He’s in
       prison now for 30 years. But Mike and I 
    

    
      worked together back in the early 80s, and we
       put five people in ja
      il who were contract 
    

    
      killers. One of them was Bill Menser. Menser was one of Flynt’s bodyguards. A guy 
    

    
      named Lamatta was another. And they were
       convicted of murdering a guy named Roy 
    

    
      Raiton from Long Island, New York, along with
       Lani Jacobs. Jacobs, of course, was 
    

    
      female, not working for Larry Flynt. Anyway, one of the people we put in jail was 
    

    
      arranging for contract killings, and his name was Dr. John P. Nichols, out of Indio, 
    

    
      California. And when he got out, he called Menser, and told Menser to do his job on me. 
    

    
      I was able to avoid Menser, and Mike and I put
       Menser in jail. We went to the D.A. and 
    

    
      told him all about his involvement in the Roy Raiton murder and everything. So anyway, 
    

    
      Larry Flynt will know all about Menser, he’ll know all about Lamatta, and a guy named 
    

    
      Lowell was the one who drove the car that night when they killed
       Roy Raiton. And that 
    

    
      puts a little twist on this. Larry
       Flynt had people right in his 
      midst who were involved in 
    

    
      this. And Bill Menser was known as “Charles
       Manson II” in Hollywood. He’s a killer. 
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      TRACY: What do you think about JonBenet Ramsey? 
    

    
      TED:
       I have no documentation on that, but th
      e scenario fits a Satanic cult ceremony. 
    

    
      TRACY: In that she was killed on Christmas night? 
    

    
      TED: Yeah, that’s a big Satanic holiday. 
    

    
      TRACY: And Chandra Levy, too, disappeared on Walpurgis Night. 
    

    
      TED: 
       She disappeared on May 1st,
       a big Communist holiday. 
    

    
      [Editor’s Note: She disappeared between April 30, Walpurgis Night, and May 1st, which 
    

    
      is May Day. They are primarily pagan holidays, although May Day is a traditional 
    

    
      protest day for Socialists.] 
    

    
      TRACY: Would you speculate that Condit, then, is a controller as well? 
    

    
      TED: I have no idea, but from what I’ve read and seen, I wouldn’t be surprised. But it 
    

    
      definitely appears that he was involved in kinky sex, which of course, I guess, there’s 
    

    
      millions of people who are involved in that in this country and around the world. 
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      TRACY: You heard that he specifically referred to his women as “sex slaves.” [Source: 
    

    
      The Globe.] 
    

    
      TED: Well, there you go. That’s what they are, they’re sex slaves. 
    

    
      TRACY: How do they go about programming these people? 
    

    
      TED: 
       It’s a combination of torture, hypnosis, 
      drugs. And what happens is, they torture 
    

    
      them so much, that their personality splits in
       order to endure the pain and misery. When 
    

    
      their personality splits, they became another person, and it’s through this technique that 
    

    
      they train them. Then in training they make it so that they can give them a trigger word, 
    

    
      say “green,” or “red,” or pick up the phone and call them. And they have an assignment 
    

    
      to go out and do something--like, say, go out and do a hit, or something like that. That’s 
    

    
      kind of a layman’s definition of it, but that’s the way it works. 
    

    
      TRACY: Have you spoken to anyone who was a controller or programmer? 
    

    
      TED: Oh yeah, sure. 
    

    
      TRACY: And so they told you this as well? 
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      TED: Oh yeah, I’ve got it from all kinds--I’ve got it 15 ways from Sunday. These people 
    

    
      all talk like they’re crazy, but there’s so many of them, and they don’t know each other, 
    

    
      and their stories are the same, so there’s got to be something to it. 
    

    
      TRACY: I’ve noticed that a lot of the women are really weird. Like Cathy O’Brien. She 
    

    
      sounds like she’s really smart, and she sounds
       like she knows a lot about the history of 
    

    
      mind control, and all sorts of things. But then
       she’ll use really inappropriate words in a 
    

    
      sentence, and it just seems like there’s a lot of common knowledge that she doesn’t have. 
    

    
      And a lot of these women are like this. So it does seem like they really have been isolated 
    

    
      from society, and just grew up in the whole Satanic cult world with
       no exposure to real 
    

    
      life. 
    

    
      TED: Well, half of them sound crazy, and the other half sound semi-crazy. But this is so 
    

    
      prevalent, and it’s from so many sources, that
       there’s absolutely no 
      question about it. By 
    

    
      the way, I’ve got the Congressional reports where Congress investigated back in 1977. 
    

    
      So, hey, Congress knows about it. 
    

    
      TRACY: They investigated MK-ULTRA, or
       Project MONARCH specifically? 
    

    
      TED: MK-ULTRA and Project MONARCH. Yeah, I’ve got all this information. The 
    

    
      reports are available. I’ve got all this information right back here in my little cabinet 
    

    
      drawer some place.  
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      TRACY: To what extent do you think people in
       the Federal government know about 
    

    
      this? 
    

    
      TED:
       I think they know, but they’re covering 
      it up. They don’t want to come forward 
    

    
      with it. A lot of people do. I personally went
       back to Washington in 1986-1987, talked to 
    

    
      some congressmen, senators, administrative assistants, and told them about this. Biden 
    

    
      was one, Dan Coats out of Indiana, former congressman and senator, was another. And 
    

    
      then I backed it up with documentation, with paper. So they know about it. I don’t know 
    

    
      why they won’t come forward with it. First of all, it’s unbelievable, and if you start 
    

    
      talking about it, people will think you’re crazy. But you know, hey, Congress 
    

    
      investigated it, but it was basically not reported by the mainstream media again.  
    

    
      TRACY: How many people do you think there are out there who are mind control 
    

    
      subjects? 
    

    
      TED:
       Well, O’Brien will tell you about 10 millio
      n, but I personally think it’s between 3 
    

    
      and 4 million. And it’s there. The grandmother in the McMartin case [Virginia 
    

    
      McMartin] told one of the mothers that she travels all over the world and sets up these 
    

    
      pre-schools. And Dr. Roland Sommit out of UCLA Hospital has made the statement that 
    

    
      there are 50 other pre-schools in the country where the kids talk about tunnels under the 
    

    
      school. 
    

    
      TRACY: Would you say it’s just dangerous to send your kid to pre-school? 
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      TED:
       It depends. You have to investigate it.
       Now, if the pre-school says: “OK, you 
    

    
      cannot come here between the hours of nine and four, even if you’re a parent,” then that’s 
    

    
      Number One. You don’t go there. You don’t put your kid in that school. Because, why 
    

    
      would they object to you coming in and checking on your kid, right? Then if the kid, let’s 
    

    
      say, had a little blood in the diapers, and so forth. We’re talking about
       two, three, four-
    

    
      year old kids with a little blood in the diaper. You certainly
       don’t want to send your kid 
    

    
      back to that. Or if the kid doesn’t want to
       go to school, listen to
       your child. I’ve got a 
    

    
      checklist here of signs of what to look for with your kids. This goes on and on, and I can 
    

    
      talk for hours on this.  
    

    
      TRACY: Have you heard of the supposed electrified cages full of babies at China Lake? 
    

    
      TED: No, I can’t say that I’ve heard about that. But I have heard, you know, rumors that 
    

    
      there are underground cities, and that some of these kids are being kept in those 
    

    
      underground cities. Now Paul Bonacci in Omaha, Nebraska has made the statement that 
    

    
      he was involved when he was 10-13 years old. He was used as a decoy in malls, and 
    

    
      parks, and so forth, to attract kids that age, and then the adults grab them and run off with 
    

    
      them. And Paul Bonacci received
       his training at Offutt Air Fo
      rce Base. That’s one of the 
    

    
      military bases. And I tell you, it’s kind of ironic, but Michael Aquino was at Fort Bragg 
    

    
      at the time of the Geoffrey MacDonald murders that I talked about when I first started 
    

    
      talking to you.  
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      TRACY: Have you talked to Michael Aquino? 
    

    
      TED: No, I don’t have anything to do with him. There’s a guy named Craig Lockwood 
    

    
      who has some phenomenal information about this. He can really fill you in. He wrote a 
    

    
      book called Other Alters. It’s all about the Satanic cult movement in this country, and it’s 
    

    
      about Michael Aquino. It’s an interesting story. He told me that this sold 15,000 copies in 
    

    
      just a couple of weeks. His publisher was really excited about it. Then all of the sudden 
    

    
      he was sued in Minneapolis where the publisher is, and they found out that Michael 
    

    
      Aquino went around and bought all of them out. Now you have to have a pretty good-
    

    
      sized network to do that. He bought all the books, and then sued the publisher, and also 
    

    
      Craig. But Craig won the lawsuit.  
    

    
      TRACY: So that means the judge believed that this had actually taken place. And in the 
    

    
      Presidio case [a sexual abuse case in which Aquino was accused], didn’t the Army have 
    

    
      to pay a substantial settlement to the parents of the kids? 
    

    
      TED: Yeah, I think they did. We had the thing in Westpoint, too, and there was a captain 
    

    
      there who resigned his commission because of
       that, mostly ‘cause it was a cover-up. 
    

    
      TRACY: I just remember something about a sexual harassment lawsuit. So that was part 
    

    
      of Project MONARCH as well? 
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      TED: Oh yeah. These pre-schools are, I believe, prep schools for these people to 
    

    
      indoctrinate these kids and expose them to the Satanic movement.  
    

    
      TRACY: re some of these kids also raised in
       Satanic families, specifically for this 
    

    
      purpose?  
    

    
      TED: Oh yeah. Of course. I talked to a woman who was sent to law school by them to 
    

    
      study immigration laws. They would fly her Germany to bring kids back into this 
    

    
      country. She’d drop them off, bring them in at
       Kennedy Airport, and turn them in to two 
    

    
      men. Then she’d disappear, and go back and get another one. 
    

    
      TRACY: So are there physical or psychological traits that they look for in these kids? Do 
    

    
      they choose kids specifically for reasons? 
    

    
      TED: No, I don’t think so. One of that tactics that they use is, say I’m a perpetrator, or 
    

    
      I’m a pedophile. I’ll contact an individual who I know can arrange for the kids, and I’ll 
    

    
      say “OK, I want a 13-year-old boy or girl, whatever the case might be, blue-eyed, blond-
    

    
      haired.” And then that person would go out and get pictures of about four or five kids 
    

    
      surreptitiously, come back, show me the pictures. And I say, “Oh, I want this one.” Then 
    

    
      they go and kidnap the kid. Like an order,
       you know? It’s like 
      looking at a catalogue. 
    

    
      “Oh, I’ll take this coffee pot, or I’ll take that automobile,” or
       whatever the situation might 
    

    
      be.  
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      TRACY: Don’t they also get a lot of kids at Disneyland? 
    

    
      TED: Yeah, they’ve quashed that, I understand. Kids have disappeared at Disneyland 
    

    
      regularly. There are kids who’ve disappeared
       here in Las Vegas, and of course the 
    

    
      officials are being very careful not to let that out to the public because this is a big 
    

    
      entertainment center.  
    

    
      TRACY: And a lot of the slaves say that Disney
       imagery was part of their programming. 
    

    
      TED: Oh, absolutely. Everyone that I’ve talked to
       on the west coast had some training at 
    

    
      Disneyland. I’ve talked to hundreds of them in the last 22 years. It’s quite an elaborate 
    

    
      operation. There has to be a central location, there has to be people in charge, it has to be 
    

    
      organized, and hey, it’s covered-up. The ones who are involved in this, you know, it’s a 
    

    
      secret who they are, and it’s a secret what they do, but it does involve human sacrifices 
    

    
      and Satanic ceremonies, period. 
    

    
      TRACY: Have you heard of Mormons being involved in this? 
    

    
      TED: Heavily involved in this. At the very top. I’ve got a whole paper on that. They did 
    

    
      their own investigation in 1990 of it, and they came up with
       the same thing. I’ve got all 
    

    
      the reports, by the way. That’s just typical of my documentation.  
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      TRACY: So they were investigating themselves, and they found evidence of human 
    

    
      sacrifices? 
    

    
      TED: Well, they found evidence of Satanism, which would include human sacrifice.  
    

    
      TRACY: Does the police force ever investigate this? 
    

    
      TED: No. They don’t touch it. There’ve been
       police officers who have tried to do 
    

    
      something about it who have ended up dead, or they’re re-assigned. These people are 
    

    
      killers. We’re not talking about nice people.
       And they’ll stop at not
      hing to further their 
    

    
      cause. Anybody who gets in their way is dead, or
       gets put in jail. 
      I have a list of the 
    

    
      leaders of the occult movement on the west
       coast, which is my
       insurance policy. If 
    

    
      anything happens to me, that goes out to the public. 
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      False Memories: An Interview with Pamela Freyd 
    

    
      Pamela Freyd is the co-founder of the False Memory Syndrome Foundation. She founded 
    

    
      the organization with her husband Peter Freyd in 1992 after their daughter Jennifer Freyd, 
    

    
      a Professor of Psychology at the University
       of Oregon, accused Peter of abusing her 
    

    
      sexually as a child, based on memories she had recovered through therapy. This interview 
    

    
      took place on August 28, 2001.
    

    
      TRACY:
       Is “False Memory Syndrome” (specifically
       related to memories of child sexual 
    

    
      abuse) a relatively new phenomenon? If so, when do you think this problem first began, 
    

    
      and what were the causal factors? 
    

    
      PAMELA:
       It’s important to begin any discussion 
      of the topic of false memories with the 
    

    
      fact that all the mental health professional organizations have issued statements saying 
    

    
      that the only way that one can distinguish a true from a false memory is through external 
    

    
      corroboration. 
    

    
      We all have false memories but generally they don’t make a huge difference in our lives. 
    

    
      When such a memory leads to the accusation of criminal behavior of another person, 
    

    
      however, the stakes are raised. To be falsely accused of the unforgivable crime of child 
    

    
      sexual abuse places individuals in a quandary. How does anyone prove a negative? 
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      The Foundation has done a number of surveys of the families that have made contact. 
    

    
      One of the questions in a survey we are just
       now analyzing is “In 
      what year did you learn 
    

    
      about the accusation?” We have one person in 1970 and another in 1971 who said they 
    

    
      were accused in those years based solely on the claim of a “recovered repressed memory” 
    

    
      with no other external evidence. We have a total of 12 reports from the 1970--contrasted 
    

    
      with more than 550 reports for just the years 1991-1992. The frequency data indicate that 
    

    
      the recovered memory phenomenon is a fad--at least based on the data from the surveys. 
    

    
      The numbers have been in decline since 1992. 
    

    
      The McMartin case in 1983 received national media attention and made child abuse and 
    

    
      Satanic Ritual Abuse a front page topic. Sociologists have referred to the false 
    

    
      memory/child abuse accusations phenomenon in terms of a “moral panic.” Child abuse is 
    

    
      inherently evil and as statistics about its frequency increased, so did fear. When people 
    

    
      are afraid, they panic. That’s why schools have fire drills so that students don’t panic 
    

    
      should there be a fire. People often get trampled in panics caused by fires and they get 
    

    
      accused in moral panics. 
    

    
      The explosive period of the fad appears to have begun in 1987-1988. Whether it is a 
    

    
      cause or an effect is not clear, but 1988 saw the publication of the book The Courage to 
    

    
      Heal
       by Ellen Bass and Laura Davis. Since 
      that book has been listed as the most 
    

    
      recommended book by psychotherapists (at least in the early 90s) it is possible that it 
    

    
      helped spread the beliefs. 
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      TRACY:
       Could you estimate what percentage 
      of “recovered” abuse memory claims 
    

    
      investigated by your organization are found to be based on false memories? 
    

    
      PAMELA:
       The Foundation cannot determine the truth 
      or falsity of an accusation in the 
    

    
      absence of external corroboration anymore than anyone else can. Indeed, the Foundation 
    

    
      would not be the appropriate group to conduct investigations since it could be said to be 
    

    
      biased. The Foundation does not “certify” anyone but rather has as its purpose to 
    

    
      disseminate information about the nature of memory. Individual families have tried to get 
    

    
      mental health professionals to
       investigate the accusations an
      d have filed complaints for 
    

    
      that purpose. Because the accusers would not release any records, however, this approach 
    

    
      did not work. Some families brought lawsuits
       in the hope that this would open an 
    

    
      investigation, but again, without access to records, there is little that can be done. What is 
    

    
      left then, are the cases in which a child sued and that case then went to court. Most of 
    

    
      these types of cases have been dismissed for lack of evidence. 
    

    
      What the Foundation noted was that the reports from the people who made contact 
    

    
      showed certain patterns, and it was these patterns that brought alarm to scientists and 
    

    
      psychiatrists who studied memory. Therapists were using hypnosis, guided imagery, 
    

    
      sodium amatol, relaxation exercise, participation in groups, reading suggestive literature 
    

    
      and other techniques in an effort to excavate memories. Although people may remember 
    

    
      things with any of these techniques, there is absolutely no evidence that what they 
    

    
      remember is historically accurate. Indeed, because these are suggestive techniques, it is 
    

    
      highly probably that the patients pick up the suggestion and create false memories. 
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      It’s important to remember how memory works.
       If it worked like a ta
      pe recorder, storing 
    

    
      everything that was experienced, it would make sense to dig for memories because the 
    

    
      problem would be one of access. But that is
       not how memory works. People store bits 
    

    
      and pieces and even these bits and pieces can be lost and altered over time. When 
    

    
      someone has a “memory” it is a highly creative process of reconstruction. The bits and 
    

    
      pieces are woven together to make a story that
       makes sense to the person in the here and 
    

    
      now. People fill in the blanks. They incorporate information from a variety of sources. 
    

    
      TRACY:
       What telltale signs do you look for to 
      determine if a recovered memory is 
    

    
      false? What would it take to convince your organization that a recovered memory was 
    

    
      true? 
    

    
      PAMELA:
       I repeat what I wrote previousl
      y, the Foundation has no way of knowing 
    

    
      whether a particular memory is
       true or false in the absen
      ce of external corroboration. If 
    

    
      any of the suggestive techniques I mentioned previously are used (i.e., hypnosis, sodium 
    

    
      amatol, guided imagery, relaxation exercises, participation in survivor groups, reading 
    

    
      suggestive literature, seeing suggestive videos, etc) the task becomes virtually 
    

    
      impossible. Any memory that arises using such techniques must be suspect because of the 
    

    
      suggestibility inherent in the use of the techniques themselves. 
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      TRACY:
       Does your organization on the whole reje
      ct claims of childhood Satanic Ritual 
    

    
      Abuse? Are there any cases of SRA that your
       organization has investigated which were 
    

    
      not found to be the result of False Memory Syndrome? 
    

    
      PAMELA:
       Kenneth Lanning (1992) of the FBI 
      investigated many cases and found no 
    

    
      external corroboration for the types of claims to which you are referring. A much more 
    

    
      extensive study was conducted by psychologist
       Gail Goodman and colleagues for the 
    

    
      National Center on Child Abuse and Neglect (1994). They found no external 
    

    
      corroboration for the many cases they examined. What they did find was that “a very 
    

    
      small group of clinicians, each claiming to have
       treated scores of cases, accounted for 
    

    
      most of the reports of ritualistic child abuse.” In Great Britain, anthropologist La 
    

    
      Fontaine (1994) examined all the cases of claimed Satanic Ritual Abuse (SRA) in that 
    

    
      country and came up empty handed for evidence. She found that belief in SRA was 
    

    
      closely linked to fundamentalist religious
       groups. In 1995, Bottoms, Shaver, Goodman 
    

    
      and Qin examined whether religious beliefs can foster child abuse. They were alarmed at 
    

    
      finding cases “involving the withholding of medical care for religious reasons, abuse 
    

    
      related to attempts to rid a child of evil, and abuse perpetrated by persons with religious 
    

    
      authority,” and argued that as a society greater effort should be made to protect children 
    

    
      in these circumstances. 
    

    
      Evidence for an intergenerational Satanic cult that breeds children that they then abuse 
    

    
      does not seem to exist. Rebellious teens may dabble with Satanic symbols and 
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      ceremonies and there are religious groups that focus on Satan but there is no evidence for 
    

    
      the kinds of claims made in books such as Michelle Remembers. 
    

    
      TRACY:
       I understand that 18% of the claims that
       you investigate involve some form of 
    

    
      SRA. Can you speculate on why so many such claims have come forth since the 1980, all 
    

    
      remarkably similar? 
    

    
      PAMELA:
       The McMartin case put SRA on the front
       page and into the minds of many 
    

    
      people. I suspect that the similarity of the claims is due to the fact that books such as 
    

    
      “Michelle Remembers” were quite popular and that authority was given to these beliefs 
    

    
      by some television programs, both those that brought on “experts” and those that 
    

    
      displayed patients who held such beliefs. Within the therapeutic community, ideas were 
    

    
      spread at continuing education seminars. There are now, however, hundreds of former 
    

    
      patients who, once they left the therapeutic context, came to realize that their memories 
    

    
      of Satanic abuse were fantasy, although deeply disturbing and painful at the time of 
    

    
      belief. 
    

    
      TRACY:
       Has your organization specifically inve
      stigated the claims of people whose 
    

    
      recovered memories involve the so-called secret “Project MONARCH,” supposedly the 
    

    
      CIA’s experimental program aimed at creating “mind-controlled sex slaves” and 
    

    
      Manchurian Candidate-like assassins through the infliction of severe childhood trauma, 
    

    
      along with the use of drugs and hypnosis? 
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      PAMELA:
       No. The Foundation has limited its focus to issues of families torn apart 
    

    
      based solely on claims of recovered repressed memories of childhood sexual abuse. 
    

    
      TRACY:
       According to both alleged victims of 
      and self-proclaimed experts on Project 
    

    
      MONARCH, the above-described techniques (including the use of rape, torture, and 
    

    
      “Satanic Ritual Abuse”) so traumatize the young mind of the victim that it splits off into 
    

    
      numerous separate personalities, to compartmentalize the trauma. Each of these 
    

    
      personalities can supposedly then be programmed to perform specific tasks without the 
    

    
      knowledge of the others. These programs can purportedly be accessed later through the 
    

    
      use of pre-arranged code-words and signals, which automatically trigger the hypnotic 
    

    
      state in the victim. Does your organization have any opinion on whether or not such 
    

    
      programming is even possible using the techniques described above? 
    

    
      PAMELA:
       The FMS Foundation has not been involve
      d in examining any of the claims 
    

    
      about CIA brainwashing. The purpose of the Foundation is to provide the public and 
    

    
      professions with accurate information about
       memory and to help those families who 
    

    
      contact the Foundation by providing information. I think the following passage by Philip 
    

    
      Zimbardo and Susan Andersen addresses scientific understanding on the CIA mind-
    

    
      control topic: 
    

    
      “John Mark’s (1979) expose of the CIA’s secret
       mind-control program made it clear that 
    

    
      no foolproof way of “brainwashing” another person has ever been found. (The word 
    

    
      “brainwashing” is used here in its popular
       connotation, which came
       out of movies and 
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      sensationalized press accounts--that is, absolute control over
       another. This is not what 
    

    
      the leading researchers [Lifton, 1961, Schein, Schneier, & Barker, 1961] of the Korean 
    

    
      War-era “brainwashing” meant by their terms, thought reform and coercive persuasion, 
    

    
      respectively.) Electroshock therapy, hypnosis, exquisite torture devices, and psychoactive 
    

    
      drugs have not proved adequate for the task of reliably directing behavior through 
    

    
      specific scenarios designated by would-be manipulators. It is a person (or various 
    

    
      persons) in a convincing social situation–not
       gadgets or gimmicks–who control the minds 
    

    
      of others. the more worried we are about being regarded as ignorant, uncultured, 
    

    
      untalented, or boring, and the more ambiguous the events that must be evaluated, the 
    

    
      more likely we are to take on the beliefs of those around us to avoid being rejected by 
    

    
      them .” (Michael D. Langone (Editor) Recovery from Cults: Help for Victims of 
    

    
      Psychological and Spiritual Abuse, Norton, 1993, page 106.)
    

    
      Although it has been often repeated that severe childhood trauma causes the mind to split 
    

    
      and multiple personalities to develop, there is no scientific evidence to that effect. This 
    

    
      notion spread after the publication of Sybil. In the last five years two things have 
    

    
      occurred that cause grave doubt as to whether Sybil was actually a multiple personality. 
    

    
      First was an interview with Herb Spiegel, M.D., one of the doctors who treated her. 
    

    
      Spiegel said that Sybil was not MPD. Second was the discovery of some tapes of talks 
    

    
      between the doctor and author who wrote the book Sybil. In these tapes, it appears that 
    

    
      Sybil’s MPD was created by these two. 
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      That someone has the manifestations of MPD is not at issue; they may. The question is 
    

    
      what is the cause of the symptoms. Many in the psychiatric community believe that MPD 
    

    
      is iatrogenic, that is, caused by the use of hypnosis and the type of interviewing 
    

    
      techniques of the doctor. 
    

    
      TRACY:
       Has your organization specifically inve
      stigated the claims of the following 
    

    
      people: 
    

    
      - Brice Taylor (a.k.a. Susan Ford, author of Thanks for the Memories: The Truth Has Set 
    

    
      Me Free? 
    

    
      - Cathy O’Brien (author of The TRANCE Formation of America)? 
    

    
      - Arizona Wilder (author, Revelations of a Mother Goddess)? 
    

    
      PAMELA:
       The FMS Foundation is not an investigat
      ive group. Its purpose is to provide 
    

    
      information about the nature of memory as it
       has appeared in the 
      scientific literature. 
    

    
      There are hundreds, probably thousands, of stories that people have written about their 
    

    
      recovered memories of torture of some sort--in past lives, in space alien abductions and 
    

    
      in Satanic rituals. Evidence is lacking for the existence of these events--other than the 
    

    
      stories. A case study or a story is not scientific evidence although it can be used as a basis 
    

    
      to being a scientific program.
       When it comes to memory, the 
      scientific program has been 
    

    
      in place for many years, and what has been discovered is how suggestible people are. 
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      A very well-known memoir is that of Binjamin Wilkomirski, who wrote of his childhood 
    

    
      in German concentration camps (Fragments). The existence of the concentration camps is 
    

    
      not an issue as is the existence of space alien abductions, past lives and intergenerational 
    

    
      Satanic cults. The book received numerous prizes and he was given awards and spoke 
    

    
      around the world. The publisher withdrew it in 1999 when it was discovered that the 
    

    
      memoir was fiction. The author had spent the war years in Switzerland. 
    

    
      It’s interesting how this ties in
       with Satanic Ritual Abuse. 
      Credibility had been given to 
    

    
      the Wilkomirski
       story when it was confirmed by a Laura Grabowski who claimed she 
    

    
      had known Wilkomirski
       at Auschwitz. But in an intere
      sting twist, it appears that Laura 
    

    
      Grabowski was quite confused. Her real name is
       Lauren Stratford and she is the author of 
    

    
      Satan’s Underground, a book in which she describes being forced to be a “baby breeder” 
    

    
      in a Satanic cult. An expose of Grabowski appeared in the Nov, 1999 Cornerstone 
    

    
      Magazine. Lauren Statford was born in Tacoma, Washington, and has spent her entire life 
    

    
      in the United States. [Editor’s note: According to Cornerstone’s website, 
    

    
      cornerstonemag.com, “Lauren Stratford doesn’t
       exist, except as the pen name of Laurel 
    

    
      Rose Willson, and Satan’s Underground is only one of the stories she’s told about her 
    

    
      life.”]
    

    
      TRACY:
       Some high-profile and outspoken “child
       abuse survivors” with recovered 
    

    
      memories have also claimed to be victims of “harassment” by the FMSF after coming 
    

    
      forward with their accusations. Does your organization engage in any contact with the 
    

    
      alleged victims that could be construed as such? 
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      PAMELA:
       The only persons I know who might fit 
      your description are David Calof and 
    

    
      Laura Brown, Ph.D. They are both therapists rather than
       survivors and have both 
    

    
      complained about being picketed by Chuck Noah, a retired construction worker in 
    

    
      Seattle, Washington. One look at the names on the Scientific Advisory Board of the FMS 
    

    
      Foundation should belie any idea that the Foundation is interested in picketing as a way 
    

    
      to educate people about the nature of memory. The Foundation has held conferences and 
    

    
      seminars. And indeed a number of these were picketed by people opposed to the 
    

    
      Foundation. The Foundation is interested in fostering family reconciliation where it is 
    

    
      possible, not in harming anyone. 
    

    
      I cannot answer your question unless you tell me what you are referring to. What 
    

    
      harassment? Who? When? In the same manner, I might ask if you have stopped beating 
    

    
      your husband or whomever. How does one respond to such insinuations? 
    

    
      TRACY:
       Is the term “False Memory Syndrome” 
      recognized by the psychiatric field at 
    

    
      large? 
    

    
      PAMELA:
       The term is now in most dictionaries
       and even in the OED. To my knowledge 
    

    
      no one has sought to have it included in the “Diagnostic and Statistical Manual” of the 
    

    
      American Psychiatric Association. The foundation is interested in promoting therapy in 
    

    
      which the development of false memories is not a likely outcome. Did PTSD exist before 
    

    
      it was included in the DSM? Did MPD exist before inclusion in the DSM? Since there 
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      have been at least a dozen professional mental
       health journal issues
       devoted to the topic 
    

    
      of false memories, I must assume that it is
       recognized at some level by professionals. 
    

    
      TRACY:
       Is there any difference between a 
      false memory and outright lying? 
    

    
      PAMELA:
       A lie is a deliberate falsification of
      ten for some purpose. People with false 
    

    
      memories believe them sincerely and with much conviction, especially if some hypnotic 
    

    
      techniques are involved. There is a difference.  
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      Postscript: Satanic Ritual Abuse and Sex Slavery in the New 
      Millennium 
    

    
        I have a little bit of expe
      rience with “Satanic Panic.” When I was 14 years old and 
    

    
      living two doors up from my best friend in the small town of Sherwood, Oregon, I got 
    

    
      exposed to it first-hand. I already had a reputation for having a “dark” personality in my 
    

    
      high school. I was into Goth music, I wore black clothes, and I sometimes read books 
    

    
      about the occult. My friend, who also listened to Goth music and wore dark clothes, had 
    

    
      recently begun to develop a similar reputation. One day my friend’s aunt came into town 
    

    
      to visit his family, and brought with her a set of documentary videos made by an 
    

    
      Evangelical church group about Satanism. She showed the videos to my friend’s parents. 
    

    
      By the end of the day, they were convinced that their son was a Satanist, and that he was 
    

    
      possessed by demons. They held a group prayer ritual in the living room with the aim of 
    

    
      removing the demonic influence from the house. 
    

    
        Shortly after this happen
      ed, my friend had a fight with his parents about an 
    

    
      unclean bedroom that resulted in him being committed as an in-patient at a local mental 
    

    
      hospital, where counselors repeatedly tried to
       get him to confess some deep secret of 
    

    
      personal shame. He had no idea why his parents had done this to him or what the 
    

    
      counselors were after, but within a week he was released. When he returned home, he 
    

    
      found that all of his Goth CDs and most of his clothes had been burned in a bonfire in his 
    

    
      backyard by his parents. Next, he was taken to see a Christian counselor from his parents’ 
    

    
      church, who presented him with a list of addresses that had been found in his bedroom. 
    

    
      My friend recognized them as a list of record stores in downtown Portland that he had 
    

    
      drawn up last time he went shopping for music.
       The counselor asked if these were the 
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      locations of his “Satanic meetings,” and even presented surveillance photographs taken 
    

    
      from outside of these establishments. This was the first time my friend realized that his 
    

    
      parents and their church had launched an investigation with the aim of proving that he 
    

    
      belonged to a Satanic cult. 
    

    
        Within a couple of weeks, I too found myse
      lf at the center of an investigation. 
    

    
      Counselors at school began quizzing me frequently, and even
       brought my parents in for 
    

    
      an interview. They never did say what they were investigating me for, but the endless 
    

    
      suspicion and questioning caused me to drop out
       of school and take up instead at a local 
    

    
      community college. At this time the landlord of the house where I lived unexpectedly 
    

    
      reneged on our lease agreement, and my family was forced to move.  
    

    
        Later my friend also dropped out and join
      ed me at the college. We moved on with 
    

    
      our lives and forgot about the whole thing. It wasn’t until two years later that a slip of the 
    

    
      tongue from my friend’s grandmother revealed some of the context of what had 
    

    
      happened. Apparently, his parents (who raised
       sheep on a farm) had discovered one of 
    

    
      their sheep brutally butchered in the barn. They leapt to the obvious
       conclusion: “Our son 
    

    
      and his friend Tracy must have done it! They
       must belong to a Satanic cult! Tracy is 
    

    
      probably the high priestess!” They even had enough imagination to conclude that their 
    

    
      son had probably blocked out the traumatic memory of committing the sacrifice, and 
    

    
      would need to be committed to a mental hospital so that his memories could be 
    

    
      recovered.  
    

    
        According to my friend’s grandmothe
      r, his parents had gone to the school 
    

    
      principal and the local police with their suspicions. They had even accused my parents of 
    

    
      being involved, and said that we had a “Satanic star” hanging in our living room window 
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      (which was actually a sun catcher shaped like a sun with a smiley face). His grandmother 
    

    
      said that the police had actually tapped my phone looking for proof that we had butchered 
    

    
      the sheep, but found none.  
    

    
        I suppose as a teenager I didn’t have that
       much of a reputation to ruin, but my 
    

    
      parents did, and it seems they may have been forced to move out of their house because 
    

    
      of this smear. If it is true that my phone was tapped by the police, that compounds the 
    

    
      injustice a hundred time. What gave these people the right to try to ruin our lives with 
    

    
      their baseless accusations? How dumb did the police and school counselors have to be to 
    

    
      go along with it? Is suspicion of “Satanism”
       really enough to justify locking up a kid up 
    

    
      in a mental hospital against his will? There is one more nagging question: who killed the 
    

    
      sheep anyway? 
    

    
        I have no doubt that this experience caused my interest in occultism, which before 
    

    
      had been no more than a fashion statement, to
       flourish into a seri
      ous study. When I grew 
    

    
      up and became an occult writer, even writing about conspiracy theories involving the 
    

    
      “Satanic Illuminati,” I found myself being accused by other writers of involvement in the 
    

    
      conspiracy. I found conspiracy flow charts on the internet linking me and my 
    

    
      acquaintances to the Trilateral Commission and the Bilderberg Group. This time, though, 
    

    
      I understood the hysteria, and found it more humorous than threatening.  
    

    
        Still, having been on the 
      receiving end of these accusations, you may wonder why 
    

    
      I have written and published so much information about so-called Project MONARCH. 
    

    
      Many researchers think that stories of Satanic Ritual Abuse are urban legends, and those 
    

    
      who claim to be victims are smearing those they
       accuse just as I have been smeared in the 
    

    
      past. Certainly I know from experience how easily this can happen. But I also now know 
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      first-hand a great deal about secret societies, and the types of people who are typically 
    

    
      drawn to join occult groups. While this is only a stereotype, it is
       not uncommon to find 
    

    
      that these people have symptoms of megalomania, socio-pathology, sadism, sexual 
    

    
      deviance, an attraction to evil, and a willingness to do anything that they think will help 
    

    
      them to acquire more power. I know that many occult rituals do involve bizarre sex acts, 
    

    
      and sometimes blood sacrifice. Some occultists include their own young children in rites 
    

    
      and practices which may be remembered by them as unpleasant or frightening. For sure, 
    

    
      the same thing can be said about religious zealots of any stripe, but occultists are no 
    

    
      exception. There is also certainly a confluence between the membership of certain occult 
    

    
      groups, and involvement in things like government, intelligence, high finance, and 
    

    
      organized crime. Most definitely, many occult groups use techniques on their 
    

    
      membership that can only be called “mind control,” and intelligence agencies have been 
    

    
      experimenting with mind control for many decades now.  
    

    
        Furthermore, we know that the statistics on human trafficking in our modern 
    

    
      world are horrifyingly huge, as
       are the statistics on missing 
      and abused children. It is 
    

    
      estimated that 27 million people are currently enslaved today, most of them as sex slaves. 
    

    
      The State Department says that somewhere between 600,000 and 800,000 people are 
    

    
      illegally trafficked across borders throughout the world. 70%
       of these are female and 
    

    
      50% are children. The
       “vast majority,”
       they say, end up in the sex trade. This puts an 
    

    
      entirely different spin on the subject of
       illegal immigration acro
      ss the Mexican border. 
    

    
      We talk about issues of racism and depressed wages, but it seems there is a much more 
    

    
      important issue at stake when
       you consider that so many
      of those crossing the border, 
    

    
      according to our own government, are not just
       working family people seeking a better 
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      life, but rather unfortunate victims of the human sex trade. We know that the Mexican 
    

    
      border is purposely left porous, and illegal alien criminals are routinely set free from jail 
    

    
      to offend again, for reasons of political expediency. But perhaps the lax border issue is 
    

    
      connected to something more than the courting of the Latino vote.  
    

    
        Another thing we know about the sex slave 
      industry is that it is incredibly cruel 
    

    
      and sadistic. Because of its underground nature, it is impossible to estimate numbers 
    

    
      accurately, but from the evidence and eyewitness testimonies we do have, we know that 
    

    
      sex slaves are not only repeatedly raped, but beaten, tortured, and eventually killed. Often 
    

    
      this abuse is perpetrated merely for sexual pleasure by sadistic people, and sometimes it 
    

    
      is captured on film to be sold to a sick audience always hungry for more. Some of this is 
    

    
      also part of the conditioning of the slave:
       breaking down their will power for purposes of 
    

    
      mind control. There is no doubt that the principles of Stockholm Syndrome (also known 
    

    
      as Trauma-Bonding) and Dissociative Identity Disorder are being purposely studied and 
    

    
      utilized by these slaves’ handlers. They also know who to pay off in order to ensure that 
    

    
      government officials look the other way. Sexual favors from slaves are often used for 
    

    
      these pay-offs, and the proceedings are secretly
       filmed for future blackmail. There is no 
    

    
      doubt that sex slavery could not
       exist without complicity fr
      om people in governments all 
    

    
      over the world, including our own.  
    

    
        But what evidence is there of a global 
      confluence of Satanism, sex slavery, and 
    

    
      intelligence agencies as posited by the Project MONARCH stories? Most of that evidence 
    

    
      has come from the testimonies of the people featured in this book, and much of it is 
    

    
      hearsay. You can take it for what it’s worth. However, I have noticed that since I wrote 
    

    
      the original “Stepford Whores” article for Hustler
       in 2001 (included in this book), a 
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      number of cases have popped up in the news that seem to bear the earmarks of the same 
    

    
      phenomena detailed in this book.  
    

    
        For instance, the latest
       Michael Jackson child molestation case made me 
    

    
      suspicious as detailed rumors that started pouring during the trial. According to the 
    

    
      stories, Jackson had for many years been bringing 12-to-14-year-old boys to his circus-
    

    
      like Neverland Ranch in California, showering them with toys and gifts, plying them with 
    

    
      alcohol (“Jesus Juice,” or wine in a Coke can), and sexually molesting them. In many 
    

    
      cases, the parents of the boys seemed to be complicit in what was going on, as they 
    

    
      repeatedly brought their sons to spend the night alone in bed with this strange grown 
    

    
      man. Perhaps not coincidentally, Jackson reportedly showered the parents with gifts as 
    

    
      well, including large sums of cash.  
    

    
        Friends of Jackson have reported his tende
      ncy to slip into child-like characters 
    

    
      that seem like alternate personalities, his favorite being Peter Pan, “because he never has 
    

    
      to grow up.” He seems to be obsessed with the concept of wearing masks, and 
    

    
      transmogrification, as demonstrated in the videos for his songs “Thriller” and “Black or 
    

    
      White.” This desire to transform himself has obviously led to Jackson’s disastrous plastic 
    

    
      surgery, and presumably ties in with the fact that he forces
       his children to wear masks 
    

    
      while they are in public. Indeed, viewers of
       Martin Bashir’s famous 2003 documentary 
    

    
      exposé of Michael Jackson saw that he appeared
       to live in a 24-hour fantasy world of his 
    

    
      own making in which he pretended to be a child. He shows all the signs of someone 
    

    
      suffering from Dissociative Identity Disorder.  
    

    
        Jackson also shows the signs of having 
      been sexually abused as a child, and 
    

    
      indeed has accused his father Joseph of abusing him, as has his sister LaToya. Michael is 
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      known to have had psycho-sexual problems since early on. His highly-publicized 
    

    
      marriage to Lisa Marie Presley is believed to have been a publicity stunt, while his 
    

    
      marriage to Deborah Rowe was part of a scheme in which his first two children were 
    

    
      produced through
       in vitro
       fertilization. They divorced 
      in 1999, and Jackson had another 
    

    
      child in 2002, but nobody knows who the mother is. The kids have always had their faces 
    

    
      covered when shown in public. Some say this is
       partly because he is hiding the fact that 
    

    
      they are obviously not his biological children. 
    

    
        So who are these kids, and what is 
      happening to them in Michael Jackson’s 
    

    
      custody? We may never know, as Jackson was acquitted of the molestation charges, and 
    

    
      immediately went running to Bahrain, a known child prostitution center where pedophilia 
    

    
      is openly tolerated. The question of the children’s safety becomes even more paramount 
    

    
      when we consider allegations made by Jack Gordon, the former husband of Michael 
    

    
      Jackson’s sister LaToya, who claimed in a tell-all book to have witnessed Jackson 
    

    
      sacrificing monkeys in occult rituals, and physically abusing his pet monkeys on several 
    

    
      occasions. In a similar vein,
       Vanity Fair
       reported in March 2003 that in 2000 Michael 
    

    
      Jackson paid a voodoo witchdoctor in Mali $150,000 to put a curse on his 24 most-hated 
    

    
      enemies, including Steven Spielberg and David Geffen. The ceremony, which reportedly 
    

    
      took place in Switzerland, required Jackson to bathe in the blood of 42 freshly-sacrificed 
    

    
      cows.  
    

    
        Was Michael Jackson a Project MONARCH vi
      ctim as a child? It has been said 
    

    
      that the CIA’s MK-ULTRA targeted members of the entertainment industry, and that 
    

    
      many famous child actors and singers were in
       fact mind-controlled slaves. The name of 
    

    
      his ranch, Neverland, as well as his obsession with Peter Pan, are suspicious, for as we 
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      know, this imagery was allegedly used as a programming base for MONARCH children, 
    

    
      according to Cathy O’Brien. And what shape could you once see from the air when you 
    

    
      fly over Neverland Ranch, made out of colorful flowers and bushes? The image of a 
    

    
      Monarch butterfly.  
    

    
        Want another example? Take the case 
      of the Hosanna Church in Ponchatoula, 
    

    
      Louisiana. In May of 2005, police in the Tangipahoa Parish Sheriff's Office had just 
    

    
      begun to investigate claims by a woman who said her children had been sexually abused 
    

    
      by people at the church. All of
       the sudden the pastor of 
      the church, Louis LaMonica, 
    

    
      walked into the station unsummoned and offered to help them with their investigation. A 
    

    
      quote from a New York Times
       article from May 25, 2005 expl
      ains what unfolded next: 
    

    
      “Mr. Lamonica, 45, matter-of-factly told them of having sex with at least two boys, from 
    

    
      the time they were 4 until they were 12 or 13, as well as having sex with a dog, Mr. 
    

    
      Carpenter said, adding that Mr. Lamonica did not act as though he was confessing to 
    

    
      crimes. He was just trying to be helpful.” 
    

    
        Another article from the Associated 
      Press from June 11, 2005 reveals what had 
    

    
      seemingly been going on for the last several years. Witnesses described Satanic rituals in 
    

    
      which cats were sacrificed, and “as many as two dozen” children of all ages were raped 
    

    
      and/or molested, the cat blood being poured onto their naked bodies. In several instances, 
    

    
      children were allegedly made to have sex with dogs. Physical evidence that was found at 
    

    
      the church included ceremonial robes and the residue of pentagrams painted on the floor. 
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        Why did Louis Lamonica walk into the sher
      iff’s office and start confessing all of 
    

    
      these things, apparently not thinking that he
       would get in trouble?
       Did he have some 
    

    
      reason to suspect that the police would be sympathetic to him?
       It is one of the greatest 
    

    
      mysteries of this case. At any rate, it only became more bizarre when lawyers for 
    

    
      Lamonica’s co-defendants (many of whom had already signed confessions) claimed that 
    

    
      their clients were innocent by reason of “brainwashing.” They said that an influential 
    

    
      member of the church, not Lamonica, had used powers of persuasion to get these people 
    

    
      to sign their confessions. The alleged motive for this was never explained. But many 
    

    
      other members of the church continued to testify that the abuse did in fact occur. An 
    

    
      article from November 29, 2007 in the Hammond Star
       reported from the trial about one 
    

    
      of the witnesses, married to one of the accused and mother to one of the alleged victims: 
    

    
      “Monica said that when she asked [her husband] why he was sexually abusing his own 
    

    
      daughter, he said he wanted to make her ‘non-human,’ or nothing more than an object of 
    

    
      his pleasure.” 
    

    
        
    

    
        The Hosanna Church trial is still ongoing 
      as of this writing. In February of 2008 
    

    
      Louis Lamonica requested that the trial be moved to a new location, a motion that is 
    

    
      currently still being considered.  
    

    
        Of course, many alleged cases of Satanic 
      Ritual Abuse are supposed to have taken 
    

    
      place in churches and religious institutions that use Christianity as a cover. Certainly 
    

    
      there have been many real cases of children that were sexually abused in church, most 
    

    
      notably by Catholic priests. William H. Kennedy has written an excellent book on the 
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      subject that links the phenomena of priest sex abuse to Satanism. It is called Lucifer’s 
    

    
      Lodge: Satanic Ritual Abuse in the Catholic Church. In it Kennedy reveals that many 
    

    
      high-profile priest abuse cases contained Satanic and occult aspects that were ignored by 
    

    
      the mainstream media. Among these is the case of Father Paul Shanley, an accused child-
    

    
      molesting priest who is linked with the founding of pro-pedophile group NAMBLA (the 
    

    
      National Man-Boy Love Association), and with the Satan-worshipping Process Church of 
    

    
      the Final Judgment. The latter has been connected by some writers to a series of 
    

    
      ritualistic murders all over the United States, and former members claim they were 
    

    
      involved in the trafficking of child
       pornography, including snuff films. 
    

    
        The existence of a snuff film industry 
      is something that is denied by some 
    

    
      researchers, who believe that it is merely an
       urban legend. They say 
      that all alleged snuff 
    

    
      films that have come to the attention of investigators turned out to be fakes. However, 
    

    
      other investigators who have seen the same films disagreed. A film called Snuff
       that was 
    

    
      purported to be the real thing was famously released in 1977, but the production company 
    

    
      (ironically called “Monarch Films”) admitted it was fake when threatened with 
    

    
      prosecution. This famous incident appears to be in large part the basis of the argument 
    

    
      that snuff films are merely “urban legend.” But the fact is, we know that all over the 
    

    
      world children are kidnapped, sexually abused and tortured, used in pornographic films, 
    

    
      and murdered every single day. The odds that all of these things might have at least once 
    

    
      happened at the same time--child rape, torture and murder caught on film and illegally 
    

    
      distributed--seem likely to be high. Some believe
       it is worse than this--that snuff films are 
    

    
      indeed an integral part of the child porn industry. Supposedly they
       are available only to 
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      the highest rollers, with the buyers paying anything between $5,000 and $40,000 for a 
    

    
      custom-made limited edition film production. 
    

    
        A great deal of information about allege
      d snuff films came out with the trial and 
    

    
      investigation of Belgian serial child murderer Marc Dutroux. The Dutroux case was one 
    

    
      that I was unfortunately not aware of at the time I wrote the article for Hustler, but it 
    

    
      indeed matches up with many of the elements of the Project MONARCH stories 
    

    
      contained in this book. Dutroux and his wife Michelle Martin had already been convicted 
    

    
      of kidnapping and raping five girls in the 1980s (they had spent no more than three years 
    

    
      in prison for their offenses) when in 1996, two missing young girls were found in the 
    

    
      torture chamber secretly concealed within their basement. They also found the bodies of 
    

    
      four other girls between the ages of 8 and 19, two of them starved to death (apparently by 
    

    
      accident) as well as that of an adult accomplice, who was killed for failing to feed the two 
    

    
      starved girls. All of the girls had been viciously raped and tortured repeatedly during their 
    

    
      time in Dutroux’s basement.  
    

    
        During the investigation and trial that fo
      llowed, it was revealed that police had on 
    

    
      many occasions failed to follow up on evidence that would have caught Dutroux much 
    

    
      earlier, and possibly could have saved the lives of the girls.
       Several witnesses, including 
    

    
      Dutroux’s own mother, had reported to police their suspicions that he was connected to 
    

    
      the disappearances of several local girls. Dutroux’s house had been under police 
    

    
      surveillance for this very reason when he took two girls out of his house to have them 
    

    
      murdered, and later brought in two more to
       lock in his dungeon. Police supposedly had 
    

    
      not noticed any of this while they were watching his house. They also failed to hear the 
    

    
      screams of the girls locked in the basement
       when they searched Dutroux’s house in 1995, 
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      after he had been arrested for car theft, for which he spent three months in jail. It was 
    

    
      during this time that those girls starved to death. 
    

    
        The police incompetence did not cease afte
      r the arrest. Indeed, the original state 
    

    
      prosecutor of the case complained of obstruction of his investigation from every level of 
    

    
      government. Several witnesses came forth after Dutroux’s arrest, alleging that they had 
    

    
      been abused by him and others as part of
       a Satanic child prostitution and pornography 
    

    
      ring that dealt in extreme torture and snuff films. These witnesses also said that clients of 
    

    
      the ring included some of Belgium’s most prominent politicians and businessmen, as well 
    

    
      as members of Belgium’s royal family. Dutroux himself confirmed all of this and more 
    

    
      with his own testimony and statements to reporters. He admitted that he was part of a 
    

    
      child porn and snuff film ring, and claimed that powerful elements in Belgium did not 
    

    
      want his true story to be told. The prosecutor was taken off the case prematurely, a move 
    

    
      that prompted an unprecedented outcry from the outraged Belgian public. 300,000 of 
    

    
      them marched in Brussels to express their anger. Nonetheless, the case continued to be 
    

    
      handled by a prosecutor and investigators who were now uninterested in following the 
    

    
      leads in the case connecting Dutroux to any larger network, especially ones which 
    

    
      included important members of
       the Belgian aristocracy.  
    

    
        But some unpleasant information about that
       aristocracy did surface in the wake of 
    

    
      the Dutroux trial, and that is the existence of
       “pink ballets”--kinky top secret sex parties 
    

    
      attended by the well-to-do of Belgium. Here is a quote from the UK’s Telegraph
       from 
    

    
      March 16, 1997: 
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      “Punch-drunk Belgium is reeling from a new shock after a senior police officer 
    

    
      confirmed last week what has long been rumoured: that some of the country's leaders 
    

    
      indulge in sex parties, known ironically as ‘ballets roses.’  
    

    
      It is a world of outwardly respectable private clubs in discreet suburbs of Brussels, 
    

    
      Antwerp and Liège, but where, on arrival, members remove not just their coats, but their 
    

    
      tops, bottoms and underwear as well.” 
    

    
      The article also stated that the “ballets” may be a method used by organized 
    

    
      criminals to compromise powerful people in government: 
    

    
      “Hugo Coveliers, a Belgian senator, argues that the ‘ballets roses’ are not independent 
    

    
      of one another, but part of a system ‘which operates to this day and is used to blackmail 
    

    
      the highly placed people who take part.’” 
    

    
        More recently, Portugal is reeling fr
      om its own shocking revelations about 
    

    
      powerful people and pedophilia. In October of 2007, the UK’s Daily Mail
       ran a story 
    

    
      about an orphanage in Lisbon called “Casa Pia” (“House of the Pious”) ) -- a state-run 
    

    
      network of homes caring for upwards of 4,000 children -- where kids were regularly 
    

    
      taken away in a van and pimped out to a high society pedophile ring. These children were 
    

    
      allegedly taken repeatedly to the homes of
       “some of the leading members of Lisbon 
    

    
      society--ranging from Portuguese government ministers and high-ranking diplomats, to 
    

    
      famous television stars and members of the judiciary.” They were drugged and raped. 
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      Much of it was filmed. Videos of some of these attacks were found in a child porn raid in 
    

    
      Paris.  
    

    
        As in the case of Marc Dutroux in Be
      lgium, the police in Portugal have been 
    

    
      incompetent to the point where it almost seems like they’re doing it on purpose. There 
    

    
      was actually photographic evidence showing the alleged ringleader of the pedophile 
    

    
      group and the victim children in the same room
       with some of the accused politicians, but 
    

    
      the police “accidentally” lost these photos. That was in 1982, when the allegations first 
    

    
      surfaced. Nothing was done and the abuse at Casa Pia continued. It took the filing of 
    

    
      many more police reports over the next 21 years before arrests were made in 2003. The 
    

    
      investigation led to the discovery four children who had been abducted from Casa Pia and 
    

    
      imprisoned in the home of a Portuguese ambassador, as well as photographic evidence of 
    

    
      the abuse. The accused ringleader, Carlos Silvino, has been quoted as saying he does not 
    

    
      fear prosecution because, “They can't touch me--there are too many people involved.”    
    

    
        A similar case that is breaking just at the ti
      me of this writing is that of the Haut de 
    

    
      la Garenne, a youth hostel in Saint Martin, Jersey, in the Channel Islands that from 1867 
    

    
      to 1998 had been a home for orphaned and/or
       wayward children. In 2006 Haut de la 
    

    
      Garenne became the center of an investigation into an alleged child abuse and pedophilia 
    

    
      network operating on the isle of Jersey. Over
       150 people claim to have been abused, in 
    

    
      many cases by respected members of the Jersey establishment, and say that Haut de la 
    

    
      Garenne was one of the main locations where abuse took place. Some claim to have been 
    

    
      taken there specifically for abuse by their abusers. However, most of the victims were 
    

    
      actual residents of the children’s home and claim to have been abused by the staff there. 
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      Victims describe the abuse as systematic and part of the institution, occurring on an 
    

    
      almost nightly basis. It often took place in a “secret basement” beneath the school.  
    

    
        It was this basement that was of special
       interest during the investigation, for when 
    

    
      police visited the building with sniffer dogs, they found the secret basement, beneath a set 
    

    
      of stairs. In there they discovered the remains of a very young child, still unidentified as I 
    

    
      write this. They believe the child died in the 1980s and do not yet have an explanation as 
    

    
      to why the body was hidden there. Shackles were also discovered there that had once 
    

    
      been fastened to the wall. Police subsequently discovered another secret chamber, where 
    

    
      the sniffer dogs indicated the presence of even more remains, but nothing tangible has 
    

    
      been discovered as of yet. 
    

    
        Even if the child’s death was somehow 
      natural or accidental, why was it hidden in 
    

    
      this manner? How could the staff of a children’s home get away with something like 
    

    
      that? Articles in the UK’s Guardian
       newspaper describe a “cu
      lture of secrecy” on the 
    

    
      island, where respected members of society all stick up for each other, while police and 
    

    
      courts systematically ignore any accusations made against them, and obstruct any 
    

    
      investigations made by outsiders. Even those former residents of Haut de la Garenne who 
    

    
      do not have tales of sex abuse to tell still say that there was non-stop physical and 
    

    
      psychological abuse against all of the child residents, even through the 1980s. Nobody 
    

    
      who knows the place finds it hard to believe that
       children were raped and murdered there.  
    

    
        During the recent investigation an even
       more disturbing connection was found. It 
    

    
      was discovered that the Haut de la Garenne
       was connected to one of the UK’s most 
    

    
      notorious serial rapists: Edward Paisnel, also known as
       “the Beast of Jersey.” From 1957 
    

    
      to 1971, Jersey was terrorized by an unknown assailant who broke into homes and raped 
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      children at night. He wore a bizarre costume that included a jacket studded with nails, a 
    

    
      wig, and a bizarre rubber mask that made him look like a zombie. Police finally arrested 
    

    
      him in 1971, still in this costume, fresh from the latest attack. When asked by the 
    

    
      arresting officer why he was wearing such unusual attire, he replied, “I belong to a secret 
    

    
      religious society. I’m on my way to a sex orgy.” 
    

    
        This indeed would be Paisnel’s defense.
       He claimed he had no connection to the 
    

    
      rapes. He was merely a member of a black magic society where the membership was 
    

    
      anonymous, and that they all wore masks to the meetings so that they couldn’t recognize 
    

    
      each other during normal life. When police searched his home they found a secret room, 
    

    
      and altar covered with ritual items, as well as
       a number of books on occultism. During the 
    

    
      trial it came out that he believed himself to be a reincarnation of Gilles de Rais, a 
    

    
      notorious serial rapist and murderer from the 15th century who had once fought alongside 
    

    
      Joan of Arc. He was convicted of raping, murdering and dismembering over 200 
    

    
      children, all as part of Devil worship rituals intended to bring forth the “Philosopher’s 
    

    
      Stone” that would allow him to turn lead into
       gold. However, Paisnel still maintained his 
    

    
      innocence. But he was convicted, and died in prison in 1994.  
    

    
        The connection to Haut de la Garenne is a bizarre one. Until his arrest, Paisnel 
    

    
      had actually visited the children’s home every year at Christmas time … dressed as Santa 
    

    
      Claus! 
    

    
        Since I wrote the “Stepford Whores” article for 
      Hustler
       in 2001, there have been a 
    

    
      few developments in the cases I discussed therein, most notably with
       that of the missing 
    

    
      paper boy Johnny Gosch. In January 2005 a scandal broke out when a reporter working in 
    

    
      the White House press room was found to be
       using a fake name. Calling himself “Jeff 
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      Gannon,” the name on his driver’s license was actually James Guckert. He was 
    

    
      investigated in the first place because other White House reporters felt that he had been 
    

    
      asking the President preferential questions, and thought it odd that they did not recognize 
    

    
      him at all. The news outfit he worked for turned out to be Talon News, an internet 
    

    
      operation, which caused many “real” print journalists resentment. Furthermore, upon 
    

    
      researching his background it was learned that prior to his work for Talon News, 
    

    
      Gannon/Guckert had been self-employed as a male
       prostitute who adve
      rtised his services 
    

    
      online. Gannon lost his White House press pass, and Bush claimed to know nothing about 
    

    
      him, while Democrats accused Gannon of being a White House plant meant to set up the 
    

    
      President with softball questions at press conferences. They also took great joy in 
    

    
      pointing out Gannon’s prostitute past, mainly expressing shock that a gay man could be a 
    

    
      Republican. Gannon continued his work in conservative journalism with his blog.  
    

    
        Had it not been for Noreen Gosch, the w
      hole incident would have been forgotten. 
    

    
      But in April 2005, Ms. Gosch did an interview with an alternative newsweekly in Des 
    

    
      Moines, Iowa named Pointblank
       in which she stated that
       she believed Jeff Gannon was 
    

    
      none other than her own missing son, Johnny Gosch. You will recall that Ms. Gosch 
    

    
      claims to have been visited by Johnny as an adult in 1997, for one night only, in which he 
    

    
      told her that he had been kidnapped by a Satanic child prostitution ring, and was now on 
    

    
      the run from them. He left the next morning and continued running, never to be seen 
    

    
      again. But now Ms. Gosch was saying that Gannon looked like the adult Johnny who had 
    

    
      come to visit her. Furthermore, certain theories proffered by her friends John DeCamp 
    

    
      and Ted Gunderson tended to back up this idea, she said. Within 24 hours of running the 
    

    
      article, Pointblank
       was put out of business, and all the employees were put out of a job. 
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      The owners started a new paper that they
       began publishing the following week. Of 
    

    
      course, many believe that Pointblank
       was killed because they ran the Gosch/Gannon 
    

    
      story. 
    

    
        The “evidence” linking Gannon and Gosch is ci
      rcumstantial at best, or at worst, 
    

    
      the product of a fruitful imagination. First, some of Ted Gunderson’s informants claim to 
    

    
      know for sure that Gannon is Gosch: one is
       a confidential informant, the other is 
    

    
      photographer Rusty Nelson, discussed in the interview with Gunderson in this book. 
    

    
      Secondly, Johnny Gosch, Jeff Gannon, and the name on Jeff Gannon’s driver’s license, 
    

    
      “James Guckert,” all have the same initials: JG. Nothing is known about what happened 
    

    
      to Johnny Gosch after he disappeared. Little can
       be established about 
      the early life of Jeff 
    

    
      Gannon, mainly because he chooses to keep it private. Gannon claims to be in his forties, 
    

    
      about ten years older than Johnny Gosch would be today. But his prostitute websites 
    

    
      claimed that he was ten years younger. Also, if you think about it, a boy
      who had been 
    

    
      repeatedly raped and brainwashed by powerful Satanist pedophile
       politicians as part of a 
    

    
      military/intelligence mind control program might conceivably
       grow up to be a gay 
    

    
      prostitute with a flair for military clothing and a sympathy for Republican politics (he 
    

    
      was supposedly brainwashed, remember?) As an adult, then, he might still be serving his 
    

    
      handlers, making himself useful and thus keeping himself alive.  
    

    
        Another Gunderson informant, Paul Bonacci 
      says that as a child victim of Project 
    

    
      MONARCH (where he supposedly got to know Johnny Gosch very well), he was forced 
    

    
      to participate in the production of a snuff film in which another boy was killed. He says 
    

    
      that the man who filmed it was none other than gonzo journalist Hunter S. Thompson! 
    

    
      This ties in, says Gunderson, because Thompson killed himself on February 21, 2005. 
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      Gunderson and others think Thompson was either
       murdered or killed himself because it 
    

    
      was feared that with Jeff Gannon (possibly Johnny Gosch) now in the media spotlight, it 
    

    
      was only a matter of time before Thompson’s (alleged) involvement with child porn and 
    

    
      snuff films was exposed. A few days later Rusty Nelson, who had been out of prison for 
    

    
      many years, was suddenly arrested for failing to
       register as a sex offender in a town in 
    

    
      which he no longer lived. Gunderson believes this was a warning from the evil cabal, 
    

    
      warning to Nelson to keep his mouth shut about Gannon, Gosch and Hunter S. 
    

    
      Thompson. Another person who got arrested for child sex abuse right around this time 
    

    
      was Paul Bishop, the self-proclaimed “CIA
       agent” who, according to her testimony, 
    

    
      pretended to help Noreen Gosch search for her son in the early years before vanishing 
    

    
      without a trace in 1985. Noreen didn’t hear anything about him again until twenty years 
    

    
      later, when she found out about his arrest. 
    

    
        While his White House press room scandal was rocking Washington that 
    

    
      February, Jeff Gannon published a couple of articles with interesting titles. One was 
    

    
      “Hiding in Plain Sight.” While
       the article was about someth
      ing else entirely, Gunderson 
    

    
      and others think the title was a wink and nod by Gannon to those who were beginning to 
    

    
      catch on to his true identity. Another article by Gannon on his blog, titled “Fear and 
    

    
      Loathing in the Press Room,” is believed to be a covert acknowledgement of the 
    

    
      connection to Hunter S. Thompson, who famously wrote Fear and Loathing in Las 
    

    
      Vegas. 
    

    
        However, to the contrary, in public Gannon’s only acknowledgement of the 
    

    
      allegations connecting him to Johnny Gosch has been complete denial. He has sent legal 
    

    
      threats to Noreen Gosch and anyone else professing the theory. He has called in to radio 
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      talk shows where the theory was being discussed, issuing the same threats and denials. 
    

    
      Then most recently in early 2007, he did the rounds of several cable television news 
    

    
      programs denying any connection, and offering to take a DNA test to prove it. As of this 
    

    
      writing, this has not actually happened yet, for reasons unknown. 
    

    
        This most recent wave of media activity
       happened just after another such wave 
    

    
      also connected to the Johnny Gosch story. Noreen Gosch had gone on several television 
    

    
      news shows asking for information from the public after she received a bunch of 
    

    
      photographs from an anonymous source showing boys bound and gagged. She said that 
    

    
      one of the boys in the photo was Johnny, and that
       it had been taken around the time that 
    

    
      he was kidnapped. She wanted help identifying the other boys, and, if possible, the 
    

    
      location in which the picture had been taken. A few weeks later, the boys in the 
    

    
      photograph (now adults) came forward, and none of them were Johnny. The 
    

    
      photographer also came forward, and he said that the pictures had been taken many years 
    

    
      ago, when he and some younger friends were horsing around. They were not photos of 
    

    
      kidnapped children, in other words. If Jeff Gannon does take a DNA test and proves that 
    

    
      he is not Johnny Gosch, then that means that Noreen has twice now claimed that someone 
    

    
      was her son when they in fact were not. 
    

    
        In February 2008, just as this book was 
      about to go to press, Noreen Gosch 
    

    
      published yet another photo on her website of a boy bound and gagged, which she 
    

    
      claimed was her son, and which she claimed to have received from an anonymous source. 
    

    
      She asked for the public’s help in identifying the camp advertised on a camp bag sitting 
    

    
      on the floor in the photograph. The bag says
       “Camp Caribou” quite clearly, and it is 
    

    
      uncertain why she would need the public’s help identifying it. A simple web search 
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      reveals that Camp Caribou is a Roman Catholic summer camp for boys in Maine. This 
    

    
      photo has of course fueled internet speculation that the camp is a playground for 
    

    
      pedophiles, with no other evidence surfacing as yet at the time of this writing. 
    

    
        As this book is being published, the t
      opic of Project MONARCH is experiencing 
    

    
      a popular resurgence on the internet, making the rounds on various left wing blogs and 
    

    
      discussion forums, where supporters of Barack
       Obama are circulating the stories in an 
    

    
      effort to connect Hillary Clinton to various evil deeds. New mind control and Satanic 
    

    
      Ritual Abuse stories are popping up all the time. The latest
       headline turned up on The 
    

    
      Drudge Report in early March 2008, although it was actually a story from November 
    

    
      2007. The mayor of the town of Centerton, Arkansas, known to his constituents as Ken 
    

    
      Williams, suddenly resigned, announcing that his real name was “Don LaRose.” He said 
    

    
      that thirty years earlier, he had been kidnapped and brainwashed by Satanists. When he 
    

    
      escaped from their clutches, he disappeared, leaving his wife and family, and taking on 
    

    
      the name of another man who had died in an auto accident. He chose to resign his 
    

    
      position as mayor when he was discovered by his abandoned family, although he did not 
    

    
      choose to return to them, or to again take up his former name. 
    

    
        Truly, reality is stranger than 
      fiction, and a lot scarier.  
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